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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
☒ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended July January 31, 2023 2024

OR

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from             to

Commission file number: 1-14204

Graphic

FUELCELL ENERGY, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 06-0853042

(State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

3 Great Pasture Road

Danbury, Connecticut 06810

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (203) 825-6000

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered

Common stock, par value $0.0001 per share FCEL The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC

(Nasdaq Global Market)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for

such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes   ☒    No   ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this

chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes   ☒    No  ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company or an emerging growth company. See the

definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer”, “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ☒ Accelerated filer ☐

Non-accelerated filer ☐ Smaller reporting company ☐

Emerging growth company ☐

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting

standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.  ☐
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).  Yes  ☐    No  ☒

Number of shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, outstanding as of September 5, 2023 March 1, 2024:  450,626,333 451,862,054
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FUELCELL ENERGY, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Unaudited)

(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

July 31, October 31,

     2023      2022

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents, unrestricted $ 303,679 $ 458,055

Restricted cash and cash equivalents - short-term 6,078 4,423

Investments - short-term 77,431 -

Accounts receivable, net 10,102 4,885

Unbilled receivables 18,986 11,019

Inventories 85,561 90,909

Other current assets 12,832 10,989

Total current assets 514,669 580,280

Restricted cash and cash equivalents - long-term 26,665 18,566

Inventories - long-term 7,549 7,549

Project assets, net 248,223 232,886

Property, plant and equipment, net 79,533 58,137

Operating lease right-of-use assets, net 8,690 7,189

Goodwill 4,075 4,075

Intangible assets, net 16,400 17,373

Other assets 39,449 13,662

Total assets (1) $ 945,253 $ 939,717

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Current portion of long-term debt $ 9,763 $ 13,198

Current portion of operating lease liabilities 668 650

Accounts payable 22,404 28,196
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Accrued liabilities 23,046 27,415

Deferred revenue 3,114 16,341

Total current liabilities 58,995 85,800

Long-term deferred revenue and customer deposits - 9,095

Long-term operating lease liabilities 9,277 7,575

Long-term debt and other liabilities 109,130 82,863

Total liabilities (1) 177,402 185,333

Redeemable Series B preferred stock (liquidation preference of $64,020 as of


July 31, 2023 and October 31, 2022) 59,857 59,857

Redeemable noncontrolling interest - 3,030

Total equity:

Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock ($0.0001 par value); 500,000,000 shares authorized as of July 31, 2023 and October 31, 2022;

444,704,081 and 405,562,988 shares issued and outstanding as of July 31, 2023 and October 31, 2022, respectively 44 41

Additional paid-in capital 2,186,405 2,094,076

Accumulated deficit (1,485,177) (1,407,973)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,620) (1,752)

Treasury stock, Common, at cost (206,544 and 142,837 shares as of July 31, 2023


and October 31, 2022, respectively) (1,026) (855)

Deferred compensation 1,026 855

Total stockholder's equity 699,652 684,392

Noncontrolling interests 8,342 7,105

Total equity 707,994 691,497

Total liabilities, redeemable Series B preferred stock, redeemable noncontrolling interest and total equity $ 945,253 $ 939,717

January 31, October 31,

     2024      2023

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents, unrestricted $ 297,466 $ 249,952

Restricted cash and cash equivalents - short-term 5,957 5,159

Investments - short-term - 103,760

Accounts receivable, net 3,346 3,809

Unbilled receivables 22,451 16,296

Inventories 102,859 84,456

Other current assets 13,152 12,881

Total current assets 445,231 476,313

Restricted cash and cash equivalents - long-term 45,376 44,465

Inventories - long-term 2,743 7,329

Project assets, net 260,790 258,066

Property, plant and equipment, net 97,941 89,668

Operating lease right-of-use assets, net 8,197 8,352

Goodwill 4,075 4,075

Intangible assets, net 15,752 16,076

Other assets 43,075 51,176

Total assets (1) $ 923,180 $ 955,520

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Current portion of long-term debt $ 10,198 $ 10,067

Current portion of operating lease liabilities 694 599

Accounts payable 17,055 26,518

Accrued liabilities 22,323 26,313

Deferred revenue 3,616 2,406
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Total current liabilities 53,886 65,903

Long-term deferred revenue and customer deposits 686 732

Long-term operating lease liabilities 8,912 8,992

Long-term debt and other liabilities 117,670 119,588

Total liabilities (1) 181,154 195,215

Redeemable Series B preferred stock (liquidation preference of $64,020 as of


January 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023) 59,857 59,857

Total equity:

Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock ($0.0001 par value); 1,000,000,000 shares authorized as of January 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023;

451,862,054 and 450,626,862 shares issued and outstanding as of January 31, 2024 and October 31, 2023, respectively 45 45

Additional paid-in capital 2,200,862 2,199,661

Accumulated deficit (1,535,334) (1,515,541)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,639) (1,672)

Treasury stock, Common, at cost (290,866 and 246,468 shares as of January 31, 2024


and October 31, 2023, respectively) (1,129) (1,078)

Deferred compensation 1,129 1,078

Total stockholder's equity 663,934 682,493

Noncontrolling interests 18,235 17,955

Total equity 682,169 700,448

Total liabilities, redeemable Series B preferred stock and total equity $ 923,180 $ 955,520

(1)
As of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023, the combined assets of the variable interest entities (“VIEs”) were $126,041 $313,629 and $119,223, $235,290,

respectively, that can only be used to settle obligations of the VIEs.  These assets include cash of $3,222, $3,764, unbilled accounts receivable of $1,865, 5,133, operating lease right of use

assets of $1,176, $1,676, other current assets of $21,289, $127,511, restricted cash and cash equivalents of $500, $624, project assets of $96,852 $171,094 and other assets of $1,138 $3,826

as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, and cash of $2,149, $4,797, unbilled accounts receivable of $1,070, $1,876, other current assets of $14,373, $50,713, operating lease right of use assets

of $1,184 and $1,680,  project assets of $100,448 $170,444, derivative asset of $4,127 and other assets of $1,125 as of October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023. The combined liabilities of the VIEs

as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 include short-term operating lease liabilities of $157, $203, accounts payable of $88,384, $177,279, accrued liabilities of $21, long-term operating lease

liability of $1,476 $2,155 and other non-current liabilities of $184 $229 and, as of October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023, include short-term operating lease liabilities of $157, $203, accounts

payable of $76,050, accrued liabilities of $824 and $165,824, long-term operating lease liability of $1,478. $2,159 and other non-current liabilities of $187.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FUELCELL ENERGY, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

(Unaudited)

(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Three Months Ended July 31,

     2023      2022

Revenues:

Product $ - $ 18,000

Service 9,841 9,049

Generation 10,982 10,877

Advanced Technologies 4,687 5,178

Total revenues 25,510 43,104

Costs of revenues:
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Product 2,910 17,919

Service 9,575 7,718

Generation 17,483 18,136

Advanced Technologies 3,757 3,511

Total costs of revenues 33,725 47,284

Gross loss (8,215) (4,180)

Operating expenses:

Administrative and selling expenses 17,560 14,158

Research and development expenses 15,620 9,659

Total costs and expenses 33,180 23,817

Loss from operations (41,395) (27,997)

Interest expense (1,912) (1,622)

Interest income 3,966 932

Gain on extinguishment of finance obligations and debt, net 15,337 -

Other income, net 403 204

Loss before provision for income taxes (23,601) (28,483)

Provision for income taxes - (494)

Net loss (23,601) (28,977)

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 678 437

Net loss attributable to FuelCell Energy, Inc. (24,279) (29,414)

Series B preferred stock dividends (800) (800)

Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (25,079) $ (30,214)

Loss per share basic and diluted:

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders $ (0.06) $ (0.08)

Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding 415,867,594 387,465,758

Three Months Ended January 31,

     2024      2023

Revenues:

Product $ - $ 9,095

Service 1,617 13,882

Generation 10,493 9,557

Advanced Technologies 4,581 4,539

Total revenues 16,691 37,073

Costs of revenues:

Product 2,391 1,029

Service 1,888 10,945

Generation 20,894 16,602

Advanced Technologies 3,243 3,260

Total costs of revenues 28,416 31,836

Gross (loss) profit (11,725) 5,237

Operating expenses:

Administrative and selling expenses 16,400 15,009

Research and development expenses 14,353 12,683

Total costs and expenses 30,753 27,692

Loss from operations (42,478) (22,455)

Interest expense (2,338) (1,512)

Interest income 4,067 3,410

Other (expense) income, net (3,650) 49

Loss before provision for income taxes (44,399) (20,508)

Provision for income taxes - (578)

Net loss (44,399) (21,086)

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (24,606) (2,464)

Net loss attributable to FuelCell Energy, Inc. (19,793) (18,622)

Series B preferred stock dividends (800) (800)

Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (20,593) $ (19,422)
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Loss per share basic and diluted:

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders $ (0.05) $ (0.05)

Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding 451,637,041 405,803,753

Three Months Ended July 31,

Three Months Ended

January 31,

     2023      2022      2024      2023

Net loss $ (23,601) $ (28,977) $(44,399) $(21,086)

Other comprehensive loss:

Foreign currency translation adjustments (164) (86) 33 447

Total comprehensive loss $ (23,765) $ (29,063) $(44,366) $(20,639)

Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests 678 437

Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (24,606) (2,464)

Comprehensive loss attributable to FuelCell Energy, Inc. $ (24,443) $ (29,500) $(19,760) $(18,175)
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FUELCELL ENERGY, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

(Unaudited)

(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Nine Months Ended July 31,

     2023      2022     

Revenues:

Product $ 9,095 $ 36,000

Service 49,913 13,855

Generation 28,979 27,423

Advanced Technologies 12,945 14,005

Total revenues 100,932 91,283

Costs of revenues:

Product 7,425 39,159

Service 40,633 13,123

Generation 51,166 42,978

Advanced Technologies 10,779 10,408

Total costs of revenues 110,003 105,668

Gross loss (9,071) (14,385)

Operating expenses:

Administrative and selling expenses 47,637 64,357

Research and development expenses 43,000 22,316
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Total costs and expenses 90,637 86,673

Loss from operations (99,708) (101,058)

Interest expense (4,926) (4,757)

Interest income 11,064 1,025

Gain on extinguishment of finance obligations and debt, net 15,337 -

Other income, net 216 61

Loss before provision for income taxes (78,017) (104,729)

Provision for income taxes (581) (494)

Net loss (78,598) (105,223)

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (1,394) (4,968)

Net loss attributable to FuelCell Energy, Inc. (77,204) (100,255)

Series B preferred stock dividends (2,400) (2,400)

Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (79,604) $ (102,655)

Loss per share basic and diluted:

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders $ (0.19) $ (0.27)

Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding 409,361,826 375,638,293

Nine Months Ended July 31,

     2023      2022     

Net loss $ (78,598) $ (105,223)

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustments 132 (326)

Total comprehensive loss $ (78,466) $ (105,549)

Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (1,394) (4,968)

Comprehensive loss attributable to FuelCell Energy, Inc. $ (77,072) $ (100,581)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FUELCELL ENERGY, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

(Unaudited)

(Amounts in thousands, except share amounts)

Common Stock Common Stock

     Shares     Amount    

Additional


Paid-in


Capital     

Accumulated


Deficit     

Accumulated


Other


Comprehensive

Loss     

Treasury


Stock     

Deferred


Compensation

Total

Stockholder's

Equity

Noncontrolling

Interests     

Total


Equity      Shares     Amount    

Additional


Paid-in


Capital     

Accumulated


Deficit     

Accumulated


Other


Comprehensive

Loss

Balance,

October 31, 2022 405,562,988 $ 41 $2,094,076 $ (1,407,973) $ (1,752) $ (855) $ 855 $ 684,392 $ 7,105 $691,497

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

10/111

Balance,

October 31, 2023 450,626,862 $ 45 $2,199,661 $ (1,515,541) $ (1,672

Common

stock issued,

non-

employee

compensation 21,106 — 68 — — — — 68 — 68 44,398 — 51 — —

Stock issued

under benefit

plans, net of

taxes paid

upon vesting

of restricted

stock awards 169,065 — (314) — — — — (314) — (314) 1,235,192 — (926) — —

Share based

compensation — — 2,637 — — — — 2,637 — 2,637 — — 2,876 — —

Preferred

dividends —

Series B — — (800) — — — — (800) — (800) — — (800) — —

Effect of

foreign

currency

translation — — — — 447 — — 447 — 447 — — — — 33

Adjustment

for deferred

compensation (21,106) — — — — (68) 68 — — — (44,398) — — — —

Reclass of

redeemable

non-

controlling

interest — — — — — — — — 3,030 3,030

Distribution to

non-

controlling

interest — — — — — — — — (106) (106)

Contributions

received from

sale of

noncontrolling

interest — — — — —

Distribution to

noncontrolling

interests — — — — —

Net loss

attributable to

noncontrolling

interests — — — 2,464 — — — 2,464 (2,464) — — — — 24,606 —

Net Loss — — — (21,086) — — — (21,086) — (21,086) — — — (44,399) —

Balance,

January 31, 2023 405,732,053 $ 41 $2,095,667 $ (1,426,595) $ (1,305) $ (923) $ 923 $ 667,808 $ 7,565 $675,373

Sale of

common

stock, net of

fees 949,438 — 2,663 — — — — 2,663 — 2,663
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Stock issued

under benefit

plans, net of

taxes paid

upon vesting

of restricted

stock awards 57,222 — — — — — — — — —

Share based

compensation — — 3,194 — — — — 3,194 — 3,194

Preferred

dividends —

Series B — — (800) — — — — (800) — (800)

Effect of

foreign

currency

translation — — — — (151) — — (151) — (151)

Distribution to

non-

controlling

interest — — — — — — — — (143) (143)

Net loss

attributable to

noncontrolling

interests — — — (392) — — — (392) 392 —

Net Loss — — — (33,911) — — — (33,911) — (33,911)

Balance, April

30, 2023 406,738,713 $ 41 $2,100,724 $ (1,460,898) $ (1,456) $ (923) $ 923 $ 638,411 $ 7,814 $646,225

Sale of

common

stock, net of

fees 37,931,204 3 83,268 — — — — 83,271 — 83,271

Common

stock issued,

non-

employee

compensation 42,601 — 105 — — — — 105 — 105

Stock issued

under benefit

plans, net of

taxes paid

upon vesting

of restricted

stock awards 34,164 — (58) — — — — (58) — (58)

Share based

compensation — — 3,166 — — — — 3,166 — 3,166

Preferred

dividends —

Series B — — (800) — — — — (800) — (800)

Adjustment

for deferred

compensation (42,601) — — — — (103) 103 — — —

Effect of

foreign

currency

translation — — — — (164) — — (164) — (164)
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Distribution to

non-

controlling

interest — — — — — — — — (150) (150)

Net loss

attributable to

noncontrolling

interests — — — (678) — — — (678) 678 —

Net Loss — — — (23,601) — — — (23,601) — (23,601)

Balance, July 31,

2023 444,704,081 $ 44 $2,186,405 $ (1,485,177) $ (1,620) $ (1,026) $ 1,026 $ 699,652 $ 8,342 $707,994

Balance,

January 31, 2024 451,862,054 $ 45 $2,200,862 $ (1,535,334) $ (1,639
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FUELCELL ENERGY, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

(Unaudited)

(Amounts in thousands, except share amounts)

Common Stock  

  Shares   Amount

Additional


Paid-in


Capital  

Accumulated


Deficit  

Accumulated


Other


Comprehensive


Loss  

Treasury


Stock  

Deferred


Compensation  

Total

Stockholders'

Equity  

Noncontrolling

Interests  

Total

Stockholders'

Equity

Balance, October 31, 2021 366,618,693 $ 37 $ 1,908,471 $ (1,265,251) $ (819) $ (586) $ 586 $ 642,438 $ — $ 642,438

Common stock issued, non-employee

compensation 20,673 — 100 — — — — 100 — 100

Stock issued under benefit plan, net of

taxes paid upon vesting of restricted stock

awards 60,052 (260) — — — — (260) — (260)

Share based compensation — — 1,470 — — — — 1,470 — 1,470

Preferred dividends — Series B — — (800) — — — — (800) — (800)

Effect of foreign currency translation — — — — (91) — — (91) — (91)

Adjustment for deferred compensation (13,232) — — — — (64) 64 — — —

Net loss attributable to redeemable

noncontrolling interest — — — 5,496 — — — 5,496 (5,496) —

Net loss — — (46,120) — — — (46,120) — (46,120)

Balance, January 31, 2022 366,686,186 $ 37 $ 1,908,981 $ (1,305,875) $ (910) $ (650) $ 650 $ 602,233 $ (5,496) $ 596,737

Sale of common stock, net of fees 19,896,904 2 118,262 — — — — 118,264 — 118,264

Common stock issued, non-employee

compensation 13,002 — 68 — — — — 68 — 68

Stock issued under benefit plan, net of

taxes paid upon vesting of restricted stock

awards 25,779 — — — — — — — —
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Share based compensation — — 1,695 — — — — 1,695 — 1,695

Preferred dividends — Series B — — (800) — — — — (800) — (800)

Effect of foreign currency translation — — — — (149) — — (149) — (149)

Adjustment for deferred compensation (13,002) — — — — (68) 68 — — —

Reclassification of noncontrolling interest — — — — — — — — 12,419 12,419

Return of capital to distribution to

noncontrolling interest — — — — — — — — (496) (496)

Distribution to noncontrolling interest — — — — — — — — (95) (95)

Net income attributable to redeemable

noncontrolling interest — — — (91) — — — (91) 91 —

Net loss — — (30,126) — — — (30,126) — (30,126)

Balance, April 30, 2022 386,608,869 $ 39 $ 2,028,206 $ (1,336,092) $ (1,059) $ (718) $ 718 $ 691,094 $ 6,423 $ 697,517

Sale of common stock, net of fees 7,814,115 — 27,173 — — — — 27,173 — 27,173

Common stock issued, non-employee

compensation 19,594 — 68 — — — — 68 — 68

Stock issued under benefit plan, net of

taxes paid upon vesting of restricted stock

awards 7,985 18 — — — — 18 — 18

Share based compensation — — 1,961 — — — — 1,961 — 1,961

Preferred dividends — Series B — — (800) — — — — (800) — (800)

Effect of foreign currency translation — — — — (86) — — (86) — (86)

Adjustment for deferred compensation (19,594) — — — — (68) 68 — — —

Distribution to noncontrolling interest — — — — — — — — (94) (94)

Net income attributable to noncontrolling

interest — — — (437) — — — (437) 437 —

Net loss — — (28,977) — — — (28,977) — (28,977)

Balance, July 31, 2022 394,430,969 $ 39 $ 2,056,626 $ (1,365,506) $ (1,145) $ (786) $ 786 $ 690,014 $ 6,766 $ 696,780

Common Stock  

  Shares   Amount

Additional


Paid-in


Capital  

Accumulated


Deficit  

Accumulated


Other


Comprehensive


Loss  

Treasury


Stock  

Deferred


Compensation  

Total

Stockholders'

Equity  

Noncontrolling

Interests  

Total

Stockholders'

Equity

Balance, October 31, 2022 405,562,988 $ 41 $ 2,094,076 $ (1,407,973) $ (1,752) $ (855) $ 855 $ 684,392 $ 7,105 $ 691,497

Common stock issued, non-employee

compensation 21,106 — 68 — — — — 68 — 68

Stock issued under benefit plans, net

of taxes paid upon vesting of restricted

stock awards 169,065 — (314) — — — — (314) — (314)

Share based compensation — — 2,637 — — — — 2,637 — 2,637

Preferred dividends — Series B — — (800) — — — — (800) — (800)

Effect of foreign currency translation — — — — 447 — — 447 — 447

Adjustment for deferred compensation (21,106) — — — — (68) 68 — — —

Reclassification of redeemable non-

controlling interest — — — — — — — — 3,030 3,030

Distribution to non-controlling interest — — — — — — — — (106) (106)

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling

interests — — — 2,464 — — — 2,464 (2,464) —

Net Loss — — — (21,086) — — — (21,086) — (21,086)

Balance, January 31, 2023 405,732,053 $ 41 $ 2,095,667 $ (1,426,595) $ (1,305) $ (923) $ 923 $ 667,808 $ 7,565 $ 675,373
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See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FUELCELL ENERGY, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited)

(Amounts in thousands)

Nine Months Ended July 31, Three Months Ended January 31,

     2023      2022      2024      2023

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss $ (78,598) $ (105,223) $ (44,399) $ (21,086)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Share-based compensation 8,997 5,126 2,876 2,637

Depreciation and amortization 18,659 16,369 8,599 5,405

Gain on extinguishment of finance obligations and debt, net (15,337) -

Non-cash interest expense on finance obligations 2,573 3,155 546 1,052

Unrealized gain on derivative contracts (479) (559)

Unrealized loss on derivative contracts 5,387 -

Operating lease costs 1,159 1,147 355 323

Operating lease payments (911) (1,084) (244) (301)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and project assets 2,375 976

Unrealized foreign currency (gains) losses (29) 584

Unrealized foreign currency losses 59 5

Other, net 240 (147) 11 96

(Increase) decrease in operating assets:

Decrease (increase) in operating assets:

Accounts receivable (5,217) 1,983 463 1,672

Unbilled receivables (25,610) (190) (3,048) (4,965)

Inventories 5,348 (22,783) (18,403) (10,267)

Other assets (12,023) (6,187) (1,616) (1,681)

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:

Decrease in operating liabilities:

Accounts payable 907 6,254 (6,027) (1,072)

Accrued liabilities (4,154) 14,470 (3,990) (7,125)

Deferred revenue (22,322) (1,979) 1,164 (18,070)

Net cash used in operating activities (124,422) (88,088) (58,267) (53,377)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Capital expenditures (28,102) (15,790) (10,565) (7,765)

Project asset expenditures (35,392) (23,693) (7,520) (2,080)

Maturity of held-to-maturity debt securities 120,850 - 230,375 -

Purchases of held-to-maturity debt securities (195,849) - (125,397) (74,977)

Net cash used in investing activities (138,493) (39,483)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 86,893 (84,822)
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Cash flows from financing activities:

Repayment of debt and finance obligations (42,185) (7,208) (2,595) (2,291)

Expenses related to common stock issued for stock plans 56 47 68 21

Contributions received from sale of noncontrolling interest - 11,923 25,122 -

Proceeds from the issuance of debt 80,500 -

Distribution to noncontrolling interest (399) (189) (236) (106)

Payments for taxes related to net share settlement of equity awards (428) (287) (995) (337)

Payment for debt issuance costs (2,917) -

Common stock issuance, net of fees 85,934 145,437

Payment of preferred dividends (2,400) (2,400) (800) (800)

Net cash provided by financing activities 118,161 147,323

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 20,564 (3,513)

Effects on cash from changes in foreign currency rates 132 (326) 33 447

Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (144,622) 19,426

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 49,223 (141,265)

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash-beginning of period 481,044 460,212 299,576 481,044

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash-end of period $ 336,422 $ 479,638 $ 348,799 $ 339,779

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents, unrestricted $ 297,466 $ 315,168

Restricted cash and cash equivalents - short-term 5,957 4,456

Restricted cash and cash equivalents - long-term 45,376 20,155

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 348,799 $ 339,779

Supplemental cash flow disclosures:

Cash interest paid $ 1,474 $ 1,193 $ 1,638 $ 343

Noncash financing and investing activity:

Recognition of operating lease liabilities 2,147 - - 2,005

Recognition of operating lease right-of-use assets 2,147 - - 2,005

Noncash reclassifications from inventory to project assets - 7,699 4,586 -

Noncash reclassification from inventory to fixed assets 1,552

Noncash reclassifications from other assets to project assets - 2,375

Accrued purchase of fixed assets, cash to be paid in subsequent period 1,469 3,203

Accrued purchase of project assets, cash to be paid in subsequent period 2,671 6,498

Accrued purchases of fixed assets, cash to be paid in subsequent period 1,162 3,055

Accrued purchases of project assets, cash to be paid in subsequent period 1,563 5,250

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

8 6

Table of Contents

FUELCELL ENERGY, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

(Tabular amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Note 1. Nature of Business and Basis of Presentation
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Headquartered in Danbury, Connecticut, FuelCell Energy, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company,” “FuelCell Energy,” “we,” “us,” or

“our”) has leveraged five decades of research and development to become is a global leader in delivering environmentally responsible

distributed baseload power energy platform solutions through our proprietary fuel cell technology. Our current Today, we offer commercial

technology that produces clean electricity, heat, clean hydrogen, and water while separating and is also capable of recovering and capturing

carbon for utilization and/or sequestration, depending on the product configuration and application. We also continue to invest in

developing product development and commercializing future technologies  that are expected to add new capabilities to our platforms’ abilities to

deliver hydrogen and long duration hydrogen-based energy storage through our solid oxide technologies, as well as further enhance our

existing platforms’ carbon capture solutions.

FuelCell Energy is a global leader in focused on advancing sustainable clean energy technologies that address some of the world’s most

critical challenges around energy access, security, resilience, reliability, affordability, safety and environmental stewardship. As a leading global

manufacturer of proprietary fuel cell technology platforms, FuelCell Energy is uniquely positioned to serve customers worldwide with

sustainable products and solutions for industrial and commercial businesses, utilities, governments, municipalities, and

municipalities. communities.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the rules  and regulations of the

Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) regarding interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not contain all of the information

and footnotes required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) for complete financial statements.

In the opinion of management, all normal and recurring adjustments necessary to fairly present the Company’s financial position as of January

31, 2024 and October 31, 2023 and results of operations as of and for the three and nine months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and

2022 2023 have been included. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been

condensed or omitted. The balance sheet as of October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023 has been derived from the audited financial statements at

that date, but it does not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statements.  These financial

statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s financial statements and notes thereto for the fiscal year ended October 31,

2022 October 31, 2023, which are contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K previously filed with the SEC. The results of

operations for the interim periods presented are not necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for any other interim period or for the

full fiscal year.

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year amounts to conform to the presentation for the three and nine months ended July

31, 2023. Interest income for the three and nine months ended July 31, 2022, which was previously included within Other income, net has

been reclassified to Interest income in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.

Principles of Consolidation

The unaudited consolidated financial statements reflect our accounts and operations and those of our subsidiaries in which we have a

controlling financial interest. We use a qualitative approach in assessing the consolidation requirement for each of our variable interest entities

("VIEs"), which are tax equity partnerships further described in Note 3. “Tax Equity Financings.” This approach focuses on determining whether

we have the power to direct those activities of the tax equity partnerships that most significantly affect their economic performance and whether

we have the obligation to absorb losses, or the right to receive benefits, that could potentially be significant to the tax equity partnerships. For

all periods presented, we have determined that we are the primary beneficiary in all of our tax equity partnerships. We evaluate our tax equity

partnerships on an ongoing basis to ensure that we continue to be the primary beneficiary.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and

liabilities. Estimates are used in accounting for, among other things, revenue recognition, lease right-of-use assets and liabilities, contract loss

accruals, excess, slow-moving and obsolete inventories, product warranty accruals, loss accruals on service agreements, share-based

compensation expense, allowance for doubtful accounts, depreciation and
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amortization, impairment of goodwill and in-process research and development intangible assets, impairment of long-lived assets (including

project assets), valuation of derivatives, and contingencies. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically, and the effects of revisions

are reflected in the consolidated financial statements in the period they are determined to be necessary. Due to the inherent uncertainty

involved in making estimates, actual results in future periods may differ from those estimates.

Liquidity

Our principal sources of cash have been proceeds from the sale of our products and projects, electricity generation revenues, research and

development and service agreements with third parties, sales of our common stock through public equity offerings, and proceeds from debt,

project financing and tax monetization transactions. We have utilized this cash to accelerate the commercialization of our solid oxide platforms,

develop new capabilities to separate and capture carbon, develop and construct project assets, invest in capital improvements and expansion

of our operations, perform research and development, pay down existing outstanding indebtedness, and meet our other cash and liquidity

needs.

As of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, unrestricted cash and cash equivalents totaled $303.7 million $297.5 million compared to $458.1

million $250.0 million as of October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023. During the nine year ended October 31, 2023 and the three months ended July

31, 2023 January 31, 2024, the Company invested in United States (U.S.) Treasury Securities. Securities, all of which had matured as of

January 31, 2024. The amortized cost of the U.S. Treasury Securities outstanding totaled $77.4 million as of July 31, 2023 compared to $0 as

of October 31, 2022 January 31, 2024 compared to $103.8 as of October 31, 2023 and is classified as Investments - short-term on the

Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The maturity dates for the outstanding U.S. Treasury Securities range Company, from August 8, 2023 time to October 26, 2023.

On July 12, 2022, the Company entered into an time, has offered and sold shares under its Open Market Sale Agreement with Jefferies LLC, B.

Riley Securities, Inc. (as defined in Note 11. “Stockholders’ Equity”). During the quarter ended January 31, 2024, Barclays Capital Inc., BMO

Capital Markets Corp., BofA Securities, Inc., Canaccord Genuity LLC, Citigroup Global Markets Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Loop

Capital Markets LLC (the “Open Market Sale Agreement”) with respect to an at the market offering program under which the Company may,

from time to time, offer and sell up to 95.0 million shares of the Company’s common stock. From the date of the Open Market Sale Agreement

through July 31, 2023, the Company sold approximately 60.8 million shares no sales were made under the Open Market Sale Agreement at an

average sale price of $2.67 per share. Of this 60.8 million shares, approximately 57.4 million shares were issued and settled on or prior to July

31, 2023 resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $155.0 million before deducting sales commissions and fees. During the nine months

ended July 31, 2023, approximately 42.3 million shares were sold under the Open Market Sale Agreement at an average sale price of $2.26

per share. Of this 42.3 million shares, approximately 38.9 million shares were issued and settled during the nine month period ended July 31,

2023 resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $88.0 million before deducting sales commissions and fees. The balance of approximately

3.4 million shares was settled subsequent to July 31, 2023, resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $7.4 million before deducting sales

commissions and fees. Subsequent to the end of the quarter, the Company sold approximately 2.0 million shares of its common stock under

the Open Market Sale Agreement at an average price of $2.14 per share, resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $4.3 million before

deducting sales commissions and fees.

As of the date of this report, approximately 32.2 million shares are available for issuance under the Open Market Sale Agreement. The

Company currently intends to use the net proceeds from this offering to accelerate the development and commercialization of its product
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platforms (including, but not limited to, its solid oxide and carbon capture platforms), for project development, market development, and internal

research and development, to invest in capacity expansion for solid oxide and carbonate fuel cell manufacturing, and for project financing,

working capital support, and general corporate purposes. The Company may also use the net proceeds from this offering to invest in joint

ventures, acquisitions, and strategic growth investments and to acquire, license or invest in products, technologies or businesses that

complement its business. See Note 11. “Stockholders’ Equity” for additional information regarding the Open Market Sale Agreement.

During the third fourth quarter of fiscal year 2023, the Company entered into closed on a project tax equity financing facility (which is

referred transaction with Franklin Park 2023 FCE Tax Equity Fund, LLC (“Franklin Park”), a subsidiary of Franklin Park Infrastructure, LLC, for

two fuel cell power plant installations -- the 14.0 MW Derby Fuel Cell Project and the 2.8 MW SCEF Fuel Cell Project, both located in Derby,

Connecticut (collectively, the “Derby Projects”). Franklin Park’s tax equity commitment with respect to as the “OpCo Financing Facility”) Derby

Projects totals $30.2 million. Of this amount, approximately $9.1 million was received on October 31, 2023 and the remaining approximately

$21.1 million was received during the three months ended January 31, 2024. In connection with the initial closing of this tax equity financing

transaction in fiscal year 2023, the amount Company paid closing costs of $80.5 million approximately $1.8 million, which was partially

used included appraisal fees, title insurance expenses and legal and consulting fees.

During the three months ended January 31, 2024, the Company completed the Technical Improvement Plan to extinguish certain existing

10

Table bring the Groton Project (defined elsewhere herein) to its rated capacity and the Groton Project reached its design rated output of

Contents

debt, to partially repay other existing debt, 7.4 MW. The Company achieved all conditions precedent required for the first annual funding from

East West Bank and, to repurchase project assets under sale-leaseback transactions, resulting in $46.1 million of net proceeds. See Note 15.

“Debt” for additional information regarding as a result, the OpCo Financing Facility. Company received a $4.0 million contribution during the

three months ended January 31, 2024 which is recorded as noncontrolling interest on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

We believe that our unrestricted cash and cash equivalents, expected receipts from our contracted backlog funds received upon the maturity of

U.S. Treasury Securities, and release of short-term restricted cash less expected disbursements over the next twelve months will be sufficient

to allow the Company to meet its obligations for at least one year from the date of issuance of these financial statements.

To date, we have not achieved profitable operations or sustained positive cash flow from operations. The Company’s future liquidity, for the

remainder of fiscal year 2023 2024 and in the long-term, will depend on its ability to (i)  timely complete current projects in process within

budget, (ii) increase cash flows from its generation operating portfolio, including by meeting conditions required to timely commence operation

of new projects, operating its generation operating portfolio in compliance with minimum performance guarantees and operating its generation

operating portfolio in accordance with revenue expectations, (iii)  obtain financing for project construction and manufacturing expansion,

(iv)  obtain permanent financing for its projects once constructed, (v)  increase order and contract volumes, which would lead to additional

product sales, service agreements and generation revenues, (vi) obtain funding for and receive payment for research and development under

current and future Advanced Technologies contracts, (vii) successfully commercialize its solid oxide, hydrogen and carbon capture platforms,

(viii)  implement capacity expansion for solid oxide product manufacturing, (ix) implement the product cost reductions necessary to achieve

profitable operations, (x) manage working capital and the Company’s unrestricted cash balance and (xi) access the capital markets to raise

funds through the sale of debt and equity securities, convertible notes, and other equity-linked instruments.
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We are continually assessing different means by which to accelerate the Company’s growth, enter new markets, commercialize new products,

and enable capacity expansion. Therefore, from time to time, the Company may consider and enter into agreements for one or more of the

following: negotiated financial transactions, minority investments, collaborative ventures, technology sharing, transfer or other technology

license arrangements, joint ventures, partnerships, acquisitions or other business transactions for the purpose(s) of geographic or

manufacturing expansion and/or new product or technology development and commercialization, including hydrogen production through our

carbonate and solid oxide platforms and storage and carbon capture, sequestration and utilization technologies.

Our business model requires substantial outside financing arrangements and satisfaction of the conditions of such arrangements to construct

and deploy our projects to facilitate the growth of our business. The Company has invested capital raised from sales of its common stock to

build out its project portfolio. The Company has also utilized and expects to continue to utilize a combination of long-term debt and tax equity

financing (e.g., sale-leaseback transactions, partnership flip transactions and the monetization and/or transfer of eligible investment and

production tax credits) to finance its project asset portfolio as these projects commence commercial operations, particularly in light of the

passage of the Inflation Reduction Act in August 2022. The Company may also seek to undertake private placements of debt securities of a

portfolio of assets to finance its project asset portfolio. The proceeds of any such financing, if obtained, may allow the Company to reinvest

capital back into the business and to fund other projects. We may also seek to obtain additional financing in both the debt and equity markets in

the future. If financing is not available to us on acceptable terms if and when needed, or on terms acceptable to us or our lenders, if we do not

satisfy the conditions of our financing arrangements, if we spend more than the financing approved for projects, if project costs exceed an

amount that the Company can finance, or if we do not generate sufficient revenues or obtain capital sufficient for our corporate needs, we may

be required to reduce or slow planned spending, reduce staffing, sell assets, seek alternative financing and take other measures, any of which

could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and operations.

Note 2. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted Accounting Guidance

There is no recently adopted accounting guidance.

Recent Accounting Guidance Not Yet Effective

There In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued guidance to improve reportable segment disclosure

requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. In addition, the guidance enhances interim

disclosure requirements, clarifies circumstances in which an entity can disclose multiple segment measures of profit or loss, provides new

segment disclosure requirements for entities with a single reportable segment and contains other disclosure requirements. The purpose of the

guidance is no recent accounting to enable investors to better understand an entity’s overall performance and assess potential future cash

flows. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after

December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact that is not yet effective. the new guidance will have on

our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued guidance to enhance income tax disclosures by providing information to better assess how an entity’s

operations, related tax risks, tax planning and operational opportunities affect its tax rate and prospects for future cash flows. Additional

disclosures will be required to the annual effective tax rate reconciliation including specific categories and further disaggregated reconciling

items that meet the quantitative threshold. Additionally, disclosures will be required relating to income tax expense and payments made to

federal, state, local and foreign jurisdictions. This guidance is effective for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2024.

We are currently evaluating the impact that the new guidance will have on our consolidated financial statements.

Note 3. Tax Equity Financings

Derby Tax Equity Financing Transaction

Since the Derby Projects became operational during the three months ended January 31, 2024, we have begun to allocate profits and losses

to noncontrolling interests under the hypothetical liquidation at book value ("HLBV") method. For the three months ended January 31, 2024, the

net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests totaled $20.7 million. There were no amounts allocated to noncontrolling interest for the three

months ended January 31, 2023 for Derby Fuel Cell Holdco, LLC (the partnership that acquired the equity interests in the project company that

owns the Derby Projects) because the
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Note 3. Tax Equity Financings

Derby Projects were not yet operational at that time. As such, the Company had not yet allocated profits or losses to the noncontrolling interest

under the HLBV method. During the three months ended January 31, 2024, the Company made priority return distributions to Franklin Park of

$0.1 million.

Groton Tax Equity Financing Transaction

The Company closed on a tax equity financing transaction in August 2021 with East West Bancorp, Inc. (“East West Bank”) for the 7.4 MW fuel

cell project (the “Groton Project”) located on the U.S. Navy Submarine Base in Groton, CT. East West Bank’s tax equity commitment totals $15

million. 

This transaction was structured as a “partnership flip”, which is a structure commonly used by tax equity investors in For the financing of

renewable energy projects. Under this partnership flip structure, a partnership, in this case three months ended January 31, 2024 and 2023, the

net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests for Groton Station FuelCell Holdco, LLC (the “Groton Partnership”), was organized to acquire

from FuelCell Energy Finance II, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of partnership that acquired the Company, all outstanding equity interests in

Groton Station Fuel Cell, LLC (the “Groton Project Company”) which in turn the project company that owns the Groton Project Project)totaled

$3.6 million and is the party to the power purchase agreement and all project agreements. At the closing of the transaction, the Groton

Partnership is owned by East West Bank, holding Class A Units, and FuelCell Energy Finance Holdco, LLC, a subsidiary of FuelCell Energy

Finance, LLC, holding Class B Units.  The acquisition of the Groton Project Company by the Groton Partnership was funded in part by an initial

draw from East West Bank and funds contributed downstream to the Groton Partnership by the Company. The initial closing occurred on

August 4, 2021 $2.9 million, upon the satisfaction of certain conditions precedent (including the receipt of an appraisal and confirmation that the

Groton Project would be eligible for the investment tax credit under Section 48 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended).   In

connection with the initial closing, the Company drew down $3.0 million, of which approximately $0.8 million was used to pay closing costs

including appraisal fees, title insurance expenses and legal and consulting fees. Under the original terms of the Company’s agreement with

East West Bank, the Company would have been eligible to draw the remaining amount of the commitment, approximately $12 million, once the

Groton Project achieved commercial operation. In addition, under the original terms of the Company’s agreement with East West Bank, the

Groton Project had a required commercial operations deadline of October 18, 2021. The significance of the commercial operations deadline is

that, if commercial operations were not achieved by such deadline, East West Bank would have the option to require an amount equal to 101%

of its investment to be returned.   East West Bank granted several extensions of the commercial operations deadline, which collectively

extended the deadline to May 15, 2022, in exchange for  the Company’s agreement to pay fees of $0.4 million in the aggregate.

On July 7, 2022, the Company and East West Bank amended their tax equity financing agreement and extended the commercial operations

deadline to September 30, 2022. In addition, in the July 7, 2022 amendment to the tax equity financing agreement, the terms of East West

Bank’s remaining investment commitment of $12.0 million were modified such that East West Bank will contribute $4.0 million on each of the

first, second and third anniversaries of the Groton Project achieving commercial operations, rather than contributing the full $12.0 million when

the Groton Project achieved commercial operations. Such contributions are subject to certain customer conditions precedent, including a third-

party certification by an independent engineer that the plant is operating in conformance with the amended and restated power purchase

agreement. When such contributions are made by East West Bank, the funds will be distributed upstream to the Company, as a reimbursement

of prior construction costs incurred by the Company. In conjunction with this amendment, the Company agreed to pay aggregate fees of $0.5

million (which are inclusive of the fees from the previous extensions described above), which were payable by the Company upon

commencement of commercial operations of the plant.

On October 4, 2022, the Company and East West Bank further amended their tax equity financing agreement to extend the deadline by which

commercial operations were to be achieved at the Groton Project from September 30, 2022 to November 30, 2022.  In addition, modifications

to the Groton Project documents between Connecticut Municipal Electric Energy Cooperative (“CMEEC”) and the Company as a result of the

agreement between those parties to commence operations at less than 7.4 MW required the approval of East West Bank as part of East West

Bank’s rights under the agreement between East West Bank and the Company.  On December 16, 2022, the Company and CMEEC agreed

that, for all purposes, the commercial operations date had occurred, and, accordingly, East West Bank no longer had a right to have its

investment returned as a result of the Company’s failure to achieve commercial operations in a timely fashion, and this investment became a

non-redeemable noncontrolling interest as of December 16, 2022. In addition, on December 16, 2022, the Company paid the aggregate fees of

$0.5 million described above to East West Bank.
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On December 16, 2022, the Company declared and, per the terms of the Amended and Restated Power Purchase Agreement between the

Company and CMEEC entered into on that date (the “Amended and Restated PPA”), CMEEC agreed that the Groton Project is commercially

operational at 6 MW. As of December 16, 2022, the Groton Project is reported as a part of the Company’s generation operating portfolio. The

Amended and Restated PPA allows the Company
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to operate the plants at a reduced output of approximately 6 MW while a Technical Improvement Plan (“TIP”) is implemented over the next year

with the goal of bringing the platform to its rated capacity of 7.4 MW by December 31, 2023. In conjunction with entering into the Amended and

Restated PPA, the Navy also provided its authorization to proceed with commercial operations at 6 MW.   The Company paid CMEEC an

amendment fee of $1.2 million and is incurring and will continue to incur performance guarantee fees under the Amended and Restated PPA

as a result of operating at an output below 7.4 MW during implementation of the TIP. Although the Company believes it will successfully

implement the TIP and bring the plants up to their nominal output of 7.4 MW by December 31, 2023, no assurance can be provided that such

work will be successful. In the event that the plants do not reach an output of 7.4 MW by December 31, 2023, the Amended and Restated PPA

will continue in effect, and the Company will be subject to ongoing performance guarantee fees as set forth in the Amended and Restated PPA.

With the declaration of commercial operations, East West Bank’s investment in the project was reclassified, as of December 16, 2022, from a

redeemable noncontrolling interest to non-redeemable noncontrolling interests within the Total equity section of the Consolidated Balance

Sheets.

Under most partnership flip structures, tax equity investors agree to receive a minimum target rate of return, typically on an after-tax basis.

Prior to receiving a contractual rate of return or a date specified in the contractual arrangements, East West Bank will receive substantially all of

the non-cash value attributable to the Groton Project, which includes accelerated depreciation and Section 48(a) investment tax credits;

however, the Company will receive a majority of the cash distributions (based on the operating income of the Groton Project), which are paid

quarterly. After East West Bank receives its contractual rate of return, the Company will receive approximately 95% of the cash and tax

allocations. The Company (through a separate wholly owned entity) entered into a back leverage debt financing transaction subsequent to July

31, 2023 and will use the cash distributions from the Groton Partnership to service the debt (refer to Note. 18. “Subsequent Events” for

additional information).

We have determined we are the primary beneficiary in the Groton Partnership for accounting purposes as a Variable Interest Entity (“VIE”)

under GAAP. We have considered the provisions within the financing-related agreements (including the limited liability company agreement for

the Groton Partnership) which grant us power to manage and make decisions affecting the operations of the Groton Partnership. We consider

the rights granted to East West Bank under the agreements to be more protective in nature than participatory. Therefore, we have determined

under the power and benefits criterion of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 810, Consolidations that we are the primary beneficiary of

the Groton Partnership. As the primary beneficiary, we consolidate the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Groton

Partnership in our consolidated financial statements, and all intercompany balances and transactions between us and the Groton Partnership

are eliminated. We recognized East West Bank’s share of the net assets of the Groton Partnership as redeemable noncontrolling interests in

our Consolidated Balance Sheets. East West Bank’s share of the net assets is considered as a redeemable noncontrolling interest due to the

conditional withdrawal right under which, if events outside the control of the Company occur, East West Bank has the ability to force the

Company to redeem its interest in the Groton Partnership. The income or loss allocations reflected in our Consolidated Statements of

Operations and Comprehensive Loss may create volatility in our reported results of operations, including potentially changing net loss

attributable to stockholders to net income attributable to stockholders, or vice versa, from quarter to quarter. Since the Groton Project became

operational during the three months ended January 31, 2023, we have begun to allocate profits and losses to noncontrolling interests under the

hypothetical liquidation at book value (“HLBV”) method. HLBV is a balance sheet-oriented approach for applying the equity method of

accounting when there is a complex structure, such as the partnership flip structure. For the three and nine months ended July 31, 2023, the

net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests totaled $0.1 million and ($2.8) million, respectively.There were no amounts allocated to

noncontrolling interest for the three and nine months ended July 31, 2022 for the Groton Partnership.

Yaphank Tax Equity Financing Transaction
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The Company closed on a tax equity financing transaction in November 2021 with Renewable Energy Investors, LLC (“REI”), a subsidiary of

Franklin Park Infrastructure, LLC, for the 7.4 MW fuel cell project (the “LIPA Yaphank Project”) located in Yaphank Long Island. REI’s tax equity

commitment totaled $12.4 million. 

This transaction was structured as a “partnership flip,” which is a structure commonly used by tax equity investors in the financing of renewable

energy projects. partnership flip.  Under this partnership flip structure, a partnership, in this case YTBFC Holdco, LLC (the “Yaphank

Partnership”), was organized to acquire from FuelCell Energy Finance II, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, all outstanding

equity interests in Yaphank Fuel Cell Park, LLC, which in turn owns the LIPA
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Yaphank Project and is the party to the power purchase agreement and all project agreements.  REI holds Class A Units in the Yaphank

Partnership and a subsidiary of the Company holds the Class B Units. The initial funding occurred on December 13, 2021. In connection with

the initial closing, the Company was able to draw down approximately $3.2 million, of which approximately $0.4 million was used to pay closing

costs, including title insurance expenses and legal and consulting fees. The Company drew down the remaining amount of the commitment,

approximately $9.2 million, in December 2021 and January 2022, after the LIPA Yaphank Project achieved commercial operation. These

proceeds were partially offset by legal and advisory fees of approximately $0.4 million. Units.

The Company determined during the second quarter of fiscal year 2022 that there was an overpayment by REI During each of the Class A

Member Capital Contribution of $0.5 million three month periods ended January 31, 2024 and as such the Company refunded this amount back

to REI, reducing the REI tax equity commitment to $11.9 million. During the three months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022, 2023, the Company

made priority return distributions to REI of $0.2 million and $0.1 million, respectively. During the nine months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022,

the Company made priority return distributions to REI of $0.4 million and $0.2 million, respectively.  

Under a partnership flip structure, tax equity investors agree to receive a minimum target rate of return, typically on an after-tax basis. Prior to

receiving a contractual rate of return or a date specified in the contractual arrangements, REI will receive substantially all of the non-cash value

attributable to the LIPA Yaphank Project, which includes accelerated depreciation and Section 48(a) investment tax credits; however, the

Company will receive a majority of the cash distributions (based on the operating income of the LIPA Yaphank Project), which are paid

quarterly. After REI receives its contractual rate of return, the Company will receive approximately 95% of the cash and tax allocations. The

Company may enter into a back leverage debt financing transaction and use the cash distributions from the Yaphank Partnership to service the

debt.  

Under this partnership flip structure, after the fifth anniversary following achievement of commercial operations, we have an option to acquire all

of the equity interests that REI holds in the Yaphank Partnership starting after REI receives its contractual rate of return (the anticipated “flip”

date) after the LIPA Yaphank Project is operational. If we exercise this option, we will be required to pay the greater of the following: (i) the fair

market value of REI’s equity interest at the time the option is exercised or (ii) an amount equal to 10.3% of REI’s capital contributions. This

option payment is to be grossed up for federal taxes if it exceeds the tax basis of the Yaphank Partnership Class A Units.

We are the primary beneficiary in the Yaphank Partnership for accounting purposes as a VIE under GAAP. We have considered the provisions

within the financing-related agreements (including the limited liability company agreement for the Yaphank Partnership) which grant us power

to manage and make decisions affecting the operations of the Yaphank Partnership. We consider the rights granted to REI under the

agreements to be more protective in nature rather than participatory. Therefore, we have determined under the power and benefits criterion of

ASC 810, Consolidations that we are the primary beneficiary of the Yaphank Partnership. As the primary beneficiary, we consolidate the

financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Yaphank Partnership in our consolidated financial statements, and all

intercompany balances and transactions between us and the Yaphank Partnership are eliminated. We recognized REI’s share of the net assets

of the Yaphank Partnership as noncontrolling interests in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The income or loss allocations reflected in our

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss may create volatility in our reported results of operations, including

potentially changing net loss attributable to stockholders to net income attributable to stockholders, or vice versa, from quarter to quarter. We
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allocate profits and losses to REI’s noncontrolling interest under the HLBV method. HLBV is a balance sheet-oriented approach for applying

the equity method of accounting when there is a complex structure, such as the partnership flip structure. . For the three months ended July 31,

2023 January 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interest for the Yaphank Partnership totaled $0.6

million ($0.3) million and $0.4 million, respectively, and the net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest for the nine months ended

July 31, 2023 and 2022 totaled $1.4 million and $(5.0) million, respectively.respectively.

Note 4. Revenue Recognition

Revenue Recognition – Groton Project PPA

The Groton Project Amended and Restated PPA that was entered into on December 16, 2022 (as discussed further in Note 3. “Tax Equity

Financings”) has resulted in revenue recognition to be accounted for in accordance with ASC 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers,”

whereas this PPA was previously accounted for under ASC 842, “Leases.” The Company’s performance obligation is to provide 100% of the

electricity output to the customer.  The promise to provide electricity over the term of the PPA represents a single performance obligation, as it

is a promise to transfer a
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series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and that have the same pattern of transfer to the customer. Revenue is

recognized over time as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Company, and the Company

satisfies its performance obligation. Revenue is recognized based on the output method as there is a directly observable output to the

customer-electricity delivered to the customer and immediately consumed.

Contract Balances

Contract assets as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023 were $46.1 million $45.1 million ($27.1 22.7

million long-term) and $20.7 million $42.1 million ($9.7 25.8 million long-term), respectively. The contract assets relate to the Company’s rights

to consideration for work performed completed but not yet billed. These amounts are included on a separate line item as Unbilled receivables,

and balances expected to be billed later than one year from the balance sheet date are included within Other assets on the accompanying

Consolidated Balance Sheets. We bill customers for power platform and power platform component sales based on certain contractual

milestones being reached. We bill service agreements and PPAs based on the contract price and billing terms of the contracts. Generally, our

Advanced Technologies contracts are billed based on actual revenues recorded, typically in the subsequent  month. Some Advanced

Technologies contracts are billed based on contractual milestones or costs incurred. The net change in contract assets represents amounts

recognized as revenue offset by customer billings.

Contract liabilities as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023 were $3.1 million $4.3 million and $25.4

million $3.1 million, respectively. These amounts are included on a separate line item as Deferred revenue, and balances expected to be

recognized as revenue later than one year from the balance sheet date are included within Long term deferred revenue and customer deposits.

The contract liabilities relate to the advance billings to customers for services that will be recognized over time.

time and in some instances for deferred revenue relating to variable consideration for previously sold products. The net change in contract

liabilities represents customer billings offset by revenue recognized.

Product Revenue Recognition Consideration Payable to a Customer

As previously disclosed, of October 31, 2023, the Company entered into a Settlement Agreement (the “Settlement Agreement” had recorded

$6.3 million ($6.0 million long-term) as consideration payable to Toyota Motor North America (“Toyota”), which is included within Accrued

liabilities and Long-term debt and other liabilities on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company received payment for the

sale of an investment tax credit with POSCO Energy Co., Ltd. (“POSCO Energy”) and its subsidiary, Korea Fuel Cell Co., Ltd. (“KFC”), in fiscal

year 2022. The Settlement Agreement included an option to purchase an additional 14 modules (in addition respect to the 20 modules which

were purchased by KFC Toyota project at the Port of Long Beach during fiscal the year 2022). The option was not exercised as ended October
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31, 2023 and the net amount of the expiration date of December 31, 2022 and, $6.3 million will be recorded as a result, the Company

recognized $9.1 million of product reduction to revenue during the nine months ended July 31, 2023 period of measurement, which

represents is the consideration allocated to 20-year term of the material right had hydrogen production and power purchase agreement between

Toyota and the option been exercised. Company (“Toyota HPPA”).
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Advanced Technologies Revenue – EMTEC Joint Development Agreement and Rotterdam Pilot Project Purchase Order

On December 19, 2022, In May 2023, the Company and entered into a second letter agreement with ExxonMobil Technology and Engineering

Company (formerly known as ExxonMobil Research and Engineering Company) (“EMTEC”) entered into Amendment No. 3 to the Joint

Development Agreement between the Company and EMTEC, effective as of December 1, 2022 (such amendment, “Amendment No. 3” and

such agreement, as amended from time to time, the “EMTEC Joint Development Agreement”). In Amendment No. 3, the Company and

EMTEC agreed to further extend the term of the EMTEC Joint Development Agreement such that it will end on August 31, 2023 (unless

terminated earlier) and to further increase the maximum amount of contract consideration to be reimbursed by EMTEC from $50.0 million to

$60.0 million. Amendment No. 3 (i) allowed for continuation of research intended to enable the parties to finalize data collection in support of

the project gate decision to use the developed technology in a Company fuel cell module demonstration for capturing carbon at ExxonMobil’s

Rotterdam facility, (ii) allowed for the continuation of the development, engineering and mechanical derisking of the Generation 2 Technology

fuel cell module prototype, and (iii) allowed for studying the manufacturing scale-up and cost reduction of a commercial Generation 2

Technology fuel cell carbon capture facility.

During the nine months ended July 31, 2022, the Company achieved the first technical milestone under the EMTEC Joint Development

Agreement and received payment of $5.0 million. At the time, the Company did not recognize revenue in connection with this milestone

achievement as a result of its agreement with EMTEC to either make a $5.0 million investment in a demonstration of a Company fuel cell

module for capturing carbon at ExxonMobil’s Rotterdam refinery located in Rotterdam, Netherlands (the “Rotterdam Project”) or discount

EMTEC’s purchase of the Company’s fuel cell module and detailed engineering design for the Rotterdam Project by $5.0 million, should the

Company enter into a contract with EMTEC to proceed with the Rotterdam Project. In May 2023, the Company entered into a letter agreement

with EMTEC, pursuant to which the parties agreed that the conditions to the Company’s agreement to invest in the future demonstration of the

technology for capturing carbon at an ExxonMobil refinery located in Rotterdam, Project Netherlands (such demonstration, the “Rotterdam

Project”) were met in April 2023 and, as a result, the Company will recognize $2.5 million of the $5.0 million milestone payment received in

fiscal year 2022 under the Company’s Joint Development Agreement with EMTEC as revenue across future deliverables to EMTEC. Of this

$2.5 million, the Company recognized revenue of $0.2 million during the three and nine months ended July 31, 2023 $0.5 million through

January 31, 2024. The other $2.5 million
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of the $5.0 million milestone payment received under the EMTEC Joint Development Agreement in fiscal year 2022 will be under the

Company’s Joint Development Agreement with EMTEC was applied during fiscal year 2023 to discount EMTEC’s purchase of the Company’s

fuel cell module and detailed engineering design for the Rotterdam Project. EMTEC has not yet made the project gate decision to proceed with

the Rotterdam Project. A final investment decision on the Rotterdam project is expected later this calendar year.
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See Note 18. “Subsequent Events” On January 31, 2024, the Company received a purchase order valued at $11.6 million from Esso Nederland

B.V. (“Esso”), an affiliate of Exxon Mobil Corporation and EMTEC, for additional information regarding fuel cell modules as well as engineering,

procurement, fabrication, testing and delivery services required for the fourth amendment to construction and implementation of the EMTEC

Joint Development Agreement. modular point source carbon capture pilot plant at the Esso Rotterdam Manufacturing Complex.

Remaining Performance Obligations

Remaining performance obligations are the aggregate amount of total contract transaction price that is unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied. As of

July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, the Company’s total remaining performance obligations were: $63.8 million $140.4 million for service

agreements $64.5 million (expected to be recognized as revenue over approximately three to fifteen years which is based on the remaining

term of the service agreements), $346.0 million for a generation power purchase agreements (“PPAs”) (expected to be recognized as revenue

over approximately nineteen to twenty years based on the PPA and $11.6 million terms remaining), $18.3 million for Advanced Technologies

contracts in the aggregate. Service revenue in periods in which there are no module exchanges is expected (expected to be relatively

consistent from period to period, whereas module exchanges will result in an increase in revenue when exchanges occur. recognized within

approximately two years) and $0 for product purchase agreements.

Note 5. Investments – Short-Term

During the nine months ended July 31, 2023, the The Company invested $195.8 million began to purchase invest in U.S. Treasury Securities

$120.9 million of which matured during the nine months ended July 31, 2023. fiscal year 2023. The U.S. Treasury Securities were classified as

held-to-maturity and were recorded at amortized cost. There are no U.S. Treasury Securities outstanding as of July 31, 2023 have maturity

dates ranging from August 8, 2023 to October 26, 2023 January 31, 2024. We have classified the U.S. Treasury Securities as held-to-maturity

and recorded them at amortized cost. The following table summarizes the amortized cost basis and fair value (based on quoted market prices)

at July 31, 2023 (in thousands) as of October 31, 2023 were $103.8 million.

Amortized Gross unrealized Gross unrealized

     cost      gains losses Fair value

U.S. Treasury Securities

As of July 31, 2023 $ 77,431 $ - $ (38)$ 77,393

The contractual maturities of investments are as of October 31, 2023 were within one year and the weighted average yield to maturity is

5.09% was 5.45%.

Note 6. Inventories

Inventories (current and long-term) as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023 consisted of the following (in

thousands):

July 31, October 31, January 31, October 31,

     2023      2022      2024      2023

Raw materials $ 38,737 $ 30,624 $ 38,276 $ 36,200

Work-in-process (1) 54,373 67,834 67,326 55,585

Inventories 93,110 98,458 105,602 91,785

Inventories – current (85,561) (90,909) (102,859) (84,456)

Inventories – long-term (2) $ 7,549 $ 7,549 $ 2,743 $ 7,329

(1) Work-in-process includes the standard components of inventory used to build the typical modules or module components that are intended
to be used in future project asset construction or power plant orders or for use under the Company’s service agreements. Included in work-
in-process as of July 31, 2023 and October 31, 2022 was $35.4 million and $54.0 million, respectively, of completed standard components
and modules.

(2) Long-term inventory includes modules that are contractually required to be segregated for use as exchange modules for specific project
assets.

Raw materials consist mainly of various nickel powders and steels, various other components used in producing cell stacks and purchased

components for balance of plant. Work-in-process inventory is comprised of material, labor, and overhead costs incurred to build fuel cell

stacks and modules, which are subcomponents of a power platform.
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Note 7. Project Assets

Project assets as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023 consisted of the following (in thousands):

July 31, October 31, Estimated January 31, October 31, Estimated

     2023      2022      Useful Life      2024      2023      Useful Life

Project Assets – Operating $ 211,573 $ 154,736 4-20 years $308,188 $213,753 4-20 years

Accumulated depreciation (41,174) (29,546) (48,121) (46,263)

Project Assets – Operating, net 170,399 125,190 260,067 167,490

Project Assets – Construction in progress 77,824 107,696 723 90,576

Project Assets, net $ 248,223 $ 232,886 $260,790 $258,066

The estimated useful lives of these project assets are 20 years for balance of plant (“BOP”) and site construction, and four to seven years for

modules. Project assets as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023 included nine twelve and eight, nine,

respectively, completed, commissioned installations generating power with respect to which the Company has a power purchase agreement

(“PPA”) PPA with the end-user of power and site host with a net aggregate value of $170.4 million $260.1 million and $125.2 million $167.5

million as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023, respectively. As of July 31, 2023, certain Certain of these

assets were are the subject of sale-leaseback arrangements with Crestmark Equipment Finance (“Crestmark”). The increase in operating

project assets at July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, compared to October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023, is a result of the inclusion of the

Groton Toyota Project and the Derby Projects, all of which became operational during the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31,

2024.

Project assets as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023 also include installations with carrying values of

$77.8 million $0.7 million and $107.7 million $90.6 million, respectively, which are being developed and constructed by the Company in

connection with projects for which we have entered into PPAs or projects for which we expect to secure PPAs or otherwise recover the asset

value and which have not yet been placed in service.

Included in “Construction in progress” is the 2.3 MW Toyota project. It was determined in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2021 that a potential

source of renewable natural gas (“RNG”) at favorable pricing was no longer sufficiently probable and that market pricing for RNG had

significantly increased, resulting in the determination that the carrying value of the project asset was no longer recoverable. As of July 31,

2023, current market pricing of RNG continues to result in non-recoverability consistent with the Company’s prior assessment.  Refer to Note

17. “Commitments and Contingencies” for more information regarding fuel risk exposure. As this project is being constructed, only inventory

components that can be redeployed for alternative use are being capitalized. The balance of costs incurred are being expensed as generation

cost of revenues.   PPAs.

Project construction costs incurred for long-term project assets are reported as investing activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash

Flows.

Note 8. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

As of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023, the Company had goodwill of $4.1 million and intangible assets

of $16.4 million $15.8 million and $17.4 million $16.1 million, respectively, that were recorded in connection with the Company’s 2012

acquisition of Versa Power Systems, Inc. (“Versa”) and the 2019 Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project acquisition.

The Versa acquisition intangible asset represents an indefinite-lived in-process research and development intangible asset for cumulative

research and development efforts associated with the development of solid oxide fuel cell stationary power generation. Amortization expense

for the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project-related intangible asset for each of the three month periods ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and

2022 2023 was $0.3 million and for each .

The following tables summarize the carrying value of the nine month periods ended July 31, 2023 Company’s intangible assets as of January

31, 2024 and 2022 was $0.9 million. October 31, 2023 (in thousands):

As of January 31, 2024      Gross Amount     

Accumulated


Amortization      Net Amount
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In-Process Research and Development $ 9,592 $ - $ 9,592

Bridgeport PPA 12,320 (6,160) 6,160

Total $ 21,912 $ (6,160) $ 15,752

As of October 31, 2023      Gross Amount     

Accumulated


Amortization      Net Amount

In-Process Research and Development $ 9,592 $ - $ 9,592

Bridgeport PPA 12,320 (5,836) 6,484

Total $ 21,912 $ (5,836) $ 16,076
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The following tables summarize the carrying value of the Company’s intangible assets  as of July 31, 2023  and  October 31, 2022 (in

thousands):

As of July 31, 2023      Gross Amount     

Accumulated


Amortization      Net Amount

In-Process Research and Development $ 9,592 $ - $ 9,592

Bridgeport PPA 12,320 (5,512) 6,808

Total $ 21,912 $ (5,512) $ 16,400

As of October 31, 2022      Gross Amount     

Accumulated


Amortization      Net Amount

In-Process Research and Development $ 9,592 $ - $ 9,592

Bridgeport PPA 12,320 (4,539) 7,781

Total $ 21,912 $ (4,539) $ 17,373

Note 9. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023 consisted of the following (in thousands):

July 31, October 31, January 31, October 31,

     2023      2022      2024      2023

Accrued payroll and employee benefits (1) $ 5,950 $ 8,534 $ 4,093 $ 7,752

Accrued product warranty cost 203 537

Consideration payable to a customer (2) 3,958 3,958

Accrued service agreement and PPA costs (2) (3) 13,500 11,340 10,756 10,742

Accrued legal, taxes, professional and other 3,393 7,004 3,516 3,861

Accrued liabilities $ 23,046 $ 27,415 $ 22,323 $ 26,313

(1) The balance in this account represents accrued payroll, payroll taxes and accrued bonus for both periods.  The decrease in the account
relates to a decrease in accrued bonus as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 due to the payout in January 2023 2024 of bonuses earned
under the 2022 2023 Management Incentive Plan.

(2) The balance represents the net amount due to Toyota as an accrued liability, which will be reduced over time against billings to Toyota for
hydrogen sales under the terms of the Toyota HPPA.
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(3) Accrued service agreement costs include loss accruals on service agreements of $7.2 million and $7.3 million $9.5 million as of July 31,
2023 January 31, 2024 and October 31, 2022, respectively. October 31, 2023. The accruals for performance guarantees on service
agreements and PPAs were $5.8 million and $4.1 million $1.2 million as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and October 31, 2022 October
31, 2023.

Note 10. Leases

The Company enters into operating and finance lease agreements for the use of real estate, vehicles, information technology equipment, and

certain other equipment. We determine if an arrangement contains a lease at inception, which is the date on which the terms of the contract are

agreed to and the agreement creates enforceable rights and obligations. Operating The impacts of accounting for operating leases are included

in Operating lease right-of-use assets, net, Operating lease liabilities, and Long-term operating lease liabilities in the Company’s Consolidated

Balance Sheets. Finance leases are not considered significant to the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets or Consolidated Statements of

Operations and Comprehensive Loss.

On January 5, 2023, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Versa Power Systems Ltd. (“Versa Ltd.”), entered in to a lease expansion,

extension and amending agreement to an existing building lease that was originally entered into on May 20, 2005. The lease expansion,

extension and amending agreement extended the term of the lease through September 30, 2028 and expanded the space leased by Versa

Ltd. in Calgary, Alberta, Canada to include approximately 48,000 square feet of additional space. A right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and operating

lease liability was initially recorded for this lease as of the first quarter of fiscal year 2023 for CAD $2.7 million ($2.0 million USD).

On February 20, 2023, Versa Ltd. entered into a Lease Expansion and Amending Agreement – Short Term (the “Lease Expansion and

Amendment”) to the existing lease for the Calgary manufacturing facility (i.e., the lease referenced in the paragraph immediately above). Under

the Lease Expansion and Amendment, the space leased by Versa Ltd. Company currently has been further expanded to include, on a short-

term basis, an additional space located at the same address as the original Calgary manufacturing facility (4800 – 52nd Street SE, Calgary,

Alberta, Canada) and consisting of approximately 18,627 square feet (the “Temporary Premises”). The term of the lease with respect to the

Temporary Premises commenced on April 1, 2023 and will expire on July 31, 2024. The Temporary Premises is expected to be used for short

term expansion of solid
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oxide fuel cell and stack production and commissioning of newly purchased production equipment.  A ROU asset and operating lease liability

was initially recorded for the Lease Expansion and Amendment as of the second quarter of fiscal year 2023 for CAD $0.2 million ($0.1 million

USD). no finance leases.

Operating lease expense for each of the three month periods ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 was $0.4 million and for

the nine months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022 was $1.2 million and $1.1 million $0.3 million, respectively. As of July 31, 2023 January 31,

2024, the weighted average remaining lease term (in  years) was approximately 17 years and the weighted average discount rate was

6.97% 6.96%. Lease payments made during the three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 were $0.3 million $0.2

million and $0.4 million, respectively, and for the nine months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022 were $0.9 million and $1.1 million $0.3 million,

respectively.

Undiscounted maturities of operating lease and finance lease liabilities as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 were as follows (in thousands):

    

Operating


Leases     

Finance


Leases     

Operating


Leases     

Due Year 1 $ 1,094 $ 29 $ 1,142

Due Year 2 1,224 — 1,275

Due Year 3 1,266 — 1,294

Due Year 4 1,312 — 1,314

Due Year 5 1,332 — 1,149

Thereafter 13,006 — 12,519

Total undiscounted lease payments 19,234 29 18,693
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Less imputed interest (9,289) (5) (9,087)

Total discounted lease payments $ 9,945 $ 24 $ 9,606

Note 11. Stockholders’ Equity

2022 Open Market Sale Agreement

On July 12, 2022, the Company entered into the an Open Market Sale Agreement with Jefferies LLC, B. Riley Securities, Inc., Barclays Capital

Inc., BMO Capital Markets Corp., BofA Securities, Inc., Canaccord Genuity LLC, Citigroup Global Markets Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and

Loop Capital Markets LLC (the “Open Market Sale Agreement”) with respect to an at the market offering program under which the Company

may, from time to time, offer and sell up to 95.0 million shares of the Company’s common stock. Pursuant to the Open Market Sale Agreement,

the Company pays is required to pay and has paid each agent a commission equal to 2.0% of the gross proceeds from each sale of shares

made by such agent under the Open Market Sale Agreement. From the date of the Open Market Sale Agreement through July 31,

2023, January 31,
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2024, the Company sold approximately 60.8 million 62.8 million shares under the Open Market Sale Agreement at an average sale price of

$2.67 $2.66 per share. Of this 60.8 million shares, approximately 57.4 million shares were issued and settled on or prior to July 31, 2023 share,

resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $155.0 million, $166.8 million before deducting sales commissions and fees, and net proceeds to

the Company of approximately $151.2 million $162.7 million after deducting sales commissions and fees totaling approximately $3.8

million $4.1 million. During the three and nine months ended July 31, 2023, approximately 41.3 million and 42.3 million shares, respectively, No

sales were sold made under the Open Market Sale Agreement at an average sale price of $2.24 per share and $2.26 per share, respectively.

Of these 41.3 million and 42.3 million shares, approximately 37.9 million and 38.9 million shares were issued and settled during the three and

nine months quarter ended July 31, 2023, respectively, resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $85.1 million and $88.0 million,

respectively, before deducting sales commissions and fees, and net proceeds of approximately $83.3 million and $85.9 million, respectively,

after deducting sales commissions and fees totaling approximately $1.8 million and $2.1 million, respectively. January 31, 2024.

As of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, approximately 37.6  million 32.2 million shares were available for issuance under the Open Market Sale

Agreement (which includes approximately 3.4 million Agreement. However, in order to sell additional shares that were sold on or prior to July

31, 2023 but were issued subsequent to July 31, 2023). Taking into account all of the shares sold on or prior to July 31, 2023, approximately

34.2 million shares were available for sale under the Open Market Sale Agreement, as of July 31, 2023.

See Note 18. “Subsequent Events” for information regarding the Company must file a prospectus supplement covering such sales made under

the Open Market Sale Agreement following the end of the quarter. its Registration Statement on Form S-3, which was filed in October 2023.

Note 12. Redeemable Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 250,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share, in one or more series, of which

105,875 shares were designated as 5% Series  B Cumulative Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock (“Series  B Preferred Stock”) in March

2005.
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Series B Preferred Stock

As of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, the Company had 105,875 shares of Series B Preferred Stock, with a liquidation preference of $1,000.00

per share, authorized for issuance. As of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023, there were 64,020 shares of

Series B Preferred Stock issued and outstanding, with a carrying value of $59.9 million. Dividends of $2.4 million $0.8 million were paid in cash

during each of the nine three month periods ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and 2022. 2023.

Note 13. Loss Per Share

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share was as follows (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):

Three Months Ended July 31, Nine Months Ended July 31, Three Months Ended January 31,

2023 2022      2023 2022      2024 2023     

Numerator

Net loss attributable to FuelCell Energy, Inc. $ (24,279)$ (29,414) $ (77,204)$ (100,255) $ (19,793)$ (18,622)

Series B preferred stock dividends (800) (800) (2,400) (2,400) (800) (800)

Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (25,079)$ (30,214) $ (79,604)$ (102,655) $ (20,593)$ (19,422)

Denominator

Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic 415,867,594 387,465,758 409,361,826 375,638,293 451,637,041 405,803,753

Effect of dilutive securities (1) - - - - - -

Weighted average common shares outstanding – diluted 415,867,594 387,465,758 409,361,826 375,638,293 451,637,041 405,803,753

Net loss to common stockholders per share – basic $ (0.06)$ (0.08) $ (0.19)$ (0.27) $ (0.05)$ (0.05)

Net loss to common stockholders per share – diluted (1) $ (0.06)$ (0.08) $ (0.19)$ (0.27) $ (0.05)$ (0.05)

(1) Due to the net loss to common stockholders in each of the periods presented above, diluted loss per share was computed without
consideration to potentially dilutive instruments as their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive. As of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and
2022, 2023, potentially dilutive securities excluded from the diluted loss per share calculation are as follows:

July 31, July 31, January 31, January 31,

     2023      2022      2023      2022

Outstanding options to purchase common stock 18,291 20,231 18,291 20,231

Unvested Restricted Stock Units 7,280,952 3,573,354 9,397,055 7,102,089

5% Series B Cumulative Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock 37,837 37,837 37,837 37,837

Total potentially dilutive securities 7,337,080 3,631,422 9,453,183 7,160,157

Note 14. Restricted Cash

As of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023, there was $32.7 million $51.3 million and $23.0 million $49.6

million, respectively, of restricted cash and cash equivalents pledged as performance security, reserved for future debt service requirements,

and reserved for
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letters of credit for certain banking requirements and contracts. The allocation of restricted cash is as follows (in thousands):
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July 31, October 31, January 31, October 31,

     2023      2022      2024      2023

Cash Restricted for Outstanding Letters of Credit (1) $ 7,281 $ 4,993 $ 14,152 $ 14,152

Cash Restricted for PNC Sale-Leaseback Transactions (2) - 5,010

Cash Restricted for Crestmark Sale-Leaseback Transactions (3) 2,899 2,894

Bridgeport Fuel Cell Park Project Debt Service and Performance Reserves (4) - 8,746

Debt Service and Performance Reserves related to OpCo Financing Facility(5) 20,015 -

Cash Restricted for Crestmark Sale-Leaseback Transactions 2,903 2,901

Debt Service and Performance Reserves related to OpCo Financing Facility 21,631 19,698

Debt Service and Performance Reserves related to the Senior and Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facilities 8,959 9,294

Other 2,548 1,346 3,688 3,579

Total Restricted Cash 32,743 22,989 51,333 49,624

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents – Short-Term (6) (6,078) (4,423)

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents – Short-Term (2) (5,957) (5,159)

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents – Long-Term $26,665 $ 18,566 $ 45,376 $ 44,465
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(1) Letters of credit outstanding as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 expire on various dates through December 2028. The increase from
October 31, 2022 represents a letter of credit entered into for a project asset-specific gas contract. October 2029.

(2) Long and short-term reserve that was to be used primarily to fund future module exchanges for operating projects falling under sale-
leaseback transactions with PNC Energy Capital, LLC (“PNC”) (which transactions were terminated in May 2023).

(3) Long and short-term reserve that is to be used primarily to fund future module exchanges and other performance obligations under
Crestmark sale-leaseback transactions.  

(4) Long and short-term reserves for the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Park Project that were to be used to fund future module exchanges and other
performance requirements, which were released during the third quarter of fiscal year 2023.

(5) Long and short-term reserves for a capital reserve account required to be maintained under the OpCo Financing Facility.
(6) Short-term restricted cash and cash equivalents are amounts expected to be released and classified as unrestricted cash within

twelve months of the balance sheet date.

Note 15. Debt

Debt as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023 consisted of the following (in thousands):

July 31, October 31, January 31, October 31,

     2023      2022      2024      2023

Connecticut Green Bank Loan $ 3,000 $ 4,800

Connecticut Green Bank Loan (Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project) — 3,507

Liberty Bank Term Loan Agreement (Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project) — 5,382

Fifth Third Bank Term Loan Agreement (Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project) — 5,382

Connecticut Green Bank Loan (Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility) $ 8,000 $ 8,000

Liberty Bank Term Loan Agreement (Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility) 5,769 5,876

Amalgamated Bank Loan (Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility) 5,763 5,873

Finance obligation for sale-leaseback transactions 18,810 56,625 18,818 18,814

State of Connecticut Loan 7,126 7,774 6,689 6,908

Finance lease obligations 24 57 — 12

OpCo Financing Facility 79,307 — 75,731 77,510

Deferred finance costs (3,257) (1,152) (3,351) (3,526)

Total debt and finance obligations 105,010 82,375 117,419 119,467
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Current portion of long-term debt and finance obligations (9,763) (13,198) (10,198) (10,067)

Long-term debt and finance obligations $ 95,247 $ 69,177 $107,221 $109,400

During the third quarter of fiscal year 2023, the Company entered into OpCo Financing Facility Interest Rate Swap – Fair Value Adjustment

The Company’s interest rate swap related to the OpCo Financing Facility (described below), (as defined elsewhere herein) is recorded at its fair

value each reporting period, with the proceeds resulting gains/losses recorded to other income/expense. The interest rate swap is a Level 2

asset/liability since the value can be determined based on the observed values for underlying interest rates. The fair value adjustment for the

three months ended January 31, 2024 resulted in a loss of $3.5 million as a result of a decrease of approximately 100 basis points in the

Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”). The Company has recorded a derivative liability within long-term debt and other liabilities on the

Consolidated Balance Sheets, which were used, in part, to pay off (i) approximately $1.8 million had an estimated fair value of the Company’s

long-term indebtedness to Connecticut Green Bank (the “Connecticut Green Bank Loan”), $0.2 million as of January 31, 2024 and (ii) all of the

outstanding senior and subordinated indebtedness of the Company and/or its subsidiaries to Liberty Bank, Fifth Third Bank and Connecticut

Green Bank related to recorded a derivative asset within other assets on the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project. In addition, following the

end Consolidated Balance Sheets, which had an estimated fair value of the third quarter, the Company entered into new financing facilities for

the Groton Project, a portion $3.3 million as of the proceeds of which were used to repay, in full, all of the Company’s remaining indebtedness

under the Connecticut Green Bank Loan. See Note 18. “Subsequent Events” for additional information. October 31, 2023.

OpCo Financing Facility

On May 19, 2023, FuelCell Energy Opco Finance 1, LLC (“OpCo Borrower”), a wholly owned subsidiary of FuelCell Energy Finance, LLC

(“FCEF”), which, in turn, is a wholly owned subsidiary of FuelCell Energy, Inc. (“Parent”), entered into a Financing Agreement (the “Financing

Agreement”) with, by and among Investec Bank plc in its capacities as a lender (“Investec Lender”), administrative agent (“Administrative

Agent”), and collateral agent (“Collateral Agent”); Investec, Inc. as coordinating lead arranger and sole bookrunner; Bank of Montreal (Chicago

Branch) in its capacity as a lender (“BMO Lender”) and as mandated lead arranger; and each of Liberty Bank, Amalgamated Bank and

Connecticut Green Bank as lenders (collectively with Investec Lender and BMO Lender, the “Lenders”) for a term loan facility in an amount not

to exceed $80.5 million (the “Term Loan Facility” and such term loan, the “Term Loan”) and a letter of credit facility in an amount not to exceed

$6.5 million (the “LC Facility” and together with the Term Loan Facility, the “OpCo Financing Facility”).

OpCo Borrower’s obligations under the Financing Agreement are secured by Parent’s interest in six operating fuel cell generation projects:

(i) the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project, located in Bridgeport, Connecticut; (ii) the Central CT State
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University Project, located in New Britain, Connecticut; (iii)  the Pfizer Project, located in Groton, Connecticut; (iv)  the LIPA Yaphank Project,

located in Long Island, New York; (v) the Riverside Regional Water Quality Control Plant Project, located in Riverside, California; and (vi) the

Santa Rita Jail Project, located in Alameda County, California (each, a “Project” and collectively, the “Projects”).

Immediately prior to the closing on the OpCo Financing Facility, which closing occurred on May 19, 2023, Parent caused to be transferred to

OpCo Borrower all of the outstanding equity interests in: (i) Bridgeport Fuel Cell, LLC (the “Bridgeport Project Company”), the entity that owns

the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project; (ii) New Britain Renewable Energy, LLC (the “CCSU Project Company”), the entity that owns the Central CT

State University Project; (iii) Groton Fuel Cell 1, LLC (the “Pfizer Project Company”), the entity that owns the Pfizer Project; (iv) Riverside Fuel

Cell, LLC (the “Riverside Project Company”), the entity that owns the Riverside Regional Water Quality Control Plant Project; (v) SRJFC, LLC

(the “Santa Rita Project Company”), the entity that owns the Santa Rita Jail Project; and (vi) Fuel Cell YT Holdco, LLC (the “Class B Member”),

the entity that owns Parent’s Class  B membership interest in YTBFC Holdco, LLC (the “Yaphank Tax Equity Partnership”), the tax equity

partnership with Renewable Energy Investors, LLC (the “Class A Member”), as tax equity investor, which Yaphank Tax Equity Partnership, in

turn, owns Yaphank Fuel Cell Park, LLC (the “Yaphank Project Company”), the entity that owns the LIPA Yaphank Project.

At the time of closing on the OpCo Financing Facility: (i)  the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project was encumbered by senior and subordinated

indebtedness to Liberty Bank, Fifth Third Bank and Connecticut Green Bank in the aggregate amount of approximately $11.4 million; and

(ii)  the Pfizer Project, the Riverside Regional Water Quality Control Plant Project and the Santa Rita Jail Project were subject to sale and
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leaseback transactions and agreements with PNC Energy Capital, LLC (“PNC”) in which the lease buyout amounts, including sales taxes, were

approximately $15.7 million, $3.7 million and $2.8 million, respectively. In connection with closing on the OpCo Financing Facility, all of the

foregoing indebtedness and lease buyout amounts were repaid and extinguished with proceeds of the Term Loan and funds of approximately

$7.3 million that were released from restricted and unrestricted reserve accounts held at PNC at the time of closing, resulting in the applicable

project companies re-acquiring ownership of the three leased projects from PNC, the termination of the agreements with PNC related to the

sale-leaseback transactions, and the termination of the senior and subordinated credit agreements with, the related promissory notes issued

to, and the related pledge and security agreements with, Liberty Bank, Fifth Third Bank and Connecticut Green Bank related to the Bridgeport

Fuel Cell Project. Further, in connection with the closing on the OpCo Financing Facility and the termination of the senior and subordinated

credit agreements with Liberty Bank, Fifth Third Bank and Connecticut Green Bank related to the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project, Fifth Third Bank

and the Bridgeport Project Company agreed that the obligations arising out of the swap transactions contemplated by their related interest rate

swap agreement were terminated and waived and the swap agreement was effectively terminated. In addition, in connection with closing on

the OpCo Financing Facility, proceeds of the Term Loan were used to repay a portion of Parent’s long-term indebtedness to Connecticut Green

Bank in the amount of approximately $1.8 million.

At the closing, $80.5 million, the entire amount of the Term Loan portion of the OpCo Financing Facility, was drawn down. After payment of fees

and transaction costs (including fees to the Lenders and legal costs) of approximately $2.9 million in the aggregate, the remaining proceeds of

approximately $77.6 million were used as follows: (i)  approximately $15.0 million was used (in addition to the approximately $7.3 million

released from restricted and unrestricted reserve accounts held at PNC) to pay the lease buyout amounts and sales taxes referred to above

and to re-acquire the three projects owned by PNC as referred to above; (ii)  approximately $11.4 million was used to extinguish the

indebtedness to Liberty Bank, Fifth Third Bank, and Connecticut Green Bank relating to the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project; (iii) approximately

$1.8 million was used to repay a portion of Parent’s long-term indebtedness to Connecticut Green Bank; (iv) $14.5 million was used to fund a

capital expenditure reserve account required to be maintained pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Financing Agreement (which is

classified as restricted cash on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets); and (v) approximately $34.9 million was distributed to Parent for

use as Parent determines in its sole discretion. In addition, in connection with the extinguishment of the Company’s indebtedness to Liberty

Bank and Fifth Third Bank referred to above, approximately $11.2 million of restricted cash was released to the Company from Liberty Bank

and Fifth Third Bank. Taking into consideration the release of such funds, the total net proceeds to the Company from these transactions were

approximately $46.1 million (which is classified as unrestricted cash on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets).

The Term Loan portion of the OpCo Financing Facility will accrue interest on the unpaid principal amount calculated from the date of such Term

Loan until the maturity date thereof at a rate per annum during each Interest Period (as defined in the Financing Agreement) for such Term

Loan equal to (A) with respect to SOFR Rate Loans, (i) the Adjusted Daily Compounded SOFR for such Interest Period with respect to SOFR

Rate Loans plus (ii) the Applicable Margin, and
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(B) with respect to Base Rate Loans, (i) the Base Rate from time to time in effect plus (ii) the Applicable Margin (in each case as defined in the

Financing Agreement). The Applicable Margin for SOFR Rate Loans is 2.5% for the first four years of the term and thereafter, 3%. The

Applicable Margin for Base Rate Loans is 1.5% for the first four years of the term and thereafter, 2%. At the closing, in connection with the

draw down of the entire amount of the Term Loan, OpCo Borrower elected to make such draw down a SOFR Rate Loan with an initial Interest

Period of three months. After the initial Interest Period of three months, OpCo Borrower may elect both the applicable Interest Period (i.e., one

month, three months or six months) and whether the Term Loan will be treated as a SOFR Rate Loan or a Base Rate Loan for such Interest

Period. Interest payments are required to be made quarterly.

Quarterly principal amortization obligations are also required to be made (based on 17-year principal amortization designed to be fully repaid in

2039), with quarterly amortization payments based on a 1.30x debt service coverage ratio sizing based on contracted cash flows (before giving

effect to module replacement expenses and module replacement drawdown releases). The Term Loan has a seven-year term, maturing on

May 19, 2030.

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Financing Agreement, OpCo Borrower is required to maintain a capital expenditures reserve to pay

for expected module replacements. The total reserve balance is required to reach $29.0 million, $14.5 million of which was funded out of the

closing advance of the Term Loan and the remainder of which is to be funded pursuant to an agreed upon funding schedule through cash flows

generated by the Projects set forth in the Financing Agreement for the period of June 30, 2023 through December 31, 2029.
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Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Financing Agreement, OpCo Borrower is required to maintain a debt service reserve of not less

than six months of the scheduled principal and interest payments. The letter of credit component of the OpCo Financing Facility is for the

purpose of obtaining letters of credit to satisfy such obligation; at the closing, an Irrevocable Letter of Credit was issued by Investec Bank plc

as the issuing bank in favor of the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Lenders in the amount of $6.5 million to satisfy the debt service

reserve funding obligation.

Pursuant to the Financing Agreement, within 30 days of the financial close of the Financing Agreement, OpCo Borrower was required to enter

into one or more hedge transactions, with a Lender or an affiliate thereof pursuant to one or more interest rate agreements, to hedge OpCo

Borrower’s interest rate exposure relating to the Term Loan from floating to fixed. Such hedge transactions are required to be in effect at all

times during the entire amortization period and have an aggregate notional amount subject to the hedge transactions at any time equal to at

least 75% and no more than 105% of the aggregate principal balance of the Term Loan outstanding (taking into account scheduled

amortization of the Term Loan).

Upon closing, on May 19, 2023, OpCo Borrower entered into an ISDA 2002 Master Agreement (the “Investec Master Agreement”) and an ISDA

Schedule to the 2002 Master Agreement (the “Investec Schedule”) with Investec Bank plc as a hedge provider, and an ISDA 2002 Master

Agreement (the “BMO Master Agreement”) and an ISDA Schedule to the 2002 Master Agreement (the “BMO Schedule”) with Bank of Montreal

(Chicago Branch) as a hedge provider. On May 22, 2023, OpCo Borrower executed the related trade confirmations for these interest rate swap

agreements with these hedge providers to protect against adverse price movements in the floating SOFR rate associated with 100% of the

aggregate principal balance of the Term Loan outstanding. Pursuant to the terms of such agreements, OpCo Borrower will pay a fixed rate of

interest of 3.716%. The net interest rate across the Financing Agreement and the swap transaction is 6.366% in the first four years and 6.866%

thereafter. The obligations of OpCo Borrower to the hedge providers under the interest rate swap agreements are treated as obligations under

the Financing Agreement and, accordingly, are secured, on a pari passu basis, by the same collateral securing the obligations of OpCo

Borrower under the Financing Agreement, which collateral is described below. The Company has not elected hedge accounting treatment and,

as a result, the derivative will be remeasured to fair value quarterly, with the resulting gains/losses recorded to other income/expense. The fair

value adjustments for the three and nine months ended July 31, 2023 resulted in a gain of $0.5 million.

The Financing Agreement contains certain reporting requirements and other affirmative and negative covenants which are customary for

transactions of this type. Included in the covenants are covenants that: (i) the Yaphank Project Company obtain ongoing three year extensions

of its current gas agreement; (ii)  any annual operating expense budget that exceeds 115% of the Base Case Model (as defined in the

Financing Agreement) for that year be approved by the Required Lenders (i.e., Lenders constituting more than 50% of the amounts loaned);

(iii) OpCo Borrower maintain a debt service coverage ratio of not less than 1.20:1.00 (based on the trailing 12 months and tested every six

months); and (iv) the Class B Member is required to exercise its option to purchase the Class A Member’s interest in the Yaphank Tax Equity

Partnership during the six month period following the “Flip Point” as set forth in the limited liability company agreement for the Yaphank Tax

Equity Partnership. The Financing Agreement also contains customary representations and warranties and customary
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events of default that cause, or entitle the Lenders to cause, the outstanding loans under the Financing Agreement to become immediately due

and payable.

The Term Loan may be prepaid at any time at the option of OpCo Borrower without premium or penalty other than any “liquidation costs” if

such prepayment occurs other than at the end of an Interest Period. In addition, there are certain mandatory repayments required under the

Financing Agreement, including in connection with any sale or disposition of all of the Projects or of any of the LIPA Yaphank Project, the

Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project or the Pfizer Project. If the Company disposes of any of the Riverside Regional Water Quality Control Plant

Project, the Santa Rita Jail Project or the Central CT State University Project, OpCo Borrower is required to prepay an amount of the Term

Loan based on the then stipulated value of the disposed Project.

Simultaneously with OpCo Borrower entering into the Financing Agreement, FCEF (as pledgor), OpCo Borrower and each of the Bridgeport

Project Company, the Pfizer Project Company, the Riverside Project Company, the Santa Rita Project Company, the CCSU Project Company

and the Class  B Member, each as a subsidiary grantor party and guarantor, entered into an Omnibus Guarantee, Pledge and Security

Agreement (the “Security Agreement”) with Investec Bank plc as Collateral Agent, pursuant to which, as collateral for the Term Loan Facility,
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the LC Facility and the hedge agreements (i) FCEF granted to Collateral Agent a security interest in all of FCEF’s equity interest in OpCo

Borrower; (ii) OpCo Borrower granted to Collateral Agent a security interest in all of OpCo Borrower’s assets consisting of its equity interests in

the Bridgeport Project Company, the Pfizer Project Company, the Riverside Project Company, the Santa Rita Project Company, the CCSU

Project Company and the Class B Member; (iii) each of the Bridgeport Project Company, the Pfizer Project Company, the Riverside Project

Company, the Santa Rita Project Company and the CCSU Project Company granted to Collateral Agent a security interest in all of each such

entity’s assets consisting principally of the respective generation facilities and project agreements; and (iv)  the Class B Member granted to

Collateral Agent a security interest in all of such Class B Member’s assets, consisting principally of its equity interest in the Yaphank Tax Equity

Partnership. Pursuant to the Security Agreement, each of the subsidiary grantor parties jointly and severally guaranteed payment of all of the

obligations secured by the Security Agreement.

Simultaneously with the execution of the Financing Agreement, OpCo Borrower,  Investec Bank plc as Collateral Agent and Administrative

Agent and Liberty Bank as Depositary Agent entered into a Depositary Agreement (the “Depositary Agreement”) pursuant to which OpCo

Borrower established certain accounts at Liberty Bank, all of which were pledged to Collateral Agent as security for the Term Loan Facility, the

LC Facility and the hedge agreements, including a Revenue Account; a Debt Service Reserve Account; a Redemption Account (for

prepayments); a Capital Expenditure Reserve Account; and a Distribution Reserve Account (in each case as defined in the Depositary

Agreement). Pursuant to the terms of the Financing Agreement and the Depositary Agreement, OpCo Borrower may make quarterly

distributions to FCEF and Parent provided that: (i) no Event of Default or Default (in each case as defined in the Financing Agreement) exists

under the OpCo Financing Facility; (ii) all reserve accounts have been funded; (iii) no letter of credit loans or unpaid drawings are outstanding

with regard to any drawn down letter of credit under the LC Facility; (iv) OpCo Borrower has maintained a greater than 1.20:1.00 debt service

coverage ratio for the immediate 12 month period; and (v)  no Cash Diversion Event (i.e., certain events that would adversely impact

distributions to the Class B Member in connection with the LIPA Yaphank Project, as further defined in the Financing Agreement) has occurred.

Beginning with the quarter ending June 2025 and continuing until the quarter ending March 2026, prior to making contributions to the Debt

Service Reserve Account or the Capital Expenditure Reserve Account or having funds available for distribution, out of operating cash flow,

OpCo Borrower is required to make a quarterly payment to the Administrative Agent (on behalf of the Lenders) in the amount of $675,000 per

quarter to be applied to outstanding principal.

See Note 18. “Subsequent Events” for additional information regarding the repayment, in full, of the Connecticut Green Bank Loan as well as

new financing facilities entered into for the Groton Project.

Third Amendment to Assistance Agreement with the State of Connecticut

In April 2023, the Company signed a Third Amendment (the “Third Amendment”) to the Assistance Agreement with the State of Connecticut

(which Assistance Agreement was originally entered into in November 2015 and previously amended in April 2017 and January 2019).  The

Third Amendment was approved by the State of Connecticut Office of Attorney General on May 18, 2023, and the State of Connecticut Office

of Attorney General released, and the Company received, the countersigned Third Amendment on May 24, 2023, at which time the Third

Amendment became effective. The Third Amendment further extends the Target Date (as defined elsewhere herein) to October 31, 2024 and

updates the Employment Obligation (as defined elsewhere herein) to require the Company to retain 538 full-time positions in
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Connecticut on or before October 31, 2024 and to maintain such positions for 24 consecutive months. The 24 consecutive month period ending

on or before the Target Date (as extended by the Third Amendment) that yields the highest annual average positions will be used to determine

compliance with the updated Employment Obligation, provided that no portion of such 24 consecutive months may begin before the date of the

Third Amendment. The Third Amendment also requires the Company to furnish a job audit (the “Job Audit”) to the Commissioner of Economic

and Community Development (the “Commissioner”) no later than 90 days following the 24-month period described above.  

If, as a result of the Job Audit, the Commissioner determines that the Company has failed to meet the updated Employment Obligation, the

Company will be required to immediately repay a penalty of $14,225.00 per each full-time employment position below the updated Employment

Obligation. The amount repaid will be applied first to any outstanding fees, penalties or interest due, and then against the outstanding balance

of the loan.
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If, as a result of the Job Audit, the Commissioner determines that the Company has met the updated Employment Obligation and has created

an additional 91 full-time employment positions, for a total of 629 full-time employees, the Company may receive a credit in the amount of $2.0

million, which will be applied against the then-outstanding principal balance of the loan. Upon application of such credit, the Commissioner will

recalculate the monthly payments of principal and interest such that such monthly payments shall amortize the then remaining principal

balance over the remaining term of loan.

Note 16. Benefit Plans

We have stockholder approved equity incentive plans, a stockholder approved employee stock purchase plan and an employee tax-deferred

savings plan which are described in more detail below.

Third Amended and Restated 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan

At the Company’s 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which was called to order and adjourned on April 6, 2023 and April 27, 2023 and was

reconvened and concluded on May 22, 2023 (the “Annual Meeting”), the Company’s stockholders approved the amendment and restatement

of the FuelCell Energy, Inc. Second Amended and Restated 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan (as so amended and restated, the “Third Amended

and Restated Incentive Plan”), which had previously been approved by the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”), subject to stockholder

approval.

The purpose of the amendment and restatement of the Second Amended and Restated 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan was to authorize the

Company to issue up to 6,000,000 additional shares of the Company’s common stock pursuant to awards under the Third Amended and

Restated Incentive Plan.

Following the approval of the amendment and restatement (and therefore the Third Amended and Restated Incentive Plan) by the Company’s

stockholders at the Annual Meeting, the Third Amended and Restated Incentive Plan provides the Company with the authority to issue a total

of 18,333,333 shares of the Company’s common stock. The Third Amended and Restated Incentive Plan authorizes grants of stock options,

stock appreciation rights (“SARs”), restricted stock awards (“RSAs”), restricted stock units (“RSUs”), shares, performance shares, performance

units, incentive awards and dividend equivalent units to officers, other employees, directors, consultants and advisors.  Up to 1,833,333 shares

of the Company’s common stock may be issued pursuant to the exercise of incentive stock options. Stock options, RSAs, RSUs and SARs

have restrictions as to transferability. Stock option exercise prices are fixed by the Board but shall not be less than the fair market value of our

common stock on the date of the grant. SARs may be granted in conjunction with stock options. The Board or the administrator of the Third

Amended and Restated Incentive Plan may terminate the Third Amended and Restated Incentive Plan at any time.  No award may be granted

under the Third Amended and Restated Plan after the tenth anniversary of the approval of the Third Amended and Restated Plan by

stockholders at the Annual Meeting.

Of the 18,333,333 shares of the Company’s common stock authorized to be issued under the Third Amended and Restated Incentive Plan as

of July 31, 2023, 9,210,981 remained available for grant as of July 31, 2023. Of the shares remaining available for grant, the Company had

reserved, for potential future grant, up to 2,019,723 performance stock units if maximum performance is achieved.

Amended and Restated 2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

At the Annual Meeting, the Company’s stockholders approved the amendment and restatement of the FuelCell Energy, Inc. 2018 Employee

Stock Purchase Plan (as so amended and restated, the “Amended and Restated ESPP”), which had previously been approved by the Board,

subject to stockholder approval.
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The purpose of the amendment and restatement of the 2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan was to authorize the Company to issue up to

500,000 additional shares of the Company’s common stock under the Amended and Restated ESPP.

Following the approval of the amendment and restatement (and therefore the Amended and Restated ESPP) by the Company’s stockholders

at the Annual Meeting, the Amended and Restated ESPP provides the Company with the authority to issue a total of 541,667 shares of the
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Company’s common stock.  The Amended and Restated ESPP also increases the limit on the number of shares of the Company’s common

stock that any individual participant may purchase during an offering period to 1,000 shares.

The Amended and Restated ESPP, which is intended to satisfy the requirements of Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as

amended, allows the Company to provide eligible employees of the Company and of certain designated subsidiaries with the opportunity to

voluntarily participate in the Amended and Restated ESPP, enabling such participants to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at

a discount to market price at the time of such purchase.  The Board may, in its sole discretion, terminate the Amended and Restated ESPP at

any time.  If the Board does not earlier terminate the Amended and Restated ESPP, the Amended and Restated ESPP will terminate on the

date on which all shares of common stock available for issuance have been sold pursuant to purchase rights exercised under the Amended

and Restated ESPP.

Long-Term Incentive Plans

The Board periodically approves Long-Term Incentive Plans which include performance-based awards tied to the Company’s common stock

price as well as time-vesting awards. None of the awards granted as part of Long-Term Incentive Plans include any dividend equivalent or

other stockholder rights. To the extent the awards are earned, they may be settled in shares or cash of an equivalent value at the Company’s

option.

Long-Term Incentive Plan Awards for Fiscal Year 2023 Long-Term Incentive Plan: 2024:

On December 5, 2022 December 11, 2023, the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) approved a certain awards to be made under the 

Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan for fiscal year 2023 2024 (the “FY 2023 “LTI Plan”). The LTI Plan”) Plan is as a sub-plan consisting of 

awards made under the Company’s 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan.  The participants in the FY 2023 LTI Plan are members of senior 

management. The FY 2023 awards under the LTI Plan consists consist of two award components:

1) Relative Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) Performance Share Units (“PSU”). The PSUs granted during the nine three months ended
July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 will be earned over the performance period ending on October 31, 2025 October 31, 2026, but will
remain subject to a continued service-based vesting requirement until the third anniversary of the date of grant.  The performance
measure for the relative TSR PSUs is the TSR of the Company relative to the TSR of the Russell 2000 from November 1,
2022 October 31, 2023 through October 31, 2025 October 31, 2026. The Compensation Committee established the performance
assessment criteria for the relative TSR PSUs as the TSR of the Company relative to the TSR of the Russell 2000, with the award
calibration being 100% plus or minus 0.5x the difference between the Company’s TSR and the Russell 2000 Index composite TSR.
 The award is capped at 200% of the target number of PSUs, and the award is further capped at 100% of the target number of PSUs if
the Company’s absolute TSR over the performance period is negative.   The Company’s TSR is calculated by subtracting the
Company’s beginning stock price (defined as the average closing price of the Company’s common stock over the 60 20 consecutive
trading days ending on October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023) from the ending stock price (defined as the average closing price of the
Company’s common stock over the 60 20 consecutive trading days ending on October 31, 2025 October 31, 2026), adding any
dividends during the period, and then dividing the result by the Company’s beginning stock price. Given that the performance period is
still open, the Company has reserved shares equal to 200% of the target number of PSUs, subject to performance during the
remaining performance period as well as vesting based on continued service until December 5, 2025 December 11, 2026 (the third
anniversary of the grant date).

2) Time-vesting RSUs. Restricted Stock Units (“RSU”).   The time-vesting RSUs granted during the nine three months ended July 31,
2023 January 31, 2024 will vest at a rate of one-third of the total number of RSUs on each of the first three anniversaries of the date of
grant. 

On December 11, 2023, 6,548,760 RSUs were awarded to senior management under the LTI Plan, which included 3,274,384 PSUs (all of

which are contingent) and 3,274,376 time-based vesting RSUs. The 3,274,384 PSUs granted during the three months ended January 31, 2024

are contingent upon Other Equity approval by the Company’s stockholders at the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Annual Meeting”)

of the authorization of sufficient additional shares of common stock under the Company’s 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plans

The Plan to accommodate all of the shares of the Company’s 2006 and 2010 Equity Incentive Plans remain in effect only common stock

potentially issuable pursuant to the extent contingent awards granted in December 2023. If such stockholder approval is not obtained at the

Annual Meeting, the awards will be immediately canceled without consideration therefor.

In addition to the awards granted to senior management, during the three months ended January 31, 2024, the Board also granted a total of

awards outstanding 5,597,389 time-based vesting RSUs to certain salaried employees to promote ownership of the Company’s equity and

retention. Of the time-based vesting RSUs granted during the three months ended January 31, 2024, 3,978,496 are contingent upon approval

by the Company’s stockholders at the Annual Meeting of the authorization of sufficient additional shares of common stock under the plans

as Company’s 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan to accommodate all of July 31, 2023 the shares of the Company’s common stock potentially

issuable pursuant to the contingent awards granted in December 2023. If such stockholder approval is not obtained at the Annual Meeting, the

awards will be immediately canceled without consideration therefor. The time-based vesting RSUs granted during the three months ended

January 31, 2024 vest at a rate of one-third of the total number of RSUs granted on each of the first three anniversaries of the date of
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grant. PSUs are issued assuming participants achieve 100% target performance. The Company also reserves additional shares assuming the

maximum performance targets are met.

26 16

Table of Contents

Share-Based Compensation

Share-based compensation was reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended July 31, Nine Months Ended July 31,

Three Months

Ended January 31,

     2023      2022 2023      2022      2024      2023

Cost of revenues $ 389 $ 175 $ 1,137 $ 512 $ 398 $ 331

Administrative and selling expense 2,285 1,598 6,546 4,126 2,047 1,942

Research and development expense 375 135 1,034 319 361 291

$ 3,049 $ 1,908 $ 8,717 $ 4,957 $2,806 $2,564

Restricted Stock Units Including Performance Share Units

The following table summarizes our RSU activity for the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024:

Restricted Stock Units      Shares     

Weighted-Average Fair

Value

Outstanding as of October 31, 2022 2,520,881 $ 7.93

Granted - PSUs 1,124,953 5.50

Granted - time-vesting RSUs 3,781,370 3.41

Vested (261,059) 7.03

Forfeited (64,056) 7.55

Outstanding as of January 31, 2023 7,102,089 $ 5.18

Granted - time-vesting RSUs 64,550 3.29

Vested (84,669) 5.96

Forfeited (42,000) 3.65

Outstanding as of April 30, 2023 7,039,970 $ 5.16

Granted - time-vesting RSUs 400,197 2.36

Vested (22,732) 4.11

Forfeited (136,483) 4.75

Outstanding as of July 31, 2023 7,280,952 $ 5.03

On December 5, 2022, 2,249,890 RSUs were awarded to senior management under the FY 2023 LTI Plan, which included 1,124,953 PSUs

and 1,124,937 time-based vesting RSUs. The PSUs were valued based on a Monte-Carlo Simulation, and the estimated fair value of the

relative TSR PSUs was $5.50 per share. The PSUs and time-based vesting RSUs are expensed over the three-year service period.

In addition to the awards granted to senior management, during the nine months ended July 31, 2023, the Board also granted a total of

3,121,180 time-based vesting RSUs to certain salaried employees to promote ownership of the Company’s equity and retention. The time-

based vesting RSUs granted during the nine months ended July 31, 2023 vest at a rate of one-third of the total number of RSUs granted on

each of the first three anniversaries of the date of grant. 

PSUs are issued assuming participants achieve 100% target performance. The Company also reserves additional shares assuming the

maximum performance targets are met.
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Restricted Stock Units      Shares     

Weighted-Average Fair

Value

Outstanding as of October 31, 2023 6,543,138 $ 5.06

Granted - time-vesting RSUs(1) 4,893,269 1.32

Vested (1,990,154) 7.22

Forfeited (49,198) 3.51

Outstanding as of January 31, 2024 9,397,055 $ 2.67

(1) This total includes only time-vesting RSUs and does not include the contingent RSUs or contingent PSUs discussed above in this note.

Note 17. Commitments and Contingencies

Service Agreements

Under the provisions of its service agreements, the Company provides services to maintain, monitor, and repair customer power plants to meet

minimum operating levels. Under the terms of such service agreements, the particular power plant must meet a minimum operating output

during defined periods of the term. If minimum output falls below the contract requirement, the Company may be subject to performance

penalties and/or may be required to repair or replace the customer’s fuel cell module(s).
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Power Purchase Agreements

Under the terms of the Company’s PPAs, customers agree to purchase power or other values streams delivered such as hydrogen, steam,

water, and/or carbon from the Company’s fuel cell power platforms plants at negotiated rates. Electricity rates are generally a function of the

customers’ current and estimated future electricity pricing available from the grid. As owner or lessee of the power platforms, plants, the

Company is responsible for all operating costs necessary to maintain, monitor and repair the power platforms. plants. Under certain

agreements, the Company is also responsible for procuring fuel, generally natural gas or biogas, to run the power platforms. plants. In addition,

under the terms of some of the PPAs, the Company may be subject to a performance penalty if the Company does not meet certain

performance requirements.

Project Fuel Exposure

Certain of our PPAs for project assets in our generation operating portfolio and project assets under construction expose us to fluctuating fuel

price risks as well as the risk of being unable to procure the required amounts of fuel and the lack of alternative available fuel sources. We seek

to mitigate our fuel risk using strategies including: (i) fuel cost reimbursement mechanisms in our PPAs to allow for pass through of fuel costs

(full or partial) where possible, which we have done with our 14.9 MW operating project in Bridgeport, CT; (ii) procuring fuel under fixed price

physical supply contracts with investment grade counterparties, which we have done for twenty years for our Tulare BioMAT project, the initial

seven years of the eighteen year PPA for our LIPA Yaphank Project the initial two (through September 2028), six years of the twenty year PPA

for our 14.0 MW and 2.8 MW Derby project projects (through October 2029), and the initial two years of the twenty year hydrogen power

purchase agreement for our Toyota project; project (through May of 2025); and (iii) potentially entering into future financial hedges with

investment grade counterparties to offset potential negative market fluctuations. The Company does not take
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a fundamental view on natural gas or other commodity pricing and seeks commercially available means to reduce commodity exposure.

exposure. ​

There are currently three projects in development with fuel sourcing risk, which are the Toyota project, which requires procurement of RNG,

and our Derby, CT 14.0 MW and 2.8 MW projects, both of which require natural gas for which there is no pass-through mechanism. Two-year

fuel supply contracts have been executed for the Toyota project and the 14.0 MW project in Derby, CT. The Company will look to extend the

duration of these contracts should market and credit conditions allow. Fuel sourcing and risk mitigation strategies for the 2.8 MW project in

Derby, CT are being assessed and will be implemented as project operational dates become firm. Such strategies may require cash collateral

or reserves to secure fuel or related contracts. If the Company is unable to secure fuel on favorable economic terms, it may result in

impairment charges to the Derby project assets and further charges for the Toyota project asset. charges.

While The Company net settled certain natural gas purchases under a previous normal purchase normal sale contract designation during the

fourth quarter of fiscal year 2023 which resulted in a change to mark-to-market accounting. The Company is pursuing alternative sources of

RNG for recorded a $1.9 million loss associated with the Toyota project, charges are being recorded to cost of generation revenues for any

project expenditures currently expected to be unrecoverable. To date, $42.7 million in charges have been recorded, which includes $6.2 million

and $6.9 million in charges natural gas contract derivative for the three months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $17.8 million

and $14.0 million in charges for January 31, 2024. The Company has recorded the nine months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

As of July 31, 2023, the carrying value of the Toyota project derivative asset within other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet totaled

$22.3 million Sheets, which represents the carrying had an estimated fair value of inventory components that could be redeployed for

alternative use.

Since the war in Ukraine began in February $2.3 million and $4.1 million as of 2022, there has been significant volatility in the global January

31, 2024 and October 31, 2023, respectively. The natural gas markets. As contract derivative is classified as a result, in fiscal year 2022, Level

2 financial asset since the Company performed a recoverability analysis with respect to the Derby 14.0 MW and 2.8 MW projects and

concluded that the assets are recoverable and therefore an impairment had not occurred. Should values can be determined based on readily

observable inputs for underlying natural gas prices continue to rise, there could be an impairment in future periods. No triggering events

occurred during the first nine months of fiscal year 2023.  The Company has risk mitigation strategies that it may implement in an effort to

mitigate potential impacts including the ability to extend commercial operations dates. As of July 31, 2023, the carrying value of the 14.0 MW

project in Derby, CT totaled $52.9 million and the carrying value of the 2.8 MW project in Derby, CT totaled $2.3 million.   forward prices.

Other

As of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, the Company had unconditional purchase commitments aggregating $86.9 million $95.4 million for

materials, supplies and services in the normal course of business.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, the Company is involved in legal proceedings, including, but not limited to, regulatory proceedings, claims, mediations,

arbitrations and litigation, arising out of the ordinary course of its business (“Legal Proceedings”).
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Although the Company cannot assure the outcome of such Legal Proceedings, management presently believes that the result of such Legal

Proceedings, either individually, or in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial

statements, and no material amounts have been accrued in the Company’s consolidated financial statements with respect to these matters.

Note 18. Subsequent Events

On August 18, 2023, FuelCell Energy Finance Holdco, LLC (“Holdco Borrower”), a wholly owned subsidiary of FCEF, which, in turn, is a wholly

owned subsidiary of Parent, entered into: (i) a Credit Agreement (the “Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreement”) with, by and among Liberty
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Bank, in its capacities as a lender (“Liberty Lender”), administrative agent (the “Senior Administrative Agent”), and lead arranger, and

Amalgamated Bank, in its capacity as a lender (“Amalgamated Lender” and, collectively with Liberty Lender, the “Senior Back Leverage

Lenders”), for a term loan facility in an amount not to exceed an aggregate of $12.0 million to be provided 50% by Liberty Lender and 50% by

Amalgamated Lender (such facility, the “Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility,” each such term loan, a “Senior Back Leverage Loan” and such

term loans together, the “Senior Back Leverage Loans”); and (ii) a Credit Agreement (the “Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreement”)

with Connecticut Green Bank, as administrative agent (the “Subordinated Administrative Agent”) and lender (“Subordinated Back Leverage

Lender”), for a term loan facility in an amount not to exceed $8.0 million (such facility, the “Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility” and such

term loan, the “Subordinated Back Leverage Loan”). The Senior Back Leverage Lenders and the Subordinated Back Leverage Lender are

referred to collectively as the “Back Leverage Lenders.”

Holdco Borrower’s obligations under the Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreement and the Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreement are

secured by a lien on all of Holdco Borrower’s assets, consisting principally of its Class B Member Interests (the “Class B Interests”) in Groton

Station Fuel Cell Holdco, LLC (the “Groton Tax Equity Holdco”).  Class A Membership Interests (the “Class A Interests”) in the Groton Tax

Equity Holdco are held by East West Bank.  Holdco Borrower is also the Managing Member of the Groton Tax Equity Holdco.  The Groton Tax

Equity Holdco’s primary asset is ownership of all of the outstanding equity interests in Groton Station Fuel Cell, LLC (the “Groton Project

Company”).  The Groton Project Company, in turn, is the owner of the fuel cell power plant at the U.S. Navy Submarine Base New London

located in Groton, Connecticut (the “Groton Project”).  As additional context concerning the relationship among the parties with respect to the

Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility more fully described below, on December 16, 2022, the

Groton Project Company and Parent entered into an Amended and Restated Power Purchase Agreement (the “Amended and Restated PPA”)

with Connecticut Municipal Electric Energy Cooperative (“CMEEC”), pursuant to which the Groton Project Company agreed to sell to CMEEC,

and CMEEC agreed to purchase from the Groton Project Company, all of the  electricity output produced by the Groton Project pursuant to the

terms and conditions  of the Amended and Restated PPA.

At the closing (the “Closing”) of each of the Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility, which

occurred simultaneously on August 18, 2023 (the “Closing Date”), the entire amount of each of the Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the

Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility was drawn down in the aggregate amount of $20.0 million.  After payment of fees and transaction

costs (including fees to the Back Leverage Lenders and legal costs) of approximately $0.4 million in the aggregate, the remaining proceeds of

approximately $19.6 million were used as follows: (i) approximately $1.7 million was used to fund debt service reserve accounts (“DSCR

Reserve Accounts”) for the Senior Back Leverage Lenders in equal amounts of approximately $0.83 million for Liberty Lender and

approximately $0.83 million for Amalgamated Lender; (ii) approximately $6.5 million was used to fund operations and maintenance and module

replacement reserve accounts for the Senior Back Leverage Lenders in equal amounts of approximately $3.25 million for Liberty Lender and

approximately $3.25 million for Amalgamated Lender; (iii) approximately $0.3 million was used to fund a DSCR Reserve Account for the

Subordinated Back Leverage Lender; and (iv) the remaining amount of approximately $11.1 million was released to Parent from the Back

Leverage Lenders. As discussed in additional detail below, simultaneous with the Closing, a portion of the proceeds were used to: (a) make

Output Shortfall Payments (which are cash payments required to be made by the Groton Project Company in the event that the Groton Project

produces electricity in any year less than the minimum required amount for such year) totaling approximately $1.3 million, which were

deposited into a payment reserve account, and (b) pay approximately $3.0 million to Connecticut Green Bank, which represented payment, in

full, of all outstanding obligations under Parent’s loan agreement with Connecticut Green Bank. After taking into account such Output Shortfall

Payments and such payment to Connecticut Green Bank, approximately $6.8 million will be classified as unrestricted cash on the Company’s

Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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The portion of the Senior Back Leverage Loan provided by Liberty Lender will accrue interest on the unpaid principal amount calculated from

the date of such Senior Back Leverage Loan until the maturity date at a rate per annum equal to 6.75%.  The portion of the Senior Back

Leverage Loan provided by Amalgamated Lender will accrue interest on the unpaid principal amount calculated from the date of such Senior

Back Leverage Loan until the maturity date thereof at 6.07% during all times at which a “Carbon Offset Event” is not continuing and 7.32% at

all times at which a “Carbon Offset Event” has occurred and is continuing.  A “Carbon Offset Event” is deemed to occur if Holdco Borrower,

Parent or any direct or indirect subsidiary thereof does not purchase carbon offsets from an Acceptable Carbon Offset Provider (as defined
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below) each fiscal year in an amount equal to the lesser of (i) the Annual Carbon Offset Requirement for such fiscal year, which is derived

based on a formula equal to the outstanding balance of the Senior Back Leverage Loan provided by Amalgamated Lender multiplied by the

Groton Project’s annual carbon emissions for such year and divided by the total project costs of the Groton Project, and (ii) the Annual Carbon

Offset Cap for such fiscal year, which is $12.66 multiplied by the Annual Carbon Offset Requirement and divided by the Carbon Offset Price,

for such fiscal year. The “Carbon Offset Price” means the price, per metric ton of carbon dioxide, of the carbon offsets available for purchase

from an Acceptable Carbon Offset Provider. An “Acceptable Carbon Offset Provider” is either Climate Vault or any other seller of carbon offsets

acceptable to Amalgamated Lender.

Quarterly principal amortization and interest payments are required to be made by Holdco Borrower on the Senior Back Leverage Loans based

on a ten-year amortization period.  The Senior Back Leverage Loans have a seven-year term, maturing on August 18, 2030, at which time all

outstanding principal is due.

The Subordinated Back Leverage Loan will accrue interest at a rate per annum equal to 8% for the period of time prior to the “Step Down Date”

and, after the “Step Down Date,” at the lesser of 8% or the interest rate on a 10 year U.S. Treasury Note plus 275 basis points (subject to a

minimum floor of 5% per annum).  The “Step Down Date” is the date on which both of the following events have occurred: Holdco Borrower has

purchased East West Bank’s Class A Interests in the Groton Tax Equity Holdco and the Senior Back Leverage Loans have been repaid in full.

 Interest is payable each quarter based on an agreed upon schedule.

Pursuant to the Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility, during the “Interest Only Period” (as defined below), Holdco Borrower is required to

make quarterly payments of principal in amounts equal to 50% of excess cash flow available to Holdco Borrower.   For purposes of the

foregoing, excess cash flow is all excess cash flow of Holdco Borrower after the payment of required principal and interest on the Senior Back

Leverage Loans, required deposits in the various reserve accounts, the payment of interest on the Subordinated Back Leverage Loan and

payment of Holdco Borrower’s operating expenses.   Following the end of the “Interest Only Period,” principal and interest payments are

required to be made quarterly in quarterly level payments (“mortgage style”) of principal and interest until the maturity date, which is the first to

occur of 20 years following the Groton Project’s commercial operations date and termination of the Amended and Restated PPA.  The maturity

date of the Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility is currently contemplated to be September 30, 2038.  The “Interest Only Period” is the

period beginning on the Closing Date and ending the first to occur of (i) eighty-four months after the Closing Date; or (ii) the date the Senior

Back Leverage Loan Facility has been fully repaid.

Each of the Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreement and the Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreement contains certain reporting

requirements and other affirmative and negative covenants which are customary for transactions of this type. Included in the covenants are

covenants that: (i) Holdco Borrower maintain a “Senior” debt service coverage ratio (which is computed taking into account debt service

obligations on the Senior Back Leverage Loans) of not less than 1.20:1.00 (based on the trailing 12 months and tested every quarter) and a

“Total” debt service coverage ratio (which is computed taking into account debt service obligations on both the Senior Back Leverage Loans

and the Subordinated Back Leverage Loan) of not less than 1.10:1.00 (based on the trailing 12 months and tested on a quarterly basis); (ii)

Holdco Borrower may make distributions or dividends only if the foregoing debt to equity coverage ratios have been satisfied and Holdco

Borrower is not in default under any provisions of either the Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreement or the Subordinated Back Leverage

Credit Agreement, including having made all required deposits into reserve accounts; (iii) Holdco Borrower is required to exercise its right

under the Groton Tax Equity Holdco limited liability company agreement to acquire the Class A Interests from East West Bank during the ninety

day period beginning on the “Flip Point” (which, pursuant to the Groton Tax Equity Holdco limited liability company agreement, is the date on

which the holder of Class A Interests has realized a certain return on investment and, accordingly, Holdco Borrower, as holder of the Class B

Interests, has the right to purchase the Class A Interests); and (iv) the consent of the Senior Administrative Agent is required prior to Holdco

Borrower’s taking certain material actions under the Groton Tax Equity Holdco limited liability company agreement. Each of the Senior Back

Leverage Credit Agreement and the Subordinated Back Leverage Credit
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Agreement also contains customary representations and warranties and customary events of default that cause, or entitle the Lenders to

cause, the outstanding loans to become immediately due and payable.  In addition to customary events of default for transactions of this kind,

the events of default include if a Change of Control occurs (meaning the Company no longer directly or indirectly owns Holdco Borrower), a
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cross default (meaning that a default under the Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility shall be deemed a default under the Subordinated Back

Leverage Loan Facility and vice versa) or if CMEEC should become insolvent, is in bankruptcy or commits a specified number of payment

defaults with regard to its payment obligations to the Groton Project Company.

The Senior Back Leverage Loans may be prepaid at any time at the option of Holdco Borrower provided that (i) each prepayment on or prior to

the second anniversary of the Closing Date shall require a prepayment fee of 3% of the principal amount being prepaid; (ii) each prepayment

after the second anniversary of the Closing Date but on or prior to the fourth anniversary of the Closing Date shall require a prepayment fee of

2% of the principal amount being prepaid; and (iii) each prepayment after the fourth anniversary of the Closing Date but on or prior to the

seventh anniversary of the Closing Date

shall require a prepayment fee of 1% of the principal amount being prepaid. The Subordinated Back Leverage Loan may be prepaid at any

time without premium or penalty.

Termination of Certain Agreements with Connecticut Green Bank

The Company had a long-term loan agreement with Connecticut Green Bank, which provided the Company with a loan of $1.8 million (as

amended from time to time, the “Green Bank Loan Agreement”). On and effective as of December 19, 2019, the Company and Connecticut

Green Bank entered into an amendment to the Green Bank Loan Agreement (the “Green Bank Amendment”). Upon the execution of the Green

Bank Amendment on December 19, 2019, Connecticut Green Bank made an additional loan to the Company in the aggregate principal amount

of $3.0 million, which was to be used (i) first, to pay closing fees related to the May 9, 2019 acquisition of the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project and

the related subordinated credit agreement (which has since been terminated), other fees and interest, and (ii) thereafter, for general corporate

purposes. In May 2023, $1.8 million of the then-outstanding balance under the Green Bank Loan Agreement was paid by the Company.

In connection with the Closing of the Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility and using a

portion of the proceeds from such facilities, on the Closing Date, the Company paid approximately $3.0 million to Connecticut Green Bank as

payment, in full, of all outstanding obligations under the Green Bank Loan Agreement. No early termination penalties were incurred in

connection with this payment. Upon payment of such amount by the Company to Connecticut Green Bank on the Closing Date, (i) all of the

Company’s obligations under the Green Bank Loan Agreement, the related note, and any other related loan agreements were satisfied,

terminated and released (except for any such provisions that expressly survive such termination), (ii) all collateral and liens under the related

security agreements were released, and (iii) the Green Bank Loan Agreement, the related note, the related security agreements, and any other

related loan agreements were terminated.

Amendment No. 4 to the EMTEC Joint Development Agreement

On August 25, 2023, the Company and EMTEC entered into Amendment No. 4 to the EMTEC Joint Development Agreement (“Amendment

No. 4”), effective as of August 31, 2023. In Amendment No. 4, the Company and EMTEC agreed to further extend the term of the EMTEC Joint

Development Agreement such that it will end on March 31, 2024 (unless terminated earlier) and to further increase the maximum amount of

research costs to be reimbursed by EMTEC from $60.0 million to $67.0 million. Amendment No. 4 is intended to allow the parties the

opportunity to continue (i) derisking of the Generation 2 Technology fuel cell module demonstration prototype and (ii) the joint marketing and

sales efforts to inform development of a new business framework between the parties beyond the current agreement structure.

Open Market Sale Agreement

Subsequent to July 31, 2023, the Company sold approximately 2.0 million shares of its common stock under the Open Market Sale Agreement

at an average price of $2.14 per share resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $4.3 million before deducting sales commissions and fees,

and net proceeds of approximately $4.2 million after deducting sales commissions and fees totaling approximately $0.1 million.
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ITEM 2.         MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains both historical statements and forward-looking statements that the Company believes to be

“forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 that involve risks, uncertainties and

assumptions. The (the “PSLRA”). All statements contained other than statements of historical fact included in this report that are not purely

historical are forward-looking statements that are subject to the safe harbors created under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, Form 10-K, including statements regarding our the Company’s future financial condition, results

of operations, plans, objectives, expectations, beliefs, intentions future performance, business operations and strategies for the future. When

used in this report, the words business prospects, are forward-looking statements. Words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “goals,”

“projects,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “predicts,” “should,” “seeks,” “will,” “could,” “would,” “may,” “forecast,” and similar expressions and

variations of such words are intended to identify forward-looking statements. statements and are included, along with this statement, for

purposes of complying with the safe harbor provisions of the PSLRA. Forward-looking statements are neither historical facts, nor assurances of

future performance. Instead, such statements are based only on our beliefs, expectations, and assumptions regarding the future. As such, the

realization of matters expressed in forward-looking statements involves inherent risks and uncertainties. Such statements relate to, among

other things, the following: (i) the development and commercialization by FuelCell Energy, Inc. and its subsidiaries of fuel cell technology and

products and the market for such products; (ii) expected operating results such as revenue growth and earnings; (iii) the expected timing of

completion of our ongoing projects; (iv) (iii) our business plans and strategies; (v) (iv) the markets in which we expect to operate; (v) expected

operating results such as revenue growth and earnings; (vi) our belief that we have sufficient liquidity to fund our business operations for the

next 12 months; (vii) future funding under Advanced Technologies contracts; (viii) future financing for projects, including equity and debt

investments by investors and commercial bank financing, as well as overall financial market conditions; (ix) the expected cost competitiveness

of our technology; and (x) our ability to achieve our sales plans, manufacturing capacity expansion plans, market access and market expansion

goals, and cost reduction targets.

The forward-looking statements contained in this report are subject to risks and uncertainties, known and unknown, that could cause actual

results and future events to differ materially from those set forth in or contemplated by the forward-looking statements, including, without

limitation, the risks described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal  year ended October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023 and in the

section below entitled “Item 1A. Risk Factors,” and the following risks and uncertainties: general risks associated with product development and

manufacturing; general economic conditions; changes in interest rates, which may impact project financing; supply chain disruptions; changes

in the utility regulatory environment; changes in the utility industry and the markets for distributed generation, distributed hydrogen, and fuel cell

power plants configured for carbon capture or carbon separation; potential volatility of commodity prices that may adversely affect our projects;

availability of government subsidies and economic incentives for alternative energy technologies; our ability to remain in compliance with U.S.

federal and state and foreign government laws and regulations and the listing rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market (“Nasdaq”); Market; rapid

technological change; competition; the risk that our bid awards will not convert to contracts or that our contracts will not convert to revenue;

market acceptance of our products; changes in accounting policies or practices adopted voluntarily or as required by accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States; States (“U.S. GAAP”); factors affecting our liquidity position and financial condition; limitations on our

ability to raise capital in the equity markets due to the limited number of shares of common stock currently available for issuance; government

appropriations; the ability of the government and third parties to terminate their development contracts at any time; the ability of the

government to exercise “march-in” rights with respect to certain of our patents; our ability to successfully market and sell our products

internationally; our ability to develop new products to achieve our long-term revenue targets; our ability to implement our strategy; our ability to

reduce our levelized cost of energy and deliver on our cost reduction strategy generally; our ability to protect our intellectual property; litigation

and other proceedings; the risk that commercialization of our new products will not occur when anticipated or, if it does, that we will not have

adequate capacity to satisfy demand; our need for and the availability of additional financing; our ability to generate positive cash flow from

operations; our ability to service our long-term debt; our ability to increase the output and longevity of our platforms and to meet the

performance requirements of our contracts; our ability to expand our customer base and maintain relationships with our largest customers and

strategic business allies; and concerns with, threats of, or the consequences of, pandemics, contagious diseases or health epidemics,

including the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”), and resulting supply chain disruptions, shifts in clean energy demand, impacts to our customers’

capital budgets and investment plans, impacts to our project schedules, impacts to our ability to service existing projects, and impacts on the

demand for our products products.

We cannot assure you that: we will be able to meet any of our development or commercialization schedules; any of our new products or

technologies, once developed, will be commercially successful; our SureSource power plants will be commercially successful; we will be able

to obtain financing or raise capital to achieve our business plans; the government will

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

45/111

19

Table of Contents

appropriate the funds anticipated by us under our government contracts; the government will not exercise its right to terminate any or all of our

government contracts; or we will be able to achieve any other result anticipated in any other forward-looking statement contained herein.
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Investors are cautioned that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks and uncertainties, many of

which are beyond our ability to control, and that actual results may differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements as a

result of various factors discussed herein. Any forward-looking statement made by us in this report is based only on information currently

available to us and speaks only as of the date on which it is made. We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking

statement, whether written or oral, that may be made from time to time, whether as a result of new information, future developments or

otherwise.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is provided as a supplement to the accompanying

financial statements and footnotes to help provide an understanding of our financial condition, changes in our financial condition and results of

operations. The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures requires management to make estimates and assumptions that

affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, as well as

management’s assessment of the Company’s ability to meet its obligations as they come due over the next twelve months. Actual results could

differ from those estimates. Estimates are used in accounting for, among other things, revenue recognition, lease right-of-use assets and

liabilities, loss accruals on service agreements, excess, slow-moving and obsolete inventories, product warranty accruals, loss accruals on

service agreements, share-based compensation expense, allowance for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization, impairment of

goodwill and in-process research and development intangible assets, impairment of long-lived assets (including project assets), lease liabilities

and right-of-use (“ROU”) assets, valuation of derivatives, contingencies, and in management’s assessment of the Company’s ability to meet its

obligations as they come due over the next twelve  months. contingencies. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically, and the

effects of revisions are reflected in the consolidated financial statements in the period they are determined to be necessary. Due to the inherent

uncertainty involved in making estimates, actual results in future periods may differ from those estimates. The following discussion should be

read in conjunction with information included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Unless otherwise indicated, the terms “Company”, “FuelCell Energy”, “we”, “us”,

and “our” refer to FuelCell Energy, Inc. and its subsidiaries. All tabular dollar amounts are in thousands.

OVERVIEW

Headquartered in Danbury, Connecticut, FuelCell Energy has leveraged five decades of research and development to become is a global

leader in delivering environmentally responsible distributed baseload energy platform solutions through our proprietary fuel cell technology. Our

current Today, we offer commercial technology that produces clean electricity, heat, clean hydrogen, and water while separating and is also

capable of recovering and capturing carbon for utilization and/or sequestration, depending on the product configuration and application. We

also continue to invest in developing product development and commercializing future technologies  that are expected to add new capabilities

to our platforms’ abilities to deliver hydrogen and long duration hydrogen-based energy storage through our solid oxide technologies, as well as

further enhance our existing platforms’ carbon capture solutions.

FuelCell Energy is a global leader in focused on advancing sustainable clean energy technologies that address some of the world’s most

critical challenges around energy access, security, resilience, reliability, affordability, safety and environmental stewardship. As a leading global
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manufacturer of proprietary fuel cell technology platforms, FuelCell Energy is uniquely positioned to serve customers worldwide with

sustainable products and solutions for industrial and commercial businesses, utilities, governments, municipalities, and

municipalities. communities.

FuelCell Energy, based in Connecticut, was founded in 1969 as a New York corporation to provide applied research and development services

on a contract basis. We completed our initial public offering in 1992 and reincorporated in Delaware in 1999. We began selling stationary fuel

cell power plants commercially in 2003.
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RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

Groton Back-Leverage Financing

On August 18, 2023, FuelCell Energy Finance Holdco, LLC (“Holdco Borrower”), a wholly owned subsidiary of FuelCell Energy Finance, LLC

(“FCEF”), which, in turn, is a wholly owned subsidiary of FuelCell Energy, Inc. (“Parent”), entered into: (i) a Credit Agreement (the “Senior Back

Leverage Credit Agreement”) with, by and among Liberty Bank, in its capacities as a lender (“Liberty Lender”), administrative agent (the “Senior

Administrative Agent”), and lead arranger, and Amalgamated Bank, in its capacity as a lender (“Amalgamated Lender” and, collectively with

Liberty Lender, the “Senior Back Leverage Lenders”), for a term loan facility in an amount not to exceed an aggregate of $12.0 million to be

provided 50% by Liberty Lender and 50% by Amalgamated Lender (such facility, the “Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility,” each such term

loan, a “Senior Back Leverage Loan” and such term loans together, the “Senior Back Leverage Loans”); and (ii) a Credit Agreement (the

“Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreement”) with Connecticut Green Bank, as administrative agent (the “Subordinated Administrative

Agent”) and lender (“Subordinated Back Leverage Lender”), for a term loan facility in an amount not to exceed $8.0 million (such facility, the

“Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility” and such term loan, the “Subordinated Back Leverage Loan”). The Senior Back Leverage Lenders

and the Subordinated Back Leverage Lender are referred to collectively as the “Back Leverage Lenders.”

Holdco Borrower’s obligations under the Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreement and the Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreement are

secured by a lien on all of Holdco Borrower’s assets, consisting principally of its Class B Member Interests (the “Class B Interests”) in Groton

Station Fuel Cell Holdco, LLC (the “Groton Tax Equity Holdco”).  Class A Membership Interests (the “Class A Interests”) in the Groton Tax

Equity Holdco are held by East West Bank.  Holdco Borrower is also the Managing Member of the Groton Tax Equity Holdco.  The Groton Tax

Equity Holdco’s primary asset is ownership of all of the outstanding equity interests in Groton Station Fuel Cell, LLC (the “Groton Project

Company”).  The Groton Project Company, in turn, is the owner of the fuel cell power plant at the U.S. Navy Submarine Base New London

located in Groton, Connecticut (the “Groton Project”).  As additional context concerning the relationship among the parties with respect to the

Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility more fully described below, on December 16, 2022, the

Groton Project Company and Parent entered into an Amended and Restated Power Purchase Agreement (the “Amended and Restated PPA”)

with Connecticut Municipal Electric Energy Cooperative (“CMEEC”), pursuant to which the Groton Project Company agreed to sell to CMEEC,

and CMEEC agreed to purchase from the Groton Project Company, all of the  electricity output produced by the Groton Project pursuant to the

terms and conditions  of the Amended and Restated PPA.

At the closing (the “Closing”) of each of the Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility, which

occurred simultaneously on August 18, 2023 (the “Closing Date”), the entire amount of each of the Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the

Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility was drawn down in the aggregate amount of $20.0 million.  After payment of fees and transaction

costs (including fees to the Back Leverage Lenders and legal costs) of approximately $0.4 million in the aggregate, the remaining proceeds of

approximately $19.6 million were used as follows: (i) approximately $1.7 million was used to fund debt service reserve accounts (“DSCR

Reserve Accounts”) for the Senior Back Leverage Lenders in equal amounts of approximately $0.83 million for Liberty Lender and

approximately $0.83 million for Amalgamated Lender; (ii) approximately $6.5 million was used to fund operations and maintenance and module

replacement reserve accounts for the Senior Back Leverage Lenders in equal amounts of approximately $3.25 million for Liberty Lender and

approximately $3.25 million for Amalgamated Lender; (iii) approximately $0.3 million was used to fund a DSCR Reserve Account for the

Subordinated Back Leverage Lender; and (iv) the remaining amount of approximately $11.1 million was released to Parent from the Back
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Leverage Lenders. As discussed in additional detail below, simultaneous with the Closing, a portion of the proceeds were used to: (a) make

Output Shortfall Payments (which are cash payments required to be made by the Groton Project Company in the event that the Groton Project

produces electricity in any year less than the minimum required amount for such year) totaling approximately $1.3 million, which were

deposited into a payment reserve account, and (b) pay approximately $3.0 million to Connecticut Green Bank, which represented payment, in

full, of all outstanding obligations under Parent’s loan agreement with Connecticut Green Bank (which is discussed in additional detail below).

After taking into account such Output Shortfall Payments and such payment to Connecticut Green Bank, approximately $6.8 million will be

classified as unrestricted cash on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The portion of the Senior Back Leverage Loan provided by Liberty Lender will accrue interest on the unpaid principal amount calculated from

the date of such Senior Back Leverage Loan until the maturity date at a rate per annum equal to 6.75%.  The portion of the Senior Back

Leverage Loan provided by Amalgamated Lender will accrue interest on the unpaid principal amount calculated from the date of such Senior

Back Leverage Loan until the maturity date thereof at
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6.07% during all times at which a “Carbon Offset Event” is not continuing and 7.32% at all times at which a “Carbon Offset Event” has occurred

and is continuing.  A “Carbon Offset Event” is deemed to occur if Holdco Borrower, Parent or any direct or indirect subsidiary thereof does not

purchase carbon offsets from an Acceptable Carbon Offset Provider (as defined below) each fiscal year in an amount equal to the lesser of (i)

the Annual Carbon Offset Requirement for such fiscal year, which is derived based on a formula equal to the outstanding balance of the Senior

Back Leverage Loan provided by Amalgamated Lender multiplied by the Groton Project’s annual carbon emissions for such year and divided

by the total project costs of the Groton Project, and (ii) the Annual Carbon Offset Cap for such fiscal year, which is $12.66 multiplied by the

Annual Carbon Offset Requirement and divided by the Carbon Offset Price for such fiscal year. The “Carbon Offset Price” means the price, per

metric ton of carbon dioxide, of the carbon offsets available for purchase from an Acceptable Carbon Offset Provider. An “Acceptable Carbon

Offset Provider” is either Climate Vault or any other seller of carbon offsets acceptable to Amalgamated Lender.

Quarterly principal amortization and interest payments are required to be made by Holdco Borrower on the Senior Back Leverage Loans based

on a ten-year amortization period.  The Senior Back Leverage Loans have a seven-year term, maturing on August 18, 2030, at which time all

outstanding principal is due.

The Subordinated Back Leverage Loan will accrue interest at a rate per annum equal to 8% for the period of time prior to the “Step Down Date”

and, after the “Step Down Date,” at the lesser of 8% or the interest rate on a 10 year U.S. Treasury Note plus 275 basis points (subject to a

minimum floor of 5% per annum).  The “Step Down Date” is the date on which both of the following events have occurred: Holdco Borrower has

purchased East West Bank’s Class A Interests in the Groton Tax Equity Holdco and the Senior Back Leverage Loans have been repaid in full.

 Interest is payable each quarter based on an agreed upon schedule.

Pursuant to the Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility, during the “Interest Only Period” (as defined below), Holdco Borrower is required to

make quarterly payments of principal in amounts equal to 50% of excess cash flow available to Holdco Borrower.   For purposes of the

foregoing, excess cash flow is all excess cash flow of Holdco Borrower after the payment of required principal and interest on the Senior Back

Leverage Loans, required deposits in the various reserve accounts, the payment of interest on the Subordinated Back Leverage Loan and

payment of Holdco Borrower’s operating expenses.   Following the end of the “Interest Only Period,” principal and interest payments are

required to be made quarterly in quarterly level payments (“mortgage style”) of principal and interest until the maturity date, which is the first to

occur of 20 years following the Groton Project’s commercial operations date and termination of the Amended and Restated PPA.  The maturity

date of the Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility is currently contemplated to be September 30, 2038.  The “Interest Only Period” is the

period beginning on the Closing Date and ending the first to occur of (i) eighty-four months after the Closing Date; or (ii) the date the Senior

Back Leverage Loan Facility has been fully repaid.

Each of the Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreement and the Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreement contains certain reporting

requirements and other affirmative and negative covenants which are customary for transactions of this type. Included in the covenants are

covenants that: (i) Holdco Borrower maintain a “Senior” debt service coverage ratio (which is computed taking into account debt service

obligations on the Senior Back Leverage Loans) of not less than 1.20:1.00 (based on the trailing 12 months and tested every quarter) and a
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“Total” debt service coverage ratio (which is computed taking into account debt service obligations on both the Senior Back Leverage Loans

and the Subordinated Back Leverage Loan) of not less than 1.10:1.00 (based on the trailing 12 months and tested on a quarterly basis); (ii)

Holdco Borrower may make distributions or dividends only if the foregoing debt to equity coverage ratios have been satisfied and Holdco

Borrower is not in default under any provisions of either the Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreement or the Subordinated Back Leverage

Credit Agreement, including having made all required deposits into reserve accounts; (iii) Holdco Borrower is required to exercise its right

under the Groton Tax Equity Holdco limited liability company agreement to acquire the Class A Interests from East West Bank during the ninety

day period beginning on the “Flip Point” (which, pursuant to the Groton Tax Equity Holdco limited liability company agreement, is the date on

which the holder of Class A Interests has realized a certain return on investment and, accordingly, Holdco Borrower, as holder of the Class B

Interests, has the right to purchase the Class A Interests); and (iv) the consent of the Senior Administrative Agent is required prior to Holdco

Borrower’s taking certain material actions under the Groton Tax Equity Holdco limited liability company agreement. Each of the Senior Back

Leverage Credit Agreement and the Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreement also contains customary representations and warranties

and customary events of default that cause, or entitle the Lenders to cause, the outstanding loans to become immediately due and payable.  In

addition to customary events of default for transactions of this kind, the events of default include if a Change of Control occurs (meaning the

Company no longer directly or indirectly owns Holdco Borrower), a cross default (meaning that a default under the Senior Back
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Leverage Loan Facility shall be deemed a default under the Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility and vice versa) or if CMEEC should

become insolvent, is in bankruptcy or commits a specified number of payment defaults with regard to its payment obligations to the Groton

Project Company.

The Senior Back Leverage Loans may be prepaid at any time at the option of Holdco Borrower provided that (i) each prepayment on or prior to

the second anniversary of the Closing Date shall require a prepayment fee of 3% of the principal amount being prepaid; (ii) each prepayment

after the second anniversary of the Closing Date but on or prior to the fourth anniversary of the Closing Date shall require a prepayment fee of

2% of the principal amount being prepaid; and (iii) each prepayment after the fourth anniversary of the Closing Date but on or prior to the

seventh anniversary of the Closing Date

shall require a prepayment fee of 1% of the principal amount being prepaid. The Subordinated Back Leverage Loan may be prepaid at any

time without premium or penalty.

Termination of Certain Agreements with Connecticut Green Bank

The Company had a long-term loan agreement with Connecticut Green Bank, which provided the Company with a loan of $1.8 million (as

amended from time to time, the “Green Bank Loan Agreement”). On and effective as of December 19, 2019, the Company and Connecticut

Green Bank entered into an amendment to the Green Bank Loan Agreement (the “Green Bank Amendment”). Upon the execution of the Green

Bank Amendment on December 19, 2019, Connecticut Green Bank made an additional loan to the Company in the aggregate principal amount

of $3.0 million, which was to be used (i) first, to pay closing fees related to the May 9, 2019 acquisition of the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project and

the related subordinated credit agreement (which has since been terminated), other fees and interest, and (ii) thereafter, for general corporate

purposes. In May 2023, $1.8 million of the then-outstanding balance under the Green Bank Loan Agreement was paid by the Company.

In connection with the Closing of the Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility and using a

portion of the proceeds from such facilities, on the Closing Date, the Company paid approximately $3.0 million to Connecticut Green Bank as

payment, in full, of all outstanding obligations under the Green Bank Loan Agreement (as defined below). No early termination penalties were

incurred in connection with this payment. Upon payment of such amount by the Company to Connecticut Green Bank on the Closing Date,

(i) all of the Company’s obligations under the Green Bank Loan Agreement, the related note, and any other related loan agreements were

satisfied, terminated and released (except for any such provisions that expressly survive such termination), (ii) all collateral and liens under the

related security agreements were released, and (iii) the Green Bank Loan Agreement, the related note, the related security agreements, and

any other related loan agreements were terminated.

Amendment No. 4 to the EMTEC Joint Development Agreement
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On August 25, 2023, the Company and ExxonMobil Technology and Engineering Company (f/k/a ExxonMobil Research and Engineering

Company) (“EMTEC”) entered into Amendment No. 4 to the Joint Development Agreement between the Company and EMTEC, effective as of

August 31, 2023 (such amendment, “Amendment No. 4” and such agreement, as amended, the “EMTEC Joint Development Agreement”). In

Amendment No. 4, the Company and EMTEC agreed to further extend the term of the EMTEC Joint Development Agreement such that it will

end on March 31, 2024 (unless terminated earlier) and to further increase the maximum amount of research costs to be reimbursed by EMTEC

from $60.0 million to $67.0 million. Amendment No. 4 is intended to allow the parties the opportunity to continue (i) derisking of the Generation

2 Technology fuel cell module demonstration prototype and (ii) the joint marketing and sales efforts to inform development of a new business

framework between the parties beyond the current agreement structure.

Open Market Sale Agreement

Subsequent to July 31, 2023, the Company sold approximately 2.0 million shares of its common stock under the Open Market Sale Agreement

(as defined below) at an average price of $2.14 per share resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $4.3 million before deducting sales

commissions and fees, and net proceeds of approximately $4.2 million after deducting sales commissions and fees totaling approximately $0.1

million.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management evaluates our results of operations and cash flows using a variety of key performance indicators, including revenues compared to

prior periods and internal forecasts, costs of our products and results of our cost reduction initiatives, and operating cash use. These are

discussed throughout the “Results of Operations” and “Liquidity and Capital Resources” sections. Results of Operations are presented in

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”).

Comparison of Three Months Ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and 2022 2023

Revenues and Costs of revenues

Our revenues and cost of revenues for the three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 were as follows:

Three Months Ended July 31, Change Three Months Ended January 31, Change

(dollars in thousands)      2023      2022      $      %      2024      2023      $      %

Total revenues $ 25,510 $ 43,104 $ (17,594) (41)% $ 16,691 $ 37,073 $(20,382) (55)%

Total costs of revenues 33,725 47,284 (13,559) (29)% 28,416 31,836 (3,420) (11)%

Gross loss $ (8,215) $ (4,180) $ (4,035) (97)%

Gross (loss) profit $ (11,725) $ 5,237 $(16,962) 324%

Gross margin (32.2)% (9.7)% (70.2)% 14.1%

Total revenues for the three  months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 of $25.5 million $16.7 million reflects a decrease of $17.6

million $20.4 million from $43.1 million $37.1 million for the same period in the prior year. Cost of revenues for the three months ended July 31,

2023 January 31, 2024 of $33.7 million $28.4 million reflects a decrease of $13.6 million $3.4 million from $47.3 million $31.8 million for the

same period in the prior  year. A discussion of the changes in product revenues, service agreements revenues, generation revenues and

Advanced Technologies contract revenues follows.

Product revenues

Our product revenues and related costs for the three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 were as follows:

Three Months Ended July 31, Change Three Months Ended January 31, Change

(dollars in thousands)      2023      2022      $      %      2024      2023      $      %
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Product revenues $ - $ 18,000 $ (18,000) N/A $ - $ 9,095 $ (9,095) N/A

Cost of product revenues 2,910 17,919 (15,009) (84)% 2,391 1,029 1,362 132%

Gross (loss) profit from product revenues $ (2,910) $ 81 $ (2,991) 3693% $ (2,391) $ 8,066 $(10,457) 130%

Product revenues gross margin N/A 0.5% N/A 88.7%

There were no product revenues for the three months ended July 31, 2023. Product revenues January 31, 2024 compared to $9.1 million for

the three months ended July 31, 2022 were a result of module sales to Korea Fuel Cell Co., Ltd. (“KFC”) under the January 31, 2023. Our

December 2021 Settlement Agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) with POSCO Energy Co., Ltd. (“POSCO Energy”) and its subsidiary,

KFC, for which the Company recognized $18.0 million on the Ex Works delivery of six modules from the Company’s facility in Torrington, CT.

Cost of product revenues decreased $15.0 million for the three months ended July 31, 2023 to $2.9 million, compared to $17.9 million in the

same period in the prior  year. The decrease is primarily due to the lack of module sales during the three months ended July 31, 2023.

 Manufacturing variances, primarily related to production volumes and unabsorbed overhead costs, totaled approximately $2.4 million for the

three  months ended July 31, 2023, compared to approximately $3.0 million for the three  months ended July 31, 2022. The decrease in

manufacturing variances for the three months ended July 31, 2023 was driven primarily by an overall reduction in actual manufacturing costs.

For the three  months ended July 31, 2023, we operated at an annualized production rate of approximately 28.9 megawatts (“MW”) in our

Torrington, CT manufacturing facility, compared to the annualized production rate of 36.5 MW for the three months ended July 31, 2022. The

lower annualized production rate for the three months ended July 31, 2023 is primarily a result of reduced staffing in certain production areas

during the three months ended July 31, 2023 compared to the three months ended July 31, 2022. The Company continuously evaluates its

production rate and staffing levels and has determined that the current levels are sufficient to satisfy the current demand for carbonate fuel cell

modules.  
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Service agreements revenues

Service agreements revenues and related costs for the three months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

Three Months Ended July 31, Change

(dollars in thousands)      2023      2022      $      %

Service agreements revenues $ 9,841 $ 9,049 $ 792 9%

Cost of service agreements revenues 9,575 7,718 1,857 24%

Gross profit from service agreements revenues $ 266 $ 1,331 $ (1,065) 80%

Service agreements revenues gross margin 2.7% 14.7%

Service agreements revenues for the three months ended July 31, 2023 increased $0.8 million to $9.8 million from $9.0 million for the three

months ended July 31, 2022. Service agreements revenues increased during the three months ended July 31, 2023, primarily driven by two

new module exchanges at the plant owned by Korea Southern Power Company in Korea, which achieved commercial operations in fiscal year

2018, and a module exchange at the plant at Trinity College.

Cost of service agreements revenues increased $1.9 million to $9.6 million for the three months ended July 31, 2023 from $7.7 million for the

three  months ended July 31, 2022. Cost of service agreements revenues includes maintenance and operating costs and costs of module

exchanges. The increase reflects costs of module exchanges for the three months ended July 31, 2023.

Overall gross profit from service agreements revenues was $0.3 million for the three months ended July 31, 2023, which decreased from a

gross profit of $1.3 million for the three months ended July 31, 2022. The overall gross margin was 2.7% for the three months ended July 31,

2023 compared to a gross margin of 14.7% in the comparable prior year period. Gross margin was lower during the three months ended July

31, 2023 primarily due to the fact that the quarter included a reserve established for obsolete inventory of approximately $0.8 million.
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Generation revenues

Generation revenues and related costs for the three months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

Three Months Ended July 31, Change

(dollars in thousands)      2023      2022      $      %

Generation revenues $ 10,982 $ 10,877 $ 105 1%

Cost of generation revenues 17,483 18,136 (653) (4)%

Gross loss from generation revenues $ (6,501) $ (7,259) $ 758 10%

Generation revenues gross margin (59.2)% (66.7)%

Revenues from generation for the three months ended July 31, 2023 totaled $11.0 million, which represents an increase of $0.1 million from

revenue recognized of $10.9 million for the three months ended July 31, 2022. The increase reflects  revenue of $1.5 million generated by the

Groton Project which became operational in December 2022, offset by lower revenue from other plants due to lower output resulting from

routine maintenance activities. Generation revenues for the three months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022 reflect revenue from electricity

generated under our power purchase agreements (“PPAs”) and the sale of renewable energy credits.

Cost of generation revenues totaled $17.5 million in the three months ended July 31, 2023, compared to $18.1 million in the three months

ended July 31, 2022. Both periods include expensed construction and gas costs of approximately $6.2 million related to the Toyota project

(while expensed construction costs for the comparable prior year period were $6.9 million) and costs of approximately $1.3 million related to

the increased size of the installed fleet with the Groton Project achieving commercial operations.  

As further background on the costs related to the Toyota project, it was determined in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2021 that a potential

source of renewable natural gas (“RNG”) at favorable pricing was no longer sufficiently probable for the Toyota project, resulting in impairment

of the asset. Thus, as the Toyota project is being constructed, only amounts associated with inventory components that can be redeployed for

alternative use are being capitalized. The balance of costs incurred are being expensed as cost of generation revenues. As of July 31, 2023,

current market pricing of RNG continues to result in non-recoverability consistent with the Company’s prior assessment.
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We currently have three projects in development with fuel sourcing risk, which are the Toyota project, which requires procurement of RNG, and

our Derby, CT 14.0 MW and 2.8 MW projects, both of which require natural gas for which there is no pass-through mechanism. Two-year fuel

supply contracts have been executed for the Toyota project and the 14.0 MW project in Derby, CT. The Company will look to extend the

duration of these contracts should market and credit conditions allow. Fuel sourcing and risk mitigation strategies for the 2.8 MW project in

Derby, CT are being assessed and will be implemented as project operational dates become firm. Such strategies may require cash collateral

or reserves to secure fuel or related contracts. If the Company is unable to secure fuel on favorable economic terms, it may result in

impairment charges to the Derby project assets and further charges for the Toyota project asset.

Cost of generation revenues included depreciation and amortization of approximately $5.4 million and $4.1 million for the three months ended

July 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

We had 43.7 MW of operating power plants in our generation operating portfolio as of July 31, 2023, which increased from 41.4 MW as of July

31, 2022 and which includes 7.4 MW attributed to the design rated output of the Groton Project although the Groton Project has been operating

below its rated capacity at  an output of approximately 6.0 MW since commencement of commercial operations, offset by the removal of the 3.7

MW Triangle Street Project which is no longer in operation and the 1.4 MW UCI Medical Center Project which has been decommissioned.

Advanced Technologies contract revenues

Advanced Technologies contract revenues and related costs for the three months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:
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Three Months Ended July 31, Change

(dollars in thousands)      2023      2022      $      %

Advanced Technologies contract revenues $ 4,687 $ 5,178 $ (491) (9)%

Cost of Advanced Technologies contract revenues 3,757 3,511 246 7%

Gross profit from Advanced Technologies contracts $ 930 $ 1,667 $ (737) (44)%

Advanced Technologies contract gross margin 19.8% 32.2%

Advanced Technologies contract revenues decreased to $4.7 million for the three months ended July 31, 2023 from $5.2 million for the three

months ended July 31, 2022. Compared to the three months ended July 31, 2022, Advanced Technologies contract revenues recognized

under the EMTEC Joint Development Agreement were approximately $0.3 million higher during the three months ended July 31, 2023 and

revenue recognized under government contracts and other contracts were approximately $0.8 million lower for the three months ended July

31, 2023 as a result of the allocation of engineering resources during the quarter based on the scope of the contracts in the quarter.

Cost of Advanced Technologies contract revenues were $3.8 million for the three months ended July 31, 2023, compared to $3.5 million for the

same period in the prior year.

Advanced Technologies contracts for the three months ended July 31, 2023 generated a gross profit of $0.9 million compared to a gross profit

of $1.7 million for the three months ended July 31, 2022. The decrease in gross profit was due primarily to the lower revenues and higher costs

recognized under government and other contracts during the three months ended July 31, 2023 compared to the three months ended July 31,

2022.

Administrative and selling expenses

Administrative and selling expenses were $17.6 million and $14.2 million for the three months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Administrative and selling expenses were higher during the three months ended July 31, 2023 than during the three months ended July 31,

2022 primarily due to an increase in compensation expense resulting from an increase in headcount in support of sales and business

expansion.  
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Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses increased to $15.6 million for the three months ended July 31, 2023 compared to $9.7 million for the

three months ended July 31, 2022. The increase is primarily due to an increase in spending on the Company’s ongoing commercial

development efforts related to our solid oxide power generation and electrolysis platforms and carbon separation and carbon capture solutions

compared to the comparable prior year period.

Loss from operations

Loss from operations for the three months ended July 31, 2023 was $41.4 million compared to $28.0 million for the three months ended July

31, 2022. This increase was driven primarily by a $4.0 million increase in gross loss and a $9.4 million increase in operating expenses for the

three months ended July 31, 2023.

Interest expense

Interest expense for the three months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022 was $1.9 million and $1.6 million, respectively. Interest expense for both

periods includes interest associated with finance obligations for failed sale-leaseback transactions and interest on the loans associated with the

Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project which were terminated in May 2023.

Interest income
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Interest income was $4.0 million and $0.9 million for the three months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Interest income for the three

months ended July 31, 2023 represents $3.1 million of interest earned on money market investments and $0.9 million of interest earned on

U.S. Treasury Securities. The increase from the comparable prior year period reflects an increase in invested cash balances and higher

interest rates than the comparable prior year period.

Gain on extinguishment of finance obligations and debt, net

The gain on extinguishment of finance obligations and debt, net was $15.3 million for the three months ended July 31, 2023 and represents the

gain on the payoff of the PNC finance obligations (which occurred in May 2023) Co., offset by the write-off of debt issuance costs.

Other income, net

Other income, net was $0.4 million and $0.2 million for the three months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and primarily represents

net foreign currency exchange gains for each of the three month periods ended July 31, 2023 and 2022.

Provision for income taxes

We have not paid federal or state income taxes in several years due to our history of net operating losses, although we have paid foreign

income and withholding taxes in Korea. Provision for income tax recorded for the three months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022 was $0 and $0.5

million Ltd. (“KFC”), respectively.

Series B preferred stock dividends

Dividends recorded on our 5% Series B Cumulative Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock (“Series B Preferred Stock”) were $0.8 million for

each of the three month periods ended July 31, 2023 and 2022.

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests is the result of allocating profits and losses to noncontrolling interests under the hypothetical

liquidation at book value (“HLBV”) method. HLBV is a balance sheet-oriented approach for applying the equity method of accounting when

there is a complex structure, such as the flip structure of our tax equity financings with East West Bancorp, Inc. (“East West Bank”) and

Renewable Energy Investors, LLC (“REI”).

For the three months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022, net income attributable to noncontrolling interest totaled $0.6 million and $0.4 million,

respectively, for the LIPA Yaphank project tax equity financing transaction with REI.

For the three months ended July 31, 2023, net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest totaled $0.1 million for the Groton Project tax equity

financing transaction with East West Bank. There was no comparable net loss for the three months ended
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July 31, 2022, as the Groton Project tax equity transaction closed and the Groton Project began operations in the first quarter of fiscal year

2023.

Net loss attributable to common stockholders and loss per common share

Net loss attributable to common stockholders represents the net loss for the period less the preferred stock dividends on the Series B Preferred

Stock. For the three month periods ended July 31, 2023 and 2022, net loss attributable to common stockholders was $25.1 million and $30.2

million, respectively, and loss per common share was $0.06 and $0.08, respectively. The decrease in the net loss attributable to common

stockholders for the three months ended July 31, 2023 is primarily due to the gain on extinguishment of finance obligations and debt, net,

partially offset by higher operating expenses and a higher gross loss during the three months ended July 31, 2023. The decrease in loss per

common share is a result of the decrease in the net loss attributable to common stockholders and an increase in weighted average share

outstanding for the three months ended July 31, 2023 compared to the three months ended July 31, 2022.
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Comparison of Nine Months Ended July 31, 2023 and 2022

Revenues and Costs of revenues

Our revenues and cost of revenues for the nine months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

Nine Months Ended July 31, Change

(dollars in thousands)      2023      2022      $      %

Total revenues $ 100,932 $ 91,283 $ 9,649 11%

Total costs of revenues 110,003 105,668 4,335 4%

Gross loss $ (9,071) $ (14,385) $ 5,314 (37)%

Gross margin (9.0)% (15.8)%

Total revenues for the nine months ended July 31, 2023 of $100.9 million reflects an increase of $9.6 million from $91.3 million for the same

period in the prior year. Cost of revenues for the nine months ended July 31, 2023 of $110.0 million reflects an increase of $4.3 million from

$105.7 million for the same period in the prior year. A discussion of the changes in product revenues, service agreements revenues, generation

revenues and Advanced Technologies contract revenues follows.

Product revenues

Our product revenues and related costs for the nine months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

Nine Months Ended July 31, Change

(dollars in thousands)      2023      2022      $      %

Product revenues $ 9,095 $ 36,000 $ (26,905) (75)%

Cost of product revenues 7,425 39,159 (31,734) (81)%

Gross profit (loss) from product revenues $ 1,670 $ (3,159) $ 4,829 (153)%

Product revenues gross margin 18.4% (8.8)%

Product revenues for the nine months ended July 31, 2023 were $9.1 million compared to $36.0 million for the nine months ended July 31,

2022. The Settlement Agreement with POSCO Energy and its subsidiary, KFC, included an option to purchase an additional 14 modules (in

addition to the 20 modules that were purchased by KFC during fiscal year 2022). This option included a material right related to an extended

warranty obligation for the modules. The option was not exercised by KFC as of the expiration date of December 31, 2022 and, as a result,

during the nine months ended July 31, 2023, the Company recognized $9.1 million of product revenues  for the three months ended January

31, 2023, which represents the consideration allocated to the material right if the option had been exercised. Product revenues for the nine

months ended July 31, 2022 were a result of module sales to KFC under the Settlement Agreement for which the Company recognized $36.0

million on the Ex Works delivery of twelve modules from the Company’s facility in Torrington, CT.

Cost of product revenues decreased $31.7 million increased $1.4 million for the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 to

$7.4 million $2.4 million, compared to $39.2 million $1.0 million in the same period in the prior year. The decrease is primarily due to the lack of

module sales during the nine months ended July 31, 2023. Manufacturing variances, primarily related to production volumes and unabsorbed

overhead costs, totaled approximately $6.8 million $2.2 million for the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, compared to

approximately $8.7 million $1.1 million for the nine three months ended July 31, 2022 January 31, 2023. The reduction

For the three months ended January 31, 2024, we operated at an annualized production rate of approximately 33.2 megawatts (“MW”) in our

Torrington, CT manufacturing variances facility, compared to an annualized production rate of 38.2 MW for the nine three  months ended

January 31, 2023.
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July 31, 2023 was driven primarily by an overall reduction in actual manufacturing costs. Cost of product revenues for the nine months ended

July 31, 2022 included an impairment charge of approximately $1.0 million related to the cessation of use of conditioning equipment in

Danbury, CT, which has been replaced by new equipment at our production facility in Torrington, CT.

Product revenues for the nine months ended July 31, 2023 generated a gross profit of $1.7 million compared to a gross loss of $3.2 million for

the nine months ended July 31, 2022. The gross profit is a direct result of the product revenues recognized in the nine months ended July 31,

2023 related to the expiration without exercise of KFC’s module purchase option, particularly as there were no corresponding costs associated

with the recognition of these revenues.

For the nine months ended July 31, 2023, we operated at an annualized production rate of approximately 31.9 MW, compared to the

annualized production rate of 38.5 MW for the nine months ended July 31, 2022. The lower annualized production rate for the nine months

ended July 31, 2023 is primarily a result of reduced staffing levels during the nine months ended July 31, 2023. The Company continuously

evaluates its production rate and staffing levels and has determined that the current levels are sufficient to satisfy the current demand for

carbonate fuel cell modules.

Service agreements revenues

Service agreements revenues and related costs for the nine three  months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 were as

follows:

Nine Months Ended

July 31, Change Three Months Ended January 31, Change

(dollars in thousands)      2023      2022      $      %      2024      2023      $      %

Service agreements revenues $49,913 $13,855 $36,058 260% $ 1,617 $ 13,882 $(12,265) (88)%

Cost of service agreements revenues 40,633 13,123 27,510 210% 1,888 10,945 (9,057) (83)%

Gross profit from service agreements revenues $ 9,280 $ 732 $ 8,548 1168%

Gross (loss) profit from service agreements revenues $ (271) $ 2,937 $ (3,208) 109%

Service agreements revenues gross margin 18.6% 5.3% (16.8)% 21.2%

Service agreements revenues for the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 increased $36.0 million January 31, 2024 decreased $12.3 million

to $49.9 million $1.6 million from $13.9 million for the nine three months ended July 31, 2022 January 31, 2023. Service The decrease in service

agreements revenues recognized during the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 were January 31, 2024 was primarily driven by one

new the fact that there were no module exchange at exchanges during the plant at Trinity Colllege, two new quarter. During the three months

ended January 31, 2023, there were module exchanges at the plant in Woodbridge, CT, which originally achieved commercial operations in

fiscal year 2017, and 12 new module exchanges at the plants owned by Korea Southern Power Company in Korea, which achieved

commercial operations in fiscal year 2018. The increase in revenues for the nine months ended July 31, 2023 is primarily due to the fact that

15 new module exchanges occurred during the period, while there were fewer module exchanges during the nine months ended July 31, 2022.

Cost of service agreements revenues increased $27.5 million decreased $9.1 million to $40.6 million $1.9 million for the nine three months

ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 from $13.1 million $10.9 million for the nine three months ended July 31, 2022 January 31, 2023. Cost of

service agreements revenues includes maintenance and operating costs and costs of module exchanges. The increase is primarily due to the

fact that 15 new module exchanges occurred during the nine months ended July 31, 2023, while decrease reflects lower costs as there were

fewer no module exchanges during the nine three months ended July 31, 2022 January 31, 2024.

Overall gross profit loss from service agreements revenues was $9.3 million $0.3 million for the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January

31, 2024, which increased decreased from a gross profit of $0.7 million $2.9 million for the nine three months ended July 31, 2022 January 31,

2023. The overall gross margin was 18.6% (16.8)% for the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 compared to a gross

margin of 5.3% 21.2% in the comparable prior  year period. Gross margin was higher lower during the nine three months ended July 31,

2023 January 31, 2024 primarily due to the fact that 15 new module exchanges were completed during the nine months ended July 31, 2023

(compared to fewer lack of module exchanges during the nine months ended July 31, 2022) quarter and the fact that such the comparable prior

year quarter included module exchanges that were performed pursuant to service agreements with higher margins.

The Company completed a multi-year fleet upgrade in fiscal year 2023 and is now entering a lighter module replacement cycle based on the

deployment of longer life modules during the fleet upgrade. As a result, we expect lower service agreements revenues in fiscal year 2024

compared to fiscal year 2023. The Company currently does not expect any module exchanges to occur until the fourth quarter of fiscal year

2024.
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Generation revenues

Generation revenues and related costs for the three months ended January 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

Three Months Ended January 31, Change

(dollars in thousands)      2024      2023      $      %

Generation revenues $ 10,493 $ 9,557 $ 936 10%

Cost of generation revenues 20,894 16,602 4,292 26%

Gross loss from generation revenues $ (10,401) $ (7,045) $ (3,356) (48)%

Generation revenues gross margin (99.1)% (73.7)%

Revenues from generation for the three months ended January 31, 2024 totaled $10.5 million, which represents an increase of $0.9 million

from revenue recognized of $9.6 million for the three months ended January 31, 2023. The increase reflects revenue of $0.5 million generated

by the Toyota Project, which became operational during the three months ended January 31, 2024, and revenue of $2.1 million generated by

the 14.0 MW Derby Fuel Cell Project and the 2.8 MW SCEF Fuel Cell Project, both located in Derby, Connecticut (collectively, the “Derby

Projects”), both of which became operational in December 2023, offset by lower revenue from other plants due to lower output resulting from

routine maintenance activities. Generation revenues for the three months ended January 31, 2024 and 2023 reflect revenue from electricity

generated under our power purchase agreements (“PPAs”) and the sale of renewable energy credits.

Cost of generation revenues totaled $20.9 million in the three months ended January 31, 2024, compared to $16.6 million in the three months

ended January 31, 2023. The overall increase in cost of generation revenues is related to the increased
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Generation revenues

Generation revenues and related costs for the nine months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

Nine Months Ended July 31, Change

(dollars in thousands)      2023      2022      $      %

Generation revenues $ 28,979 $ 27,423 $ 1,556 6%

Cost of generation revenues 51,166 42,978 8,188 19%

Gross loss from generation revenues $ (22,187) $ (15,555) $ (6,632) 43%

Generation revenues gross margin (76.6)% (56.7)%

Revenues from generation for the nine months ended July 31, 2023 totaled $29.0 million, which represents an increase of $1.6 million from

revenue recognized of $27.4 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2022. Generation revenues for the nine months ended July 31, 2023

and 2022 reflect revenue from electricity generated under our PPAs and the sale of renewable energy credits. The increase in generation

revenues in the nine months ended July 31, 2023 is primarily due to the fact that we recorded a full nine-months of generation revenues

associated with the Long Island Power Authority (“LIPA”) project in Yaphank, New York (which achieved commercial operations in December

2021) and the fact that the Groton Project achieved commercial operations and began generating revenues in the first quarter of fiscal year

2023.

Cost of generation revenues totaled $51.2 million in the nine months ended July 31, 2023. The increase from the comparable prior year period

was primarily due to expensed construction and gas costs of approximately $17.8 million related to the Toyota project (while expensed

construction costs for the comparable prior year period were $14.0 million) and costs of approximately $5.7 million related to the increased size

of the installed fleet with the Groton Toyota Project and Derby Projects achieving commercial operations offset by lower operating costs for

existing plants due to efficiencies resulting from plant in the three months ended January 31, 2024 as well as maintenance activities performed

at the Tulare and module exchanges.   Cost of generation revenues also includes an impairment charge of $2.4 million for Groton projects

during the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 relating January 31, 2024. Both periods include expensed construction and gas costs related

to the Toyota Project, which were $3.5 million in three months ended January 31, 2024, compared to $7.6 million in the three months ended
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January 31, 2023. During the three months ended January 31, 2024, the Company incurred a mark-to-market loss of $1.9 million related to a

project asset for natural gas purchase contract. There was no comparable loss in the prior year as the Company changed its designation from

normal purchase normal sale in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2023 as a result of net settling certain natural gas purchases under a previous

normal purchase normal sale contract designation, which resulted in a PPA was ultimately not awarded.

change to mark-to-market accounting. Cost of generation revenues included depreciation and amortization of approximately $14.9 million $6.8

million and $11.8 million $4.2 million for the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and 2022, respectively. 2023,

respectively.

We currently have four projects with fuel sourcing risk, which are the Toyota Project, which requires procurement of renewable natural gas

(“RNG”), and our 14.0 MW and 2.8 MW Derby Projects, and our 7.4 MW project in Yaphank Long Island (the “Yaphank Project”), which require

natural gas for which there is no pass-through mechanism. A two-year (through May of 2025) fuel supply contract has been executed for the

Toyota Project. Six-year (through October 2029) fuel supply contracts have been executed for the 14.0 MW and 2.8 MW Derby Projects. We

are currently in the midst of a seven-year contract (through September 2028) for our 7.4 MW Yaphank Project. The increase Company will look

to extend the duration of these contracts should market and credit conditions allow.   If the Company is unable to secure fuel on favorable

economic terms, it may result in gross loss from generation revenues is primarily related impairment charges to the $17.8 million of costs being

expensed related to Derby Project asset or the Yaphank Project asset and further charges for the Toyota project, partially offset by higher

margins Project asset.

We had 62.8 MW of operating power plants in our generation operating portfolio as of January 31, 2024, which increased from 43.7 MW as of

January 31, 2023 and which includes the operating fleet (due Derby Projects and the Toyota Project, all of which became operational in part to

the higher operating output of the generation fleet portfolio) compared to the nine months ended July 31, 2022. December 2023.

Advanced Technologies contract revenues

Advanced Technologies contract revenues and related costs for the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and 2022 2023

were as follows:

Nine Months Ended July

31, Change Three Months Ended January 31, Change

(dollars in thousands)      2023      2022      $      %      2024      2023      $      %

Advanced Technologies contract revenues $ 12,945 $ 14,005 $ (1,060) (8)% $ 4,581 $ 4,539 $ 42 1%

Cost of Advanced Technologies contract revenues 10,779 10,408 371 4% 3,243 3,260 (17) (1)%

Gross profit from Advanced Technologies contracts $ 2,166 $ 3,597 $ (1,431) (40)% $ 1,338 $ 1,279 $ 59 5%

Advanced Technologies contract gross margin 16.7% 25.7% 29.2% 28.2%

Advanced Technologies contract revenues decreased increased slightly to $12.9 million $4.6 million for the nine three months ended July 31,

2023 January 31, 2024 from $14.0 million $4.5 million for the nine three months ended July 31, 2022 January 31, 2023. Compared to the

nine three months ended July 31, 2022 January 31, 2023, Advanced Technologies contract revenues recognized under the EMTEC our Joint

Development Agreement with ExxonMobil Technology and Engineering Company (formerly known as ExxonMobil Research and Engineering

Company) (“EMTEC”) were approximately $0.7 million $0.1 million higher during the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024

and revenue recognized under government contracts and other contracts were approximately $1.8 million $0.1 million lower for the nine three

months ended July 31, 2023 as a result January 31, 2024. Advanced Technologies contract revenues for the first quarter of fiscal year 2024

also include revenues arising from the allocation purchase order received from Esso Nederland B.V. (“Esso”), an affiliate of engineering

resources during the period based on the scope of the contracts in the period. EMTEC and Exxon Mobil Corporation.

Cost of Advanced Technologies contract revenues were $10.8 million $3.2 million for the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31,

2024, compared to $10.4 million $3.3 million for the same period in the prior year.

Advanced Technologies contracts for the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and 2023 generated a gross profit of $2.2

million compared to a gross profit of $3.6 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2022 $1.3 million. The lower slight increase in gross profit

was due primarily to the higher revenues and lower costs recognized under government and other contracts during the three months ended

January 31, 2024 compared to the three months ended January 31, 2023.
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due to the higher costs recognized under government contracts during the nine months ended July 31, 2023, offset by favorable

margins under the EMTEC Joint Development Agreement during the nine months ended July 31, 2023 compared to the nine months

ended July 31, 2022.

Administrative and selling expenses

Administrative and selling expenses were $47.6 million $16.4 million and $64.4 $15.0  million for the nine three months ended July 31,

2023 January 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, respectively. The nine months ended July 31, 2022 included non-recurring legal expenses of $24.0

million associated with the settlement of the Company’s disputes with POSCO Energy and KFC. Excluding the $24.0 million in legal fees,

administrative Administrative and selling expenses were higher during the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 than during

the nine three months ended July 31, 2022 January 31, 2023 primarily due to an increase in compensation expense resulting from an increase

in headcount in support of sales, marketing and business expansion.  

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses increased to $43.0 million $14.4 million for the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024

compared to $22.3 million $12.7 million for the nine three months ended July 31, 2022 January 31, 2023. The increase is primarily due to an

increase in spending, including spending for labor and materials, on the Company’s ongoing commercial development efforts related to our

solid oxide power generation and electrolysis platforms and carbon separation and carbon capture recovery solutions compared to the

comparable prior year period.

Loss from operations

Loss from operations for the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 was $99.7 million $42.5 million compared to $101.1

million $22.5 million for the nine three months ended July 31, 2022 January 31, 2023. This decrease increase was driven primarily by decreased

administrative a $17.0 million increase in gross loss and selling a $3.1 million increase in operating expenses compared to for the nine three

months ended July 31, 2022, offset by higher research and development expenses compared to the nine months ended July 31, 2022 January

31, 2024. The decrease in loss from operations was also due, in part, to a lower gross loss of $9.1 million in the nine months ended July 31,

2023, compared to gross loss of $14.4 million in the nine months ended July 31, 2022. The lower gross loss was driven by higher service

agreements gross margin, partially offset by an increase of $3.8 million in non-capitalizable costs related to construction of the Toyota project,

and an increase in generation gross loss as a result of the project asset impairment charge of $2.4 million (excluding the impact of non-

capitalizable costs related to construction of the Toyota project).  

Interest expense

Interest expense for the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 was $4.9 million $2.3 million and $4.8

million $1.5 million, respectively. Interest expense for both periods the three months ended January 31, 2024 includes interest on the OpCo

Financing Facility (as defined elsewhere herein), which was entered into in May 2023, interest on the Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and

the Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility (in each case as defined elsewhere herein), which were entered into in August 2023, and

interest on the Crestmark sale-leaseback transactions. Interest expense for the three months ended January 31, 2023 includes interest

associated with finance obligations for failed sale-leaseback transactions and interest on the loans associated with the Bridgeport Fuel Cell

Project, which were terminated in May 2023.

Interest income

Interest income was $11.1 million $4.1 million and $1.0 million $3.4 million for the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and

2022, 2023, respectively. Interest income for the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 represents $8.7 million of interest

earned on money market investments and $2.4 million of interest earned on U.S. Treasury Securities.

Gain on extinguishment of finance obligations and debt, net

The gain on extinguishment of finance obligations and debt, net was $15.3 million for the nine months ended July 31, 2023 and represents the

gain on the payoff of the PNC finance obligations (which occurred in May 2023), offset by the write-off of debt issuance costs.
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Other (expense) income, net

Other (expense) income, net was $0.2 million ($3.7) million and $0.1 million $49.0 thousand for the nine three months ended July 31,

2023 January 31, 2024 and 2022, respectively, and primarily represents net foreign currency exchange gains 2023, respectively. Expense for

each the three months ended January 31, 2024 relates to a loss on the OpCo Financing Facility interest rate swap derivative of $3.5 million as

a result of a decrease of approximately 100 basis points in the nine month periods ended July 31, 2023 and 2022. Secured Overnight

Financing Rate (“SOFR”).

Provision for income taxes

We have not paid federal or state income taxes in several years due to our history of net operating losses, although we have paid foreign

income and withholding taxes in Korea. Provision for income tax recorded for the nine three months ended
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July 31,  January 31, 2024 and 2023 was $0 and 2022 was $0.6 million and $0.5 million, respectively. The provision for income tax recorded for

the nine months ended July 31, 2023 reflects the realization of withholding taxes on customer deposits.

Series B preferred stock dividends

Dividends recorded on our 5% Series  B Cumulative Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock (“Series  B Preferred Stock Stock”) were $2.4

million $0.8 million for each of the nine three month periods ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and 2022. 2023.

Net loss income attributable to noncontrolling interests

Net loss income attributable to noncontrolling interests is the result of allocating profits and losses to noncontrolling interests under the

hypothetical liquidation at book value (“HLBV”) method. HLBV is a balance sheet-oriented approach for

24

Table of Contents

applying the equity method of accounting when there is a complex structure, such as the flip structure of our tax equity financings with East

West Bank Bancorp, Inc. (“East West Bank”), Renewable Energy Investors, LLC (“REI”), and REI. Franklin Park 2023 FCE Tax Equity Fund,

LLC (“Franklin Park”).

For the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and 2023, net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest totaled $3.6 million

and $2.9 million, respectively, for the Groton Project tax equity financing transaction with East West Bank.

For the three months ended January 31, 2024 and 2023, net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interest totaled $1.4 million ($0.3)

million and $0.4 million, respectively, for the LIPA Yaphank project Project tax equity financing transaction with REI.

For the nine three months ended July 31, 2022 January 31, 2024, net loss allocated attributable to noncontrolling interest totaled $5.0

million $20.7 million for the LIPA Yaphank Derby Projects tax equity financing transaction with REI. Franklin Park. The net loss for the nine

months ended July 31, 2022 was is primarily driven by the Investment Tax Credit (“ITC”) attributable to the noncontrolling interest for the
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2021 2023 tax year.   The ITC reduces the noncontrolling interests’ interest’s claim on hypothetical liquidation proceeds in the HLBV

waterfall. waterfall and is nonrecurring.   This reduction in liquidation proceeds drove the loss in the nine three months ended July 31,

2022 January 31, 2024.

​

For the nine months ended July 31, 2023, net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests totaled $2.8 million for the Groton Project tax equity

financing transaction with East West Bank. There was no comparable net loss for the nine three months ended July 31, 2022 January 31, 2023,

as the Groton Project tax equity transaction closed and the Groton Project Derby Projects began operations in the first quarter of fiscal year

2023. The net loss for the nine months ended July 31, 2023 is primarily driven by the ITC attributable to the noncontrolling interest for the 2022

tax year.  The ITC reduces the noncontrolling interests’ claim on hypothetical liquidation proceeds in the HLBV waterfall.  This reduction in

liquidation proceeds drove the loss in the nine months ended July 31, 2023. 2024.

Net loss attributable to common stockholders and net loss per common share

Net loss attributable to common stockholders represents the net loss for the period less the preferred stock dividends on the Series B Preferred

Stock. For the nine month three-month periods ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, net loss attributable to common

stockholders was $79.6 million $20.6 million and $102.7 million $19.4 million, respectively, and net loss per common share was $0.19 and

$0.27, respectively. $0.05 in both periods.

The decrease increase in the net loss attributable to common stockholders for the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 is

primarily due to the lower higher operating expenses and a higher gross loss for during the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31,

2024 which was partially offset by net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests totaling $24.6 million in the period, primarily due to the tax

equity financing transaction related to the Derby Projects, compared to $2.5 million in the nine three months ended July 31, 2022 January 31,

2023.

The lower net loss per common share for the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 as compared to the nine months ended July 31, 2022 is

primarily due to the lower net loss attributable to common stockholders and January 31, 2024 benefited from the higher number of weighted

average shares outstanding due to share issuances since July 31, 2022 January 31, 2023. The net loss per common share for the three

months ended January 31, 2024 also benefited from the net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests due to the tax equity financing

transaction related to the Derby Projects of approximately $0.05 per share compared approximately $0.01 per share in the three months ended

January 31, 2023.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Overview, Cash Position, Sources and Uses

Our principal sources of cash have been proceeds from the sale of our products and projects, electricity generation revenues, research and

development and service agreements with third parties, sales of our common stock through public equity offerings, and proceeds from debt,

project financing and tax monetization transactions. We have utilized this cash to accelerate the commercialization of our solid oxide platforms,

develop new capabilities to separate and capture carbon, develop and construct project assets, invest in capital improvements and expansion

of our operations, perform research and development, pay down existing outstanding indebtedness, and meet our other cash and liquidity

needs.

As of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, unrestricted cash and cash equivalents totaled $303.7 million $297.5 million compared to $458.1

million $250.0 million as of October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023. During the nine year ended October 31, 2023 and the three months ended July

31, 2023 January 31, 2024, the Company invested in United States (U.S.) Treasury Securities. Securities, all of which had matured as of
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January 31, 2024. The amortized cost of the U.S. Treasury Securities outstanding totaled $77.4 million as of July 31, 2023 (compared to $0 as

of October 31, 2022) January 31, 2024 compared to $103.8 as of October 31, 2023 and is classified as Investments – - short-term on the

Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The maturity dates for the outstanding U.S. Treasury Securities range Company, from August 8, 2023 time to October 26, 2023.

On July 12, 2022, the Company entered into an time, has offered and sold shares under its Open Market Sale Agreement with Jefferies LLC, B.

Riley Securities, Inc. (as defined in Note 11. “Stockholders’ Equity”). During the quarter ended January 31, 2024, Barclays Capital Inc., BMO

Capital Markets Corp., BofA Securities, Inc., Canaccord Genuity LLC, Citigroup Global Markets Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Loop

Capital Markets LLC (the “Open Market Sale Agreement”) with respect to an at the market offering program no sales were made under which

the Company may, from time to time, offer and sell up to 95.0 million shares of the Company’s common stock. From the date of the Open

Market Sale Agreement through July 31, 2023, the Company sold approximately 60.8 million Agreement. In order to sell additional shares

under the Open Market Sale Agreement, at an average sale price of $2.67 per share. Of this 60.8 million shares, approximately 57.4 million

shares were issued and settled on or prior to July 31, 2023 resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $155.0 million before deducting sales

commissions and fees and net proceeds of approximately $151.2 million after deducting sales commissions and fees totaling approximately

$3.8 million. During the nine months ended July 31, 2023, approximately 42.3 million shares were sold under the Open Market Sale Agreement

at an average sale price of $2.26 per share. Of this 42.3 million shares, approximately 38.9 million shares were issued and settled during the

nine month period ended July 31, 2023 resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $88.0 million before deducting sales commissions and

fees and net proceeds of approximately $85.9 million after deducting sales commissions and fees totaling approximately $2.1 million. During

the three months ended July 31, 2023, approximately 41.3 million shares were sold under the Open Market Sale Agreement at an average sale

price of $2.24 per share. Of this 41.3 million shares, approximately 37.9 million shares were issued and settled during the three month period

ended July 31, 2023, resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $85.1 million before deducting sales commissions and fees, and net

proceeds of approximately $83.3 million after deducting sales commissions and fees totaling approximately $1.8 million. The balance of

approximately 3.4 million shares was settled subsequent to July 31, 2023, resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $7.4 million before

deducting sales commissions and fees, and net proceeds of approximately $7.3 million after deducting sales commissions and fees totaling

approximately $0.1 million. Subsequent to the end of the quarter, the Company sold approximately 2.0 million shares of its common stock

under the Open Market Sale Agreement at an average price of $2.14 per share, resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $4.3 million

before deducting sales commissions and fees, and net proceeds of approximately $4.2 million after deducting sales commissions and fees

totaling approximately $0.1 million.

As of the date of this report, approximately 32.2 million shares are available for issuance under the Open Market Sale Agreement. The

Company currently intends to use the net proceeds from this offering to accelerate the development and commercialization of its product

platforms (including, but not limited to, its solid oxide and carbon capture platforms), for project development, market development, and internal

research and development, to invest in capacity expansion for solid oxide and carbonate fuel cell manufacturing, and for project financing,

working capital support, and general corporate purposes. The Company may also use the net proceeds from this offering to invest in joint

ventures, acquisitions, and strategic growth investments and to acquire, license or invest in products, technologies or businesses that

complement its business.

During the third quarter of fiscal year 2023, the Company entered into must file a project financing facility (which is referred to as the “OpCo

Financing Facility”) in the amount of $80.5 million, which was partially used to extinguish certain existing debt, to partially repay other existing

debt, and to repurchase project assets under sale-leaseback transactions, resulting in $46.1 million of net proceeds. See Note 15. “Debt” for

additional information regarding the OpCo Financing Facility.

prospectus
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supplement covering such sales under its Registration Statement on Form S-3, which was filed in October 2023. See Note 11. “Stockholders’

Equity” for additional information regarding the Open Market Sale Agreement.
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During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2023, the Company closed on a tax equity financing transaction with Franklin Park 2023 FCE Tax Equity

Fund, LLC (“Franklin Park”), a subsidiary of Franklin Park Infrastructure, LLC, for two fuel cell power plant installations -- the 14.0 MW Derby

Fuel Cell Project and the 2.8 MW SCEF Fuel Cell Project, both located in Derby, Connecticut (collectively, the “Derby Projects”). Franklin Park’s

tax equity commitment with respect to the Derby Projects totals $30.2 million. Of this amount, approximately $9.1 million was received on

October 31, 2023 and the remaining approximately $21.1 million was received during the three months ended January 31, 2024. In connection

with the initial closing of this tax equity financing transaction in fiscal year 2023, the Company paid closing costs of approximately $1.8 million,

which included appraisal fees, title insurance expenses and legal and consulting fees.

During the three months ended January 31, 2024, the Company completed the Technical Improvement Plan to bring the Groton Project

(defined elsewhere herein) to its rated capacity and the Groton Project reached its design rated output of 7.4 MW. The Company achieved all

conditions precedent required for the first annual funding from East West Bank and, as a result, the Company received a $4.0 million

contribution during the three months ended January 31, 2024 which is recorded as noncontrolling interest on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

We believe that our unrestricted cash and cash equivalents, expected receipts from our contracted backlog funds received upon the maturity of

U.S. Treasury Securities, and release of short-term restricted cash less expected disbursements over the next twelve months will be sufficient

to allow the Company  to  meet its obligations for at least one  year from the date of issuance of the financial statements included in this

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

To date, we have not achieved profitable operations or sustained positive cash flow from operations. The Company’s future liquidity, for the

remainder of fiscal year 2023 2024 and in the long-term, will depend on its ability to (i)  timely complete current projects in process within

budget, (ii) increase cash flows from its generation operating portfolio, including by meeting conditions required to timely commence operation

of new projects, operating its generation operating portfolio in compliance with minimum performance guarantees and operating its generation

operating portfolio in accordance with revenue expectations, (iii)  obtain financing for project construction and manufacturing expansion,

(iv)  obtain permanent financing for its projects once constructed, (v)  increase order and contract volumes, which would lead to additional

product sales, service agreements and generation revenues, (vi) obtain funding for and receive payment for research and development under

current and future Advanced Technologies contracts, (vii) successfully commercialize its solid oxide, hydrogen and carbon capture platforms,

(viii)  implement capacity expansion for solid oxide product manufacturing, (ix) implement the product cost reductions necessary to achieve

profitable operations, (x) manage working capital and the Company’s unrestricted cash balance and (xi) access the capital markets to raise

funds through the sale of debt and equity securities, convertible notes, and other equity-linked instruments.

We are continually assessing different means by which to accelerate the Company’s growth, enter new markets, commercialize new products,

and enable capacity expansion. Therefore, from time to time, the Company may consider and enter into agreements for one or more of the

following: negotiated financial transactions, minority investments, collaborative ventures, technology sharing, transfer or other technology

license arrangements, joint ventures, partnerships, acquisitions or other business transactions for the purpose(s) of geographic or

manufacturing expansion and/or new product or technology development and commercialization, including hydrogen production through our

carbonate and solid oxide platforms and storage and carbon capture, sequestration and utilization technologies.

Our business model requires substantial outside financing arrangements and satisfaction of the conditions of such arrangements to construct

and deploy our projects to facilitate the growth of our business. The Company has invested capital raised from sales of its common stock to

build out its project portfolio. The Company has also utilized and expects to continue to utilize a combination of long-term debt and tax equity

financing (e.g., sale-leaseback transactions, partnership flip transactions and the monetization and/or transfer of eligible investment and

production tax credits) to finance its project asset portfolio as these projects commence commercial operations, particularly in light of the

passage of the Inflation Reduction Act in August 2022. The Company may also seek to undertake private placements of debt securities of a

portfolio of assets to finance its project asset portfolio. The proceeds of any such financing, if obtained, may allow the Company to reinvest

capital back into the business and to fund other projects. We may also seek to obtain additional financing in both the debt and equity markets in

the future. If financing is not available to us on acceptable terms if and when needed, or on terms acceptable to us or our lenders, if we do not

satisfy the conditions of our financing arrangements, if we spend more than the financing approved for projects, if project costs exceed an

amount that the Company can finance, or if we
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do not generate sufficient revenues or obtain capital sufficient for our corporate needs, we may be required to reduce or slow planned

spending, reduce staffing, sell assets, seek alternative financing and take other measures, any of which could have a material adverse effect

on our financial condition and operations.

Generation Operating Portfolio, Project Assets, and Backlog

To grow our generation operating portfolio, the Company will expects to continue to invest in developing and building turn-key fuel cell projects,

which will be owned by the Company and classified as project assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. This strategy requires liquidity and

the Company expects to continue to have increasing liquidity requirements as project sizes increase and more projects are added to backlog.

We may commence building project assets upon the award of a project or execution of a multi-year PPA with an end-user that has a strong

credit profile. Project development and construction cycles, which span the time between securing a PPA and commercial operation of the

platform, vary substantially and can take years. As a result of these project cycles and strategic decisions to finance the construction of certain

projects, we may need to make significant up-front investments of resources in advance of the receipt of any cash from the sale or long-term

financing of such projects. To make these up-front investments, we may use our working capital, seek to raise funds through the sale of equity

or debt securities, or seek other financing arrangements. Delays in construction progress and completing current projects in process within

budget, or in completing financing or the sale of our projects may impact our liquidity in a material way.

47

Table of Contents

Our We believe our generation operating portfolio (43.7 MW as of July 31, 2023, which includes 7.4 MW attributed generally contributes to the

design rated output of the Groton Project although the Groton Project has been operating below its rated capacity at an output of approximately

6.0 MW since commencement of commercial operations) contributes higher long-term cash flows to the Company than if these projects had

been sold.  Our generation operating portfolio totaled 62.8 MW as of January 31, 2024. We expect generation revenue to continue to grow as

additional projects achieve commercial operation, but this revenue amount may also fluctuate from year to year depending on platform output,

operational performance and management and site conditions. The Company plans to continue to grow this portfolio while also selling certain

projects to investors. As of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, the Company had projects one project representing an additional 19.4 0.3 MW in

various stages of development, and construction, which projects are project is expected to generate operating cash flows in future periods, if

completed. Retaining long-term cash flow positive projects, combined with our service fleet, is expected to result in reduced reliance on new

project sales to achieve cash flow positive operations, however, operations and performance issues could impact results. We have worked with

and are continuing to work with lenders and financial institutions to secure construction financing, long-term debt, tax equity and sale-

leasebacks for our project asset portfolio, but there can be no assurance that such financing can be attained, or that, if attained, it will be

retained and sufficient.

As of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, net debt outstanding related to project assets was $94.9 million $110.7 million. Future required

payments, inclusive of principal and interest, totaled $110.8 million $134.8 million as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024. The outstanding

finance obligations under our sale-leaseback transactions, which totaled $18.8 million as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, include an

embedded gain of $8.7 million representing which $9.4 million represents the current carrying value of finance obligations less future required

payments, which will be recognized at the end of the applicable lease terms. payments.

Generation Operating Portfolio

Our generation operating portfolio provides us with the full benefit of future cash flows, net of any debt service requirements.
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The following table summarizes our generation operating portfolio as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024:

Project

Name

    Location    Power Off - Taker     Rated


Capacity


(MW) (1)

     Actual


Commercial


Project Name      Location      Power Off - Taker     

C

Central CT State University


(“CCSU”)

New Britain, CT CCSU (CT University)

Riverside Regional Water


Quality Control Plant

Riverside, CA City of Riverside (CA Municipality)

Pfizer, Inc. Groton, CT Pfizer, Inc.

Santa Rita Jail Dublin, CA Alameda County, California

Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project Bridgeport, CT Connecticut Light and Power Company (CT Utility)

Tulare BioMAT Tulare, CA Southern California Edison (CA Utility)

San Bernardino San Bernardino,

CA

City of San Bernardino Municipal Water Department

LIPA Yaphank Project Long Island, NY PSEG / LIPA, LI NY (Utility)

Groton Project Groton, CT CMEEC (CT Electric Co-op)

Toyota Long Beach, CA Southern California Edison; Toyota

Derby - CT RFP-2 Derby, CT Eversource/United Illuminating (CT Utilities)

SCEF - Derby Derby, CT Eversource/United Illuminating (CT Utilities)

Total MW Operating: 4

(1) Rated capacity is the platform’s design rated output as of the date of initiation of commercial operations, excep
Project commenced commercial operations in December 2022 operating at, and is and was as of July 31, 20
discussed in additional detail in footnote (2) below. The initial operating output of the Groton Project is and w
Improvement Plan described below in footnote (2) is fully implemented. Full implementation of the Technic
platform to its
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design rated output of 7.4 MW. Accordingly, rated capacity with respect to the Groton Proj
design rated output at the time of the full implementation of the Technical Improvement Plan.
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(2) As previously disclosed, the The Groton Project achieved commercial operations on Decembe
2022, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated PPA which modified and replace
agreement with CMEEC to allow the Groton Project to operate at a reduced output of approxim
Improvement Plan (“TIP”) is implemented with the goal of bringing the platform to its rated cap
31, 2023. In conjunction with entering into the Amended and Restated PPA, on December
CMEEC declared that the plants are commercially operational at 6 MW and CMEEC and the
purposes, the commercial operations date had been achieved. The Navy also provided its 
commercial operations at 6 MW. The Company is incurring and will continue to incur performa
Amended and Restated PPA as a result of was previously operating at an output below 7.4 
the TIP. Although the Company believes it will successfully implement the TIP and bring th
output of 7.4 MW by December 31, 2023, no assurance can be provided that such work will b
the plants do not reach an output of 7.4 MW by December 31, 2023, the Amended and Resta

and the Company will be subject to ongoing performance guarantee fees.

The following table summarizes projects in process, all of which are in backlog, as of July 31, 2023:

Project Name      Location      Power Off-Taker     

Toyota Los Angeles, CA Southern California Edison; Toyota

CT RFP-2 Derby, CT Eversource/United Illuminating (CT

Utilities)

SCEF - Derby Derby, CT Eversource/United Illuminating (CT

Utilities)

Trinity College Hartford, CT Trinity College

Total MW in Process:

(1) Rated capacity is the platform’s design rated output (including as of the date of initiation of com
operations. operations) at a reduced output of approximately 6.0 MW. During the three months
Groton Project reached its design rated output of 7.4 MW.

Generation Projects in Process

The projects listed During fiscal year 2022, we entered into a power purchase agreement with

Connecticut, for our 250 kW solid oxide fuel cell power generation system. Power and heat produced 

at Trinity’s campus in Hartford, Connecticut, to lower energy cost and enhance energy reliability 

currently under development and the solid oxide fuel cell power generation system is expected 

table second half of fiscal year 2024. Modules for our solid oxide platform are manufactured at our ma

development facility in various stages of  development or on-site construction Calgary, Alberta, Can

project updates are as follows:

● Toyota - Port of Long Beach, CA – The Toyota Project.This 2.8 MW Tri-gen platform
output of 2.3 MW), hydrogen and water. We have successfully completed the commissionin
Port of Long Beach for Toyota (the “Toyota project”), and it is producing power and water
meets the stringent purity specifications required for mobility applications. The plant is c
time, we are only waiting on the receipt of the final fire department and related building pe
achievement of commercial operations.

● Derby, CT.  On-site construction of this 14.0 MW project continues to advance and the Co
the construction and installation of the majority of the balance of plant components on s
required for the project. This utility scale fuel cell platform will contain five SureSource 300
installed on engineered platforms alongside the Housatonic River. To date, the Compan
$52.9 million into the project, and our current expectation is that this project will commence

fourth calendar quarter of 2023.

In addition, on-site civil construction of the 2.8 MW project located in Derby, CT is advanc

that this project will also commence commercial operations be fully assembled and integrat

calendar quarter of 2023. Connecticut.
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● Trinity College. During fiscal year 2022, we entered into a power purchase agreement w
Connecticut, for our 250 kW solid oxide fuel cell power generation system. Power and he
will be used at Trinity’s campus in Hartford, Connecticut, to lower energy cost and enhance
  This project is currently under development and the solid oxide fuel cell power generat
installed in the summer of 2024. Modules for our solid oxide platform are manufactur
research and development facility in Calgary, Alberta, Canada, and this project will be fully
our facilities in Connecticut.

Backlog by revenue category is as follows:

● Service agreements backlog totaled $136.6 million $140.4 million as of July 31, 2023 Ja
$112.2 million $99.9 million as of July 31, 2022 January 31, 2023. Service agreements back
revenue from maintenance and scheduled module exchanges for power plants under se
three months year ended July 31, 2023 October 31, 2023, the Company entered into a 14
Noeul Green Energy, Co. Ltd. (“Noeul Green Energy”) for their 20 MW plant in Korea
approximately $73 million $75.6 million.
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● Generation backlog totaled $915.1 million $0.86 billion as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024
billion as of July 31, 2022 January 31, 2023. Generation backlog represents future co
contracted PPAs or approved utility tariffs.

● Product There was no product backlog as of July 31, 2023 was $26 thousand, compared 
2022. January 31, 2024 and 2023.

● Advanced Technologies contract backlog totaled $11.6 million $23.4 million as of July 
compared to $30.2 million $26.8 million as of July 31, 2022 January 31, 2023. Advanced T
primarily represents remaining revenue under the EMTEC our Joint Development Agreeme
a purchase order valued at $11.6 million from Esso Nederland B.V. (“Esso”), an affiliate of
EMTEC, and remaining revenue under our government projects.

Overall, backlog decreased by approximately 17.2% 3.4% to $1.03 billion as of January 31, 2024, co

July 31, 2023 January 31, 2023, compared to $1.28 billion as of July 31, 2022, primarily as a resul

backlog due to the decision to not move forward with certain generation projects during the fourth q

also due, in part, to the timing of revenue recognition under product, generation, service and se

agreements since July 31, 2022 January 31, 2023. This decline in backlog was partially offset by new s

a result of the new service agreement with Noeul Green Energy entered into during the three mon

2023 October 31, 2023 and new Advanced Technologies contract backlog as a result of the purcha

during the quarter ended January 31, 2024.

Backlog represents definitive agreements executed by the Company and our customers. Projects fo

PPA are included in generation backlog, which represents future revenue under long-term PPAs. The 

revenue in the future under a PPA is subject to the Company’s completion of construction of the p

Should the Company not complete the construction of the project covered by a PPA, it will forgo futur

project and may incur penalties and/or impairment charges related to the project. Projects sold to custo

Company) are included in product sales and service agreements backlog, and the related generation 
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Together, the service and generation portion of backlog had a weighted average term of approxima

based on the dollar amount of backlog and utility service contracts of up to 20 years in duration at ince

Factors that may impact our liquidity

Factors that may impact our liquidity in the remainder of fiscal year 2023 2024 and beyond include:

● The Company’s cash on hand and access to additional liquidity. As of July 31, 2023 January 31
cash equivalents totaled $303.7 million and short-term investments in U.S. Treasury Securitie
securities have maturity dates ranging from August 8, 2023 to October 26, 2023 $297.5 million.

● We bid on large projects in diverse markets that can have long decision cycles and uncertain outc

● We manage our factory production rate based on expected demand and project schedules. Ch
time to implement. During the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, w
production rate of approximately 31.9 33.2 MW at our Torrington manufacturing facility, compare
rate for the nine months ended July 31, 2022 of 38.5 MW. During the three months ended July
annualized production rate January 31, 2023 of approximately 28.9 MW, compared to an a
approximately 36.5 MW for the three months ended July 31, 2022. 38.2 MW. This reduction in 
primarily due to reduced staffing moderating our production levels in our
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Torrington facility. The Company continuously evaluates its facility as a result of market demand t
and make adjustments to our production rate, including material and staffing levels, at our Torring
has determined that the current levels are sufficient to satisfy the current demand for carbona
demand.

● As project sizes and the number of projects evolve, project cycle times may increase. We may ne
investments of resources in advance of the receipt of any cash from the financing or sale of 
include development costs, interconnection costs, costs associated with posting of letters of cre
security, and engineering, permitting, legal, and other expenses.

● The amount of accounts receivable and unbilled receivables as of July 31, 2023 January
2022 October 31, 2023 was $56.2 million $48.5 million ($27.1 22.7 million of which is classified 
million $45.9 million ($9.7 25.8 million of which is classified as “Other assets”), respectively. 
represent revenue that has been recognized in advance of billing the customer under the term
Such costs have been funded with working capital and the unbilled amounts are expected to
customers once we meet the billing criteria
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under the contracts. Our accounts receivable balances may fluctuate as of any balance sheet da
individual contract milestones and progress on completion of our projects.

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

68/111

● The amount of total inventory as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and October 31, 2022
million $105.6 million ($7.5 2.7 million is classified as long-term inventory) and $98.5 million $9
classified as long-term inventory), respectively, which includes work in process inventory totaling 
$67.8 million $55.6 million, respectively. Work in process inventory can generally be deployed ra
inventory requires further manufacturing prior to deployment. To execute on our business pla
modules and procure balance of plant (“BOP”) components in required volumes to support our p
and potential customer contractual requirements. As a result, we may manufacture modules o
advance of receiving payment for such activities. This may result in fluctuations in inventory and 
balance sheet date.

● The amount of total project assets as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and October 31, 2022
million $260.8 million and $232.9 million $258.1 million, respectively. Project assets consist of 
projects that are operating and producing revenue or are under construction. Project assets as
2024 consisted of $170.4 million $260.1 million of completed, operating installations and $77.8 m
development. As of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, we had 43.7 62.8 MW of operating project a
attributed to the design rated output of the Groton Project although the Groton Project has b
capacity at an output of approximately 6.0 MW since commencement of commercial oper
million $10.5 million of revenue in the nine for three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024

● As of  July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, the Company had 19.4 a 0.3  MW of projects proj
construction. development. To build out this portfolio, project, as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 202
investment in project assets to be made during fiscal year 2023 2024 to be in the range of ap
million to $30.0 million, which includes amounts expensed for $10.0 million. This compares to 
approximately $53.0 million during fiscal year 2023. The expected reduction in such expenditures
to the completion of the Derby and Toyota project. Projects, and it is expected that the lower ex
will benefit the Company’s liquidity position.  To fund such the expected fiscal year 2024 expendit
use unrestricted cash on hand and to seek sources of construction financing. In addition, once th
become project becomes operational, the Company will seek to obtain permanent financing (tax 
be expected to return cash to the business. For the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 J
project asset expenditures  were $35.4 million $7.5 million. In addition, the Company expensed

project, which totaled $17.8 million $1.9 million for the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 Jan

● Certain of our PPAs for project assets in our generation operating portfolio and project assets un
fluctuating fuel price risks as well as the risk of being unable to procure the required amounts of 
available fuel sources. We seek to mitigate our fuel risk using strategies including: (i) fuel cost r
our PPAs to allow for pass through of fuel costs (full or partial) where possible, which we h
operating project in Bridgeport, CT; CT (the “Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project”); (ii) procuring fuel und
contracts with investment grade counterparties, which we have done for twenty years for our Tu
seven years of the eighteen year PPA for our LIPA Yaphank Project the initial two (through Sept
twenty year PPA for our 14.0 MW and 2.8 MW Derby project, Projects (through October 2029), a
twenty year hydrogen power purchase agreement for our Toyota project; Project (through May
entering into future financial hedges with investment grade counterparties to offset potential neg
Company does not take a fundamental view on natural gas or other commodity pricing and 

means to reduce commodity exposure.If the Company is unable to secure fuel on favorable ec
impairment charges.
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There are currently three projects in development with fuel sourcing risk, which are the T

procurement of RNG, and our Derby, CT 14.0 MW and 2.8 MW projects, both of which require na

pass-through mechanism. Two-year fuel supply contracts have been executed for the Toyota pr

in Derby, CT. The Company will look to extend the duration of these contracts should market an

sourcing and risk mitigation strategies for the 2.8 MW project in Derby, CT are being assesse

project operational dates become firm. Such strategies may require cash collateral or reser

contracts. If the Company is unable to secure fuel on favorable economic terms, it may result

Derby project assets and further charges for the Toyota project asset.
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● Commitments Expenditures for property, plant and equipment are expected to range between $6
$75.0 million for fiscal year 2024.  These amounts are in addition to the capital expenditures a
Company in fiscal year 2023 which includes expected investments in to upgrade our manu
carbonate (including carbon capture) and solid oxide production capacity expansion, the add
products and components, including the expansion of solid oxide manufacturing capac
upgrades Calgary facility to and expansion of our business systems. Actual cash outlay for suc
MW which is expected to be dependent on, among other things, the timing of receipt of equip
negotiated with suppliers, but we expect that cash for such capital expenditures will be expend
2024. To date completed in fiscal year 2023, 2024. We are also increasing the carbonate capabilit
expected growth in carbon capture and recovery. During the first quarter of fiscal year 202
expenditures have totaled approximately $28.0 million $10.6 million.

Included in projected expenditures associated with the capacity expansion for molten carbona

carbon capture platform manufacturing required for the assembly of the technology we joint

EMTEC. The solid oxide production capacity expansion is underway in our Calgary, Canada facili
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expected to increase the capacity of the facility from 1 MW to 10 MW per year of solid oxide fue

to 40 MW per year of solid oxide electrolysis cell (“SOEC”) production by the middle of fiscal year

We have made progress in advancing our carbonate and solid oxide platform capacity expansion

Carbonate Platform: At this time, the maximum annualized capacity (module manufacturin

conditioning) is 100 MW per year under the Torrington facility’s current configuration when

facility is sized to accommodate the eventual annualized production capacity of up to 200

capital investment in machinery, equipment, tooling, labor and inventory.

The Company continues to invest in capability with the goal of reducing production bottlen

including investments in automation, laser welding, and the construction of additional integra

Company also constructed a SureSource 1500 in Torrington during fiscal year 2022, which o

qualifying new supplier components and performance testing and validation of continued plat

year 2023, the Company is investing made investments to add engineered carbon separa

onsite SureSource 1500. This addition is expected to be completed in fiscal year 2024. This p

potential customers to observe the operating plant and, given the targeted market of food a

allow for the sampling and testing of separated recovered CO2 to verify quantity, quality or purit

Solid Oxide Platform: Platforms: The Company continues to invest in product development a

two solid oxide platforms: power generation and electrolysis.  Both platforms are based on the

lightweight, electrode supported cells, which are configured into compact, lightweight stacks

minimizes electrolyte materials, leading to very low use of rare earth minerals compared to o

and the electrodes do not require the platinum group materials that lower temperature system

also have very low electrical resistance, leading to high efficiency in both power generation an

provide integrated products with the goal of offering complete customer solutions.   Our 

integrated steam generation and hydrogen drying systems, so it will be fed with water, not 

hydrogen.  A steam supply can optionally be used to increase the electrical efficiency of th

(based on higher heating value). Our power generation platform can operate on natural g

blends, and is capable of combined heat and power operation at up to 80% efficiency (based o

During the nine months year ended July 31, 2023 October 31, 2023, Versa Power Systems Ltd

FuelCell Energy, entered into a lease expansion, extension and amending agreement which e

Versa Ltd. in Calgary, Alberta, Canada to include an additional approximately 48,000 square fe
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approximately 80,000 square feet of space. The Company took possession of part of the add

and took possession of the rest of the additional space on June 1, 2023 after certain leasehol

support increased manufacturing.  In addition, long-lead process equipment has been ordere

manufacturing capacity for the solid oxide platforms in Calgary. Upon the completion of the Ca

Company expects that it will be able to increase annual production capacity and that it will be

MW of annualized SOEC production per year. During the engineering and permitting phas

expansion project, the Company has designed in flexibility that would allow us to further incr

capacity at our Calgary facility to facilitate the potential annualized production of up to an 

SOECs per year by leasing additional space and investing in various process optimizations in

and yield. This approach would allow for the potential to increase our total annualized SOEC m

80 MW per year. Additional investments in our Torrington, CT manufacturing facility could a

solid oxide module assembly to further enhance overall SOEC manufacturing capacity. The C

additional staff for a 3-shift production operation to support the initial planned expansion to 4

additional staff as required in the future to realize the potential 80 MW of annualized SOEC pro

During calendar year 2023, our Calgary Our solid oxide manufacturing operation was expecte

process of building four units: two units that will run internally for advanced testing and two

externally. Of these commercial units for external delivery, one will be our electrolysis platform

Laboratory (“INL”), and the other will be our distributed power platform for delivery to Trinity C

for use under a
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long-term power purchase agreement. All four of these units are in the design, fabrication or m

INL unit expected to be operational in late calendar year 2023. the final stages of constructio

units are expected to be completed and delivered during calendar year 2024 depending

permitting and key component deliveries. If needed to accommodate future commercial orders

one or more of its planned internal units for commercial delivery.

The expansion of the Calgary manufacturing facility is phase 1 of the Company’s plann

production capability. While this expansion is expected to increase our production capacity fr

per year of SOECs, the Company also plans to add an additional 400 MW of solid oxide 

United States. Early facility design and engineering requirements have been developed, and 

an extensive search in the United States for a potential location for a new manufacturing facilit

to the Calgary facility. We anticipate announcing more details regarding our plans for solid o

respect to the Company’s investment in facility expansion into the United States later in th

market demand.

Lastly, the Company is in the process of examining or actively applying for various financ

Canada and the United States to provide subsidies, investment tax credits and other assistan
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capacity for clean energy manufacturing.

● Company-funded research and development expenses are expected to be in the range between 
$70.0 million for fiscal year 2023. 2024. During the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January
of $43.0 million $14.4 million of Company-funded research and development expenses as 
commercialization of our Advanced Technologies solutions including distributed hydrogen, h
energy storage and hydrogen power generation. The Company continues to advance its s
including increasing production of solid oxide fuel cell modules and expanding manufacturing cap
to work with INL on a demonstration high-efficiency electrolysis platform. This project, done
Department of Energy, is intended to demonstrate that the Company’s platform can operate at h
currently available electrolysis technologies through the inclusion of an external heat sourc
commercialization activity for the solid oxide platform, the Company recently commenced the d
advanced prototypes: (i) a 250 kW power generation platform, and (ii) a 1 MW high-efficienc
advanced prototypes are in process and expected to be completed during calendar year 2024.

● Under the terms of certain contracts, the Company will provide performance security for future
July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, we had pledged approximately $32.7 million $51.3 million of our 
collateral for performance security and for letters of credit for certain banking requirements and
increase with a growing backlog and installed fleet.
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● On August 16, 2022, the U.S. Inflation Reduction Act (“IRA”) was signed into law. The provisio
among other things, incentivize domestic clean energy investment, manufacturing and production
that provide incentives for clean energy through enhancement of the Investment Tax Credit (“I
Credits for clean energy component sourcing and production in the United States, enhancements
Revenue Code which provides credits for carbon oxide sequestration intended to incentivize inve
sequestration, and certain incentives for clean energy projects that use environmental brownfie
economically challenged areas. In addition, the IRA would provide a 10-year Production Tax Cred
clean hydrogen at a qualified facility that begins construction prior to January 1, 2033, with the o
the PTC. The Company views the enactment of the IRA as favorable for the overall b
manufacturers, however, the Company is continuing to evaluate the overall impact and ap
Company’s current and planned products and the markets in which the Company seeks to sell its

● As global policies evolve, there may be incentives available to the Company and potential 
accelerate the growth of   projects utilizing FuelCell Energy’s platform. We continue to see 
transition through legislation and economic incentives globally. For example, the European 
approximately $270 billion program that would offer tax breaks for businesses investing in net-z
the Korean Hydrogen Economy Roadmap aims to produce 6.2 million fuel cell electric vehicl
hydrogen refueling stations by 2040. Additionally,   Japan’s Sixth Strategy Energy Plan woul
sources through increased hydrogen production as well as the broad deployment of ca
sequestration technology.

Depreciation and Amortization

As the Company builds project assets and makes capital expenditures, depreciation and amortizat

increase. For the three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, depreciation 

million $8.6 million and $5.3 million $5.4 million, respectively (of these totals, approximately $5.4 

million $4.2 million for the three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 and 2022, respective

amortization of project assets in our generation operating portfolio). For the nine months ended July 31

and amortization totaled $18.7 million and $16.4 million, respectively (of these totals, approximately $

for the nine months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022, 2023, respectively, relate to depreciation of pro

operating portfolio) portfolio and amortization of a generation intangible asset).

Cash Flows

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents totaled $336.4 million $3

2023 January 31, 2024 compared to $481.0 million $299.6 million as of October 31, 2022 Octob
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2023 January 31, 2024, unrestricted cash and cash equivalents was $303.7 million $297.5 million com

million of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents as of October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023. As of Ju

restricted cash and cash equivalents was $32.7 million $51.3 million, of which $6.1 million $6.0 million

$26.7 million $45.4 million was classified as non-current, compared to $23.0 million $49.6 million 

equivalents as of October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023, of which $4.4 million $5.2 million was cla

million $44.5 million was classified as non-current.
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The following table summarizes our consolidated cash flows:

Nine Months Ended July 3

(dollars in thousands)      2023 2022

Consolidated Cash Flow Data:

Net cash used in operating activities $ (124,422) $ (88,08

Net cash used in investing activities (138,493) (39,48

Net cash provided by financing activities 118,161 147,32

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Effects on cash from changes in foreign currency rates 132 (32

Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted

cash $ (144,622) $ 19,42

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted

cash

The key components of our cash inflows and outflows were as follows:

Operating Activities – Net cash used in operating activities was $124.4 million $58.3 million during

July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, compared to $88.1 million $53.4 million of net cash used in operating 

months ended July 31, 2022 January 31, 2023.
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Net cash used in operating activities for the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 w

loss of $78.6 million $44.4 million, increases in inventory of $18.4 million, unbilled receivables of $

assets of $12.0 million $1.6 million and decreases in accounts receivable payable of $5.2 million $6.0 

liabilities of $4.0 million partially offset by an increase in deferred revenue of $22.3 million $1.2 million

million partially offset by a decrease in inventories accounts receivable of $5.3 million, an increase

million $0.5 million and non-cash adjustments of $18.2 million $17.8 million.
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Net cash used in operating activities for the nine three months ended July 31, 2022 January 31, 2023 w

loss of $105.2 million $21.1 million, increases in inventories of $22.8 million $10.3 million, unbilled re

other assets of $6.2 million $1.0 million and unbilled receivables of $0.2 million and a decrease decr

$2.0 million $18.1 million, accrued liabilities of $7.1 million and accounts payable of $1.1 million, p

accounts receivable of $2.0 million, increases in accrued liabilities of $14.5 million and accounts paya

and non-cash adjustments of $26.6 million $8.8 million.

Investing Activities – Net cash used in provided by investing activities was $138.5 million $86.9 mil

ended July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, compared to net cash used in investing activities of $39.5 m

nine three months ended July 31, 2022 January 31, 2023.

Net cash used in provided by investing activities for the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 Janu

million for the purchase of   U.S. Treasury Securities, $35.4 million of project asset expenditures

expenditures, offset by funds received from the maturity of U.S. Treasury Securities of $120.9 million

used of $125.4 million for the purchase of  U.S. Treasury Securities, $7.5 million of project asset exp

capital expenditures.

Net cash used in investing activities for the nine three months ended July 31, 2022 January 31, 202

million for the purchase of U.S. Treasury Securities, $7.8 million of capital expenditures and 

expenditures and $15.8 million of capital expenditures.

Financing Activities – Net cash provided by financing activities was $118.2 million $20.6 million durin

July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, compared to net cash provided by used in financing activities of $147.3

nine three months ended July 31, 2022 January 31, 2023.

Net cash provided by financing activities during the nine three months ended July 31, 2023 January 

million $25.1 million of net proceeds contributions received from sales of common stock a noncontro

partnership for the Derby and $80.5 million of proceeds from debt Groton Projects, offset by debt 

payments of debt issuance costs of $2.9 million $2.6 million, payments for taxes related to net share 

$0.4 million $1.0 million, payment of $2.4 million $0.8 million in preferred dividends and distribution to 

million $0.2 million.

Net cash provided by used in financing activities during the nine three months ended July 31, 2022 Ja

$145.4 million of net proceeds from sales of common stock and $11.9 million of net contributions

noncontrolling interest in the LIPA Yaphank Project, partially offset by debt repayments of $7.2 million $

for taxes related to net share settlement of equity awards of $0.3 million, payment of $2.4 millio

dividends and distribution to noncontrolling interest of $0.2 million $0.1 million.

Sources and Uses of Cash and Investments

In order to consistently produce positive cash flow from operations, we need to increase order flow

levels, leading to lower costs on a per unit basis. We also continue to invest in new product and m

result, we are not generating positive cash flow from our operations. Our operations are funded prim

from product sales, service contracts, generation assets and Advanced Technologies contracts, as we

linked securities, issuances of corporate and project level debt, and monetization of technology through
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Commitments and Significant Contractual Obligations

A summary of our significant commitments and contractual obligations as of July 31, 2023 Janua

payments by fiscal year are as follows:
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Payments Due by Period

(dollars in thousands)      Total     

Less than


1 Year     

1 – 3


Years     

3 – 5


Years     

M

5

Purchase commitments (1) $ 86,885 $66,456 $20,372 $ 57 $

Term loans (principal and interest) 111,423 16,233 25,853 19,863 4

Capital and operating lease commitments (2) 19,263 1,123 2,490 2,644 1

Operating lease commitments (2)

Sale-leaseback finance obligations (3) 10,113 1,471 2,903 2,583

Natural gas and biomethane gas supply contracts (4) 33,700 13,003 16,431 3,938

Series B Preferred dividends payable (5) - - - -

Totals $261,384 $98,286 $68,049 $29,085 $6

(1) Purchase commitments with suppliers for materials, supplies and services incurred in the normal c
(2) Future minimum lease payments on finance and  operating leases.
(3) Represents payments due under sale-leaseback transactions and related financing agreements b

owned subsidiaries and Crestmark Equipment Finance (“Crestmark”). Lease payments for each
agreements are generally payable in fixed quarterly installments over a 10-year period.

(4) During fiscal year 2020, the Company entered into a 7-year natural gas contract for the Company’s
with an estimated annual cost per year of $2.0 million, under which service began on Decembe
quarter of fiscal year 2023, the Company entered into a 2-year Biomethane gas contrac
project, Project, under which service began on May 1, 2023. Also, during the second quarter of f
entered into (a) a 29-month 6-year natural gas contract for the Company’s 14.0 MW Derby projec
began on June 1, 2023. , and (b) a 6-year natural gas contract for the Company’s 2.8 MW SCE
service began in November 2023. The costs of the contracts are expected to be offset by generatio

(5) We pay $3.2 million in annual dividends on our Series B Preferred Stock, if and when declared. Th
payment, if dividends are declared, has not been included in this table as we cannot reasonably d
able to convert the Series B Preferred Stock into shares of our common stock. We may, at our op
the number of shares of our common stock that are issuable at the then prevailing conversion 
common stock exceeds 150% of the then prevailing conversion price ($1,692 per share at July 3
20 trading days during any consecutive 30 trading day period.

Outstanding Loans as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024

OpCo Project Financing Facility

On May 19, 2023, FuelCell Energy Opco Finance 1, LLC (“OpCo Borrower”), a wholly owned subsidia

LLC (“FCEF”), which, in turn, is a wholly owned subsidiary of FuelCell Energy, Inc. (“Parent”), entere

(the (as amended, the “Financing Agreement”) with, by and among Investec Bank plc in its capa

Lender”), administrative agent (“Administrative Agent”), and collateral agent (“Collateral Agent”); Inve

arranger and sole bookrunner; Bank of Montreal (Chicago Branch) in its capacity as a lender (“BMO L

arranger; and each of Liberty Bank, Amalgamated Bank and Connecticut Green Bank as lenders (co

and BMO Lender, the “Lenders”) for a term loan facility in an amount not to exceed $80.5 million (the 

term loan, the “Term Loan”) and a letter of credit facility in an amount not to exceed $6.5 million (the 

the Term Loan Facility, the “OpCo Financing Facility”).

 

OpCo Borrower’s obligations under the Financing Agreement are secured by Parent’s interest in six

projects: (i) the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project, located in Bridgeport, Connecticut; (ii) the Central CT Stat

New Britain, Connecticut; (iii)  the Pfizer Project, located in Groton, Connecticut; (iv)  the LIPA Yap

Island, New York; (v) the Riverside Regional Water Quality Control Plant Project, located in Riverside

Rita Jail Project, located in Alameda County, California (each, a “Project” and collectively, the “Projects
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Immediately prior to the closing on the OpCo Financing Facility, which closing occurred on May 19

transferred to OpCo Borrower all of the outstanding equity interests in: (i) Bridgeport Fuel Cell, LLC (th
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Project Company”), the entity that owns the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project; (ii) New Britain Renewable En

Company”), the entity that owns the Central CT State University Project; (iii) Groton Fuel Cell 1, LLC (

the entity that owns the Pfizer Project; (iv)  Riverside Fuel Cell, LLC (the “Riverside Project Compa

Riverside Regional Water Quality Control Plant Project; (v) SRJFC, LLC (the “Santa Rita Project Comp

Santa Rita Jail Project; and (vi) Fuel Cell YT Holdco, LLC (the “Class B Member”), the entity that owns

interest in YTBFC Holdco, LLC (the “Yaphank Tax Equity Partnership”), the tax equity partnership with

LLC (the “Class A Member”), as tax equity investor, which Yaphank Tax Equity Partnership, in turn, o

LLC (the “Yaphank Project Company”), the entity that owns the LIPA Yaphank Project.

At the time of closing on the OpCo Financing Facility: (i)  the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project was

subordinated indebtedness to Liberty Bank, Fifth Third Bank and Connecticut Green Bank in the aggre

$11.4 million; and (ii) the Pfizer Project, the Riverside Regional Water Quality Control Plant Project a

were subject to sale and leaseback transactions and agreements with PNC Energy Capital, LLC (“PN

amounts, including sales taxes, were approximately $15.7 million, $3.7 million and $2.8 million, re

closing on the OpCo Financing Facility, all of the foregoing indebtedness and lease buyout amounts 

with proceeds of the Term Loan and funds of approximately $7.3 million that were released from restr

accounts held at PNC at the time of closing, resulting in the applicable project company’s companies

three leased projects from PNC, the termination of the agreements with PNC related to the sale-lea

termination of the senior and subordinated credit agreements with, the related promissory notes issu

and security agreements with, Liberty Bank, Fifth Third Bank and Connecticut Green Bank relate

Project. Further, in connection with the closing on the OpCo Financing Facility and the termination o

credit agreements with Liberty Bank, Fifth Third Bank and Connecticut Green Bank related to the Brid

Third Bank and the Bridgeport Project Company agreed that the obligations arising out of the swap 

their related interest rate swap agreement were terminated and waived and the swap agreement 

addition, in connection with closing on the OpCo Financing Facility, proceeds of the Term Loan we

Parent’s long-term indebtedness to Connecticut Green Bank in the amount of approximately $1.8 millio

 

At the closing, $80.5 million, the entire amount of the Term Loan portion of the OpCo Financing Fa

payment of fees and transaction costs (including fees to the Lenders and legal costs) of approximately

the remaining proceeds of approximately $77.6 million were used as follows: (i) approximately $15.0 m

the approximately $7.3 million released from restricted and unrestricted reserve accounts held at P

amounts and sales taxes referred to above and to re-acquire the three projects owned by 

(ii) approximately $11.4 million was used to extinguish the indebtedness to Liberty Bank, Fifth Third 

Bank relating to the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project; (iii) approximately $1.8 million was used to repay a

indebtedness to Connecticut Green Bank; (iv) $14.5 million was used to fund a capital expenditure r

maintained pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Financing Agreement (which is classifie

Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets); and (v)  approximately $34.9 million was distributed 

determines in its sole discretion. In addition, in connection with the extinguishment of the Company’s

and Fifth Third Bank referred to above, approximately $11.2 million of restricted cash was released

Bank and Fifth Third Bank. Taking into consideration the release of such funds, the total net proceed

transactions were approximately $46.1 million (which is classified as unrestricted cash on the Com

Sheets).
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The Term Loan portion of the OpCo Financing Facility will accrue interest on the unpaid principal amo

such Term Loan until the maturity date thereof at a rate per annum during each Interest Period 

Agreement) for such Term Loan equal to (A) with respect to SOFR Rate Loans, (i) the Adjusted Daily

Interest Period with respect to SOFR Rate Loans plus  (ii)  the Applicable Margin, and (B) with respe

Base Rate from time to time in effect plus  (ii)  the Applicable Margin (in each case as defined in th

Applicable Margin for SOFR Rate Loans is 2.5% for the first four years of the term and thereafter, 3

Base Rate Loans is 1.5% for the first four years of the term and thereafter, 2%. At the closing, in con

the entire amount of the Term Loan, OpCo Borrower elected to make such draw down a SOFR Ra

Period of three months. After the initial Interest Period of three months, OpCo Borrower may elect both

(i.e., one month, three months or six
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months) and whether the Term Loan will be treated as a SOFR Rate Loan or a Base Rate Loan for

payments are required to be made quarterly.

 

Quarterly principal amortization obligations are also required to be made (based on 17-year principa

fully repaid in 2039), with quarterly amortization payments based on a 1.30x debt service coverage ra

cash flows (before giving effect to module replacement expenses and module replacement drawdown 

a seven-year term, maturing on May 19, 2030.

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Financing Agreement, OpCo Borrower is required to m

reserve to pay for expected module replacements. The total reserve balance is required to reach $29.0

was funded out of the closing advance of the Term Loan and the remainder of which is to be funde

funding schedule through cash flows generated by the Projects set forth in the Financing Agreement f

through December 31, 2029.

 

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Financing Agreement, OpCo Borrower is required to main

not less than six months of the scheduled principal and interest payments. The letter of credit comp

Facility is for the purpose of obtaining letters of credit to satisfy such obligation; at the closing, an Irr

issued by Investec Bank plc as the issuing bank in favor of the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the 

million to satisfy the debt service reserve funding obligation.

Pursuant to the Financing Agreement, within 30 days of the financial close of the Financing Agr

required to enter into one or more hedge transactions, with a Lender or an affiliate thereof pursuan

agreements, to hedge OpCo Borrower’s interest rate exposure relating to the Term Loan from f

transactions are required to be in effect at all times during the entire amortization period and have a

subject to the hedge transactions at any time equal to at least 75% and no more than 105% of the agg

Term Loan outstanding (taking into account scheduled amortization of the Term Loan).

 

Upon closing, on May 19, 2023, OpCo Borrower entered into an ISDA 2002 Master Agreement (the 

and an ISDA Schedule to the 2002 Master Agreement (the “Investec Schedule”) with Investec Bank p

ISDA 2002 Master Agreement (the “BMO Master Agreement”) and an ISDA Schedule to the 2002 

Schedule”)  with Bank of Montreal (Chicago Branch) as a hedge provider. On May 22, 2023, OpCo 

trade confirmations for these interest rate swap agreements with these hedge providers to protect aga

in the floating SOFR rate associated with 100% of the aggregate principal balance of the Term Loan

terms of such agreements, OpCo Borrower will pay a fixed rate of interest of 3.716%. The net inter

Agreement and the swap transaction is 6.366% in the first four years and 6.866% thereafter. The ob

the hedge providers under the interest rate swap agreements are treated as obligations under th
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accordingly, are secured, on a pari passu basis, by the same collateral securing the obligations 

Financing Agreement, which collateral is described below.  The Company has not elected hedge ac

result, the derivative will be remeasured to fair value quarterly, with the resulting gains/losses recor

The fair value adjustment for the quarter ended January 31, 2024 resulted in a loss of $3.5 million. D

January 31, 2024, SOFR swap rates dropped by almost 100 basis points.

The Financing Agreement contains certain reporting requirements and other affirmative and ne

customary for transactions of this type. Included in the covenants are covenants that: (i)  the Yaph

ongoing three year extensions of its current gas agreement; (ii) any annual operating expense bud

Base Case Model (as defined in the Financing Agreement) for that year be approved by the Re

constituting more than 50% of the amounts loaned); (iii) OpCo Borrower maintain a debt service co

1.20:1.00 (based on the trailing 12 months and tested every six months); and (iv)  the Class B Mem

option to purchase the Class A Member’s interest in the Yaphank Tax Equity Partnership during the 

“flip “Flip Point” as set forth in the limited liability company agreement for the Yaphank Tax Equit

Agreement also contains customary representations and warranties and customary events of defa

Lenders to cause, the outstanding loans under the Financing Agreement to become immediately due a

 

The Term Loan may be prepaid at any time at the option of OpCo Borrower without premium or pena

costs” if such prepayment occurs other than at the end of an Interest Period. In addition, there are certa
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mandatory repayments required under the Financing Agreement, including in connection with any s

Projects or of any of the LIPA Yaphank Project, the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project or the Pfizer Project. If

of the Riverside Regional Water Quality Control Plant Project, the Santa Rita Jail Project or the
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Central CT State University Project, OpCo Borrower is required to prepay an amount of the Term Loa

value of the disposed Project.

Simultaneously with OpCo Borrower entering into the Financing Agreement, FCEF (as pledgor), Op

Bridgeport Project Company, the Pfizer Project Company, the Riverside Project Company, the San

CCSU Project Company and the Class  B Member, each as a subsidiary grantor party and guaran

Guarantee, Pledge and Security Agreement (the “Security Agreement”) with Investec Bank plc as 

which, as collateral for the Term Loan Facility, the LC Facility and the hedge agreements (i) FCEF 

security interest in all of FCEF’s equity interest in OpCo Borrower; (ii) OpCo Borrower granted to Colla

in all of OpCo Borrower’s assets consisting of its equity interests in the Bridgeport Project Company, th

Riverside Project Company, the Santa Rita Project Company, the CCSU Project Company and the Cla

Bridgeport Project Company, the Pfizer Project Company, the Riverside Project Company, the Santa 

CCSU Project Company granted to Collateral Agent a security interest in all of each such entity’s asse

respective generation facilities and project agreements; and (iv) the Class B Member granted to Colla
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in all of such Class B Member’s assets, consisting principally of its equity interest in the Yaphank Tax E

the Security Agreement, each of the subsidiary grantor parties jointly and severally guaranteed pay

secured by the Security Agreement.

 

Simultaneously with the execution of the Financing Agreement, OpCo Borrower,  Investec Bank 

Administrative Agent and Liberty Bank as Depositary Agent entered into a Depositary Agreement 

pursuant to which OpCo Borrower established certain accounts at Liberty Bank, all of which were p

security for the Term Loan Facility, the LC Facility and the hedge agreements, including a Revenue Ac

Account; a Redemption Account (for prepayments); a Capital Expenditure Reserve Account; and a Di

each case as defined in the Depositary Agreement). Pursuant to the terms of the Financing Ag

Agreement, OpCo Borrower may make quarterly distributions to FCEF and Parent provided that: (i) no

each case as defined in the Financing Agreement) exists under the OpCo Financing Facility; (ii)  al

funded; (iii) no letter of credit loans or unpaid drawings are outstanding with regard to any drawn dow

Facility; (iv) OpCo Borrower has maintained a greater than 1.20:1.00 debt service coverage ratio for th

and (v) no Cash Diversion Event (i.e., certain events that would adversely impact distributions to the C

with the LIPA Yaphank Project, as further defined in the Financing Agreement) has occurred. Beginnin

2025 and continuing until the quarter ending March 2026, prior to making contributions to the Debt Se

Capital Expenditure Reserve Account or having funds available for distribution, out of operating 

required to make a quarterly payment to the Administrative Agent (on behalf of the Lenders) in the am

to be applied to outstanding principal.
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Back Leverage Financing

On August 18, 2023, FuelCell Energy Finance Holdco, LLC (“Holdco Borrower”), a wholly owned subs

is a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent, entered into: (i) a Credit Agreement (the “Senior Back Leverag

and among Liberty Bank, in its capacities as a lender (“Liberty Lender”), administrative agent (the “

and lead arranger, and Amalgamated Bank, in its capacity as a lender (“Amalgamated Lender” and, c

the “Senior Back Leverage Lenders”), for a term loan facility in an amount not to exceed an aggregate 

50% by Liberty Lender and 50% by Amalgamated Lender (such facility, the “Senior Back Leverage 

loan, a “Senior Back Leverage Loan” and such term loans together, the “Senior Back Leverage Loans

(the “Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreement”) with Connecticut Green Bank, Loans a

“Subordinated Administrative Agent”) and lender (“Subordinated Back Leverage Lender”), for a term lo

exceed $8.0 million (such facility, the “Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility” and such term 

Leverage Loan”). The Senior Back Leverage Lenders and the Subordinated Back Leverage Lender are

“Back Leverage Lenders.”

Holdco Borrower’s obligations under the Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreement and the Subord

Agreement are secured by a lien on all of Holdco Borrower’s assets, consisting principally of its C

“Class B Interests”) in Groton Station Fuel Cell Holdco, LLC (the “Groton Tax Equity Holdco”).  Class

“Class A Interests”) in the Groton Tax Equity Holdco are held by East West Bank.  Holdco Borrower is 

the Groton Tax Equity Holdco.  The Groton Tax Equity Holdco’s primary asset is ownership of all of the

Groton Station Fuel Cell, LLC (the “Groton Project Company”).  The Groton Project Company, in tur

power plant at the U.S. Navy Submarine Base New London located in Groton, Connecticut (the “Groto

2019 additional context concerning the relationship among the parties with respect to the Senior Back L

Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility more fully described below, on December 16, 2022, the Gro

Parent entered into an Amended and Restated Power Purchase Agreement (the “Amended and Re
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Municipal Electric Energy Cooperative (“CMEEC”), pursuant to which the Groton Project Company a

CMEEC agreed to purchase from the Groton Project Company, all of the  electricity output produced b

to the terms and conditions  of the Amended and Restated PPA.

At the closing (the “Closing”) of each of the Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and the Subordinated

which occurred simultaneously on August 18, 2023 (the “Closing Date”), the entire amount of each

Loan Facility and the Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility was drawn down in the aggregate a

payment of fees and transaction costs (including fees to the Back Leverage Lenders and legal costs) o

the aggregate, the remaining proceeds of approximately $19.6 million were used as follows: (i) approx

to fund debt service reserve accounts (“DSCR Reserve Accounts”) for the Senior Back Leverage 

approximately $0.83 million for Liberty Lender and approximately $0.83 million for Amalgamated L

million was used to fund operations and maintenance and module replacement reserve accounts f

Lenders in equal amounts of approximately $3.25 million for Liberty Lender and approximately $3

Lender; (iii) approximately $0.3 million was used to fund a long-term DSCR Reserve Account for the

Lender; and (iv) the remaining amount of approximately $11.1 million was released to Parent from th

discussed in additional detail below, simultaneous with the Closing, a portion of the proceeds were use

Payments (which are cash payments required to be made by the Groton Project Company in the 

produces electricity in any year less than the minimum required amount for such year) totaling app

were deposited into a payment reserve account, and (b) pay approximately $3.0 million to Co

represented payment, in full, of all outstanding obligations under Parent’s loan agreement with the C

taking into account such Output Shortfall Payments and such payment to Connecticut Green Bank

million will be classified as unrestricted cash on the Company with Company’s Consolidated Balance S

The portion of the Senior Back Leverage Loan provided by Liberty Lender will accrue interest on

calculated from the date of such Senior Back Leverage Loan until the maturity date at a loan rate per

portion of $1.8 million the Senior Back Leverage Loan provided by Amalgamated Lender will accrue in

amount calculated from the date of such Senior Back Leverage Loan until the maturity date thereo

which a “Carbon Offset Event” is not continuing and 7.32% at all times at which a “Carbon
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Offset Event” has occurred and is continuing.  A “Carbon Offset Event” is deemed to occur if Holdco 

or indirect subsidiary thereof does not purchase carbon offsets from an Acceptable Carbon Offset Prov

time, the “Green Bank Loan Agreement”). On and effective as of December 19, 2019, the Company

entered into defined below) each fiscal year in an amendment amount equal to the Green Bank Loan

Amendment”). Upon lesser of (i) the execution of the Green Bank Amendment Annual Carbon Offse

year, which is derived based on December 19, 2019, Connecticut Green Bank made an additiona

Company in the aggregate principal amount of $3.0 million (the “December 2019 Loan”), which was to 

fees related to the May 9, 2019 acquisition of the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project and the related subordi

was terminated in May 2023), other fees and interest, and (ii) thereafter, for general corporate purpose

The Green Bank Amendment provided that, until such time as the loan (which included both the outsta

original loan under the Green Bank Loan Agreement and the outstanding principal amount of the De

repaid in its entirety, interest on the outstanding balance of the loan shall Senior Back Leverage Lo

Lender multiplied by the Groton Project’s annual carbon emissions for such year and divided by the to

Project, and (ii) the Annual Carbon Offset Cap for such fiscal year, which is $12.66 multiplied 

Requirement and divided by the Carbon Offset Price for such fiscal year. The “Carbon Offset Price” m

of carbon dioxide, of the carbon offsets available for purchase from an Acceptable Carbon Offset Pro

Offset Provider” is either Climate Vault or any other seller of carbon offsets acceptable to Amalgamated
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Quarterly principal amortization and interest payments are required to be made by Holdco Borrower 

Loans based on a ten-year amortization period.  The Senior Back Leverage Loans have a seven-year

2030, at which time all outstanding principal is due.

The Subordinated Back Leverage Loan will accrue interest at a rate per annum equal to 8% for the p

Down Date” and, after the “Step Down Date,” at the lesser of 8% per annum, payable by or the

monthly 10 year U.S. Treasury Note plus 275 basis in arrears. Interest payments made by the Com

minimum floor of 5% per annum).  The “Step Down Date” is the date on which both of the Green 

applied first to interest that had accrued on the outstanding principal balance of the original loan 

Agreement and then to interest that had accrued on the December 2019 Loan.

The Green Bank Amendment also modified the repayment and mandatory prepayment terms and e

forth following events have occurred: Holdco Borrower has purchased East West Bank’s Class A Intere

Loan Agreement. Under Groton Tax Equity Holdco and the Green Bank Amendment, Senior Back Leve

in full.  Interest is payable each quarter based on an agreed upon schedule.

Pursuant to the extent that Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility, during the “Interest Only Perio

Borrower is required to make quarterly payments of principal in amounts equal to 50% of excess cash

Credit Agreement, dated May 9, 2019, among Bridgeport Fuel Cell, LLC, Liberty Bank and Fifth T

Agreement”) (which was terminated in May 2023) were eligible for disbursement available to Bridgep

Section 6.23(c) Holdco Borrower.  For purposes of the BFC Credit Agreement, such funds were to 

Bank until foregoing, excess cash flow is all excess cash flow of Holdco Borrower after the loans were 

Amendment further provided that any unpaid balance payment of the loan required principal and all ot

Green Bank Loan Agreement would be due and payable on May 9, 2026. Finally, with respect to mand

Bank Amendment provided that, when the Company closed interest on the subordinated projec

Commitment Letter, dated February 6, 2019, issued by Connecticut Green Bank to Groton Station Fue

to provide a subordinated project term loan to Groton Fuel Cell Senior Back Leverage Loans, required 

reserve accounts, the payment of $5.0 million, interest on the Company would be required to prepay to

lesser of any then outstanding amount of the December 2019 Subordinated Back Leverage Loan an

subordinated project term loan actually advanced by Connecticut Green Bank.

In May 2023, $1.8 million of the then-outstanding balance under the Green Bank Loan Agreement w

balance under the Green Bank Loan Agreement as of July 31, 2023 was $3.0 million.

Holdco Borrower’s operating expenses.  Following the end of the quarter, “Interest Only Period,” princ

required to be made quarterly in quarterly level payments (“mortgage style”) of principal and interest u

the first to occur of 20 years following the Groton Project’s commercial operations date and term

Restated PPA.  The maturity date of the Subordinated Back Leverage Loan Facility is currently conte

2038.  The “Interest Only Period” is the period beginning on the Closing Date and ending the first to 

after the Closing Date; or (ii) the date the Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility has been fully repaid.

Each of the Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreement and the Subordinated Back Leverage Cred

reporting requirements and other affirmative and negative covenants which are customary for transa

the covenants are covenants that: (i) Holdco Borrower maintain a “Senior” debt service coverage ratio 

account debt service obligations on the Senior Back Leverage Loans) of not less than 1.20:1.00 (ba

and tested every quarter) and a “Total” debt service coverage ratio (which is computed taking into ac

on both the Senior Back Leverage Loans and the Subordinated Back Leverage Loan) of not less 

trailing 12 months and tested on a quarterly basis); (ii) Holdco Borrower may make distributions or d

debt to equity coverage ratios have been satisfied and Holdco Borrower is not in default under any 

Back Leverage Credit Agreement or the Subordinated Back Leverage Credit Agreement, includi

outstanding required deposits into reserve accounts; (iii) Holdco Borrower is required to exercise its rig

Equity Holdco limited liability company agreement to acquire the Class A Interests from East West Ba

period beginning on the “Flip Point” (which, pursuant to the Groton Tax Equity Holdco limited liability co

on which the holder of Class A Interests has realized a certain return on investment and, accordingly, 

the Class B Interests, has the right to purchase the Class A Interests); and (iv) the consent of the S

required prior to Holdco Borrower’s taking certain material actions under the Groton Tax Equity Ho

agreement. Each of the Senior Back Leverage Credit Agreement were paid off, in full, and the G

Leverage Credit Agreement also contains customary representations and warranties and customary e
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entitle the Back Leverage Lenders to cause, the outstanding loans to become immediately due 

customary events of default for transactions of this kind, the events of default include if a Change of C

no longer directly or indirectly owns Holdco Borrower), a cross default (meaning that a default under th

Agreement was terminated. Facility shall be deemed a default under the Subordinated Back Leverage 
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vice versa) or if CMEEC should become insolvent, is in bankruptcy or commits a specified number of p

its payment obligations to the Groton Project Company.

The Senior Back Leverage Loans may be prepaid at any time at the option of Holdco Borrower provide

or prior to the second anniversary of the Closing Date shall require a prepayment fee of 3% of the princ

each prepayment after the second anniversary of the Closing Date but on or prior to the fourth annive

require a prepayment fee of 2% of the principal amount being prepaid; and (iii) each prepayment afte

Closing Date but on or prior to the seventh anniversary of the Closing Date shall require a prepaym

amount being prepaid. The Subordinated Back Leverage Loan may be prepaid at any time without pre

State of Connecticut Loan

In November 2015, the Company closed on a definitive Assistance Agreement with the State of 

Agreement”) and received a disbursement of $10.0 million, which was used for the first phase of the

Torrington, Connecticut manufacturing facility. In conjunction with this financing, the Company 

promissory note and related security agreements securing the loan with equipment liens and a mortgag

location. Interest accrues at a fixed interest rate of 2.0%, and the loan is repayable over 15 years from

which occurred in November of 2015. Principal payments were deferred for four years from disbursem

1, 2019. Under the Assistance Agreement, the Company was eligible for up to $5.0 million in loa

created 165 full-time positions and retained 538 full-time positions for two consecutive years (as am

“Employment Obligation”) as measured on October 28, 2017 (as amended from time to time, the “T

Agreement was subsequently amended in April 2017 to extend the Target Date by two years to Octobe

In January 2019, the Company and the State of Connecticut entered into a Second Amendment to t

“Second Amendment”). The Second Amendment extended the Target Date to October 31, 2022 a

Obligation to require the Company to continuously maintain a minimum of 538 full-time positions for 

Company met the Employment Obligation, as modified by the Second Amendment, and created an a

the Company would have received a credit in the amount of
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$2.0 million  $2.0 million to be applied against the outstanding balance of the loan. The Second Ame

the provisions of the Assistance Agreement related to the second phase of the expansion project and

the Company had not drawn any funds or received any disbursements under those provisions.
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In April 2023, the Company signed a Third Amendment to the Assistance Agreement (the “Thi

Amendment was approved by the State of Connecticut Office of Attorney General on May 18, 2023

Office of Attorney General released, and the Company received, the countersigned Third Amendme

time the Third Amendment became effective. The Third Amendment further extends extended the Ta

and updates amended the Employment Obligation to require the Company to retain 538 full-time p

before October 31, 2024 and to maintain such positions for 24 consecutive months. The 24 consecut

before the Target Date (as extended by the Third Amendment) that yields the highest annual aver

determine compliance with the updated amended Employment Obligation, provided that no portion o

may begin before the date of the Third Amendment. The Third Amendment also requires the Comp

“Job Audit”) to the Commissioner of Economic and Community Development (the “Commissioner”) n

the 24-month period described above.  

If, as a result of the Job Audit, the Commissioner determines that the Company has failed to m

Obligation  (as amended by the Third Amendment), the Company will be required to immediately repa

each full-time employment position below the updated amended Employment Obligation. The amoun

any outstanding fees, penalties or interest due, and then against the outstanding balance of the loan.

If, as a result of the Job Audit, the Commissioner determines that the Company has met the u

Obligation and has created an additional 91 full-time employment positions, for a total of 629 full-time 

receive a credit in the amount of $2.0 million, which will be applied against the then-outstanding princ

application of such credit, the Commissioner will recalculate the monthly payments of principal and in

payments shall amortize the then remaining principal balance over the remaining term of loan.
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In April  of 2020, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the State of Connecticut agreed to defer 

interest payments under the Assistance Agreement, beginning with the May 2020 payment. These de

at the end of the loan, thus extending out the maturity date by three months.

Restricted Cash

As of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, we have pledged approximately $32.7 million $51.3 million of o

as performance security and for letters of credit for certain banking requirements and contracts. As

2024, outstanding letters of credit totaled $7.3 million $14.2 million. These expire on various dates thro

2029. Under the terms of certain contracts, we will provide performance security for future contract

cash balance as of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024 also included $2.9 million primarily to support

purchase and service agreements related to Crestmark sale-leaseback transactions, $9.0 million 

associated with the Senior Back Leverage Loan Facility and $20.0 million the Subordinated Back Lev

million relating to future obligations associated with the OpCo Financing Facility. Refer to Note 15

Financial Statements for the nine months ended July 31, 2023 included in this Quarterly Report on 

discussion of the Company’s restricted cash balance.

Power purchase agreements

Under the terms of our PPAs, customers agree to purchase power or other value streams delivered su

and/or carbon from the Company’s fuel cell power platforms at negotiated rates. Electricity rates a

customers’ current and estimated future electricity pricing available from the grid. We are respo

necessary to maintain, monitor and repair our fuel cell power platforms. Under certain agreements
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procuring fuel, generally natural gas or biogas, to run our fuel cell power platforms. In addition, unde

required to produce minimum amounts of power under our PPAs and we have the right to terminate P

the customer, subject to certain exit costs. As of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, our generation ope

(which includes 7.4 MW attributed to the design rated output of the Groton Project although the Groto

below its rated capacity at  an output of approximately 6.0 MW since commencement of commercial op
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Service and warranty agreements

We warranty our products for a specific period of time against manufacturing or performance defects

period is generally 15  months after shipment or 12  months after acceptance of the product. In add

warranty, we have contracted with certain customers to provide services to ensure the power plants m

for terms of up to 20 years. Pricing for service contracts is based upon estimates of future costs, whic

from actual expenses. Refer to “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” for additional details.

Advanced Technologies contracts

We have contracted with various government agencies and certain companies from private indu

development as either a prime contractor or sub-contractor under multi-year, cost-reimbursement and/

cooperative agreements.  Cost-share terms require that participating contractors share the total cos

agreed upon ratio. In many cases, we are reimbursed only a portion of the costs incurred or to be in

government research and development contracts may extend for many years, funding is often provide

year basis if contract terms are met and Congress authorizes the funds. As of July 31, 2023 J

Technologies contract backlog totaled $11.6 million $23.4 million, of which $6.5 million $19.7 million is

$3.9 million and $3.7 million is U.S. Government-funded and $1.2 million is U.S. Government-unfunded

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet debt or similar obligations, which are not classified as debt. We do not g

See Note 17. “Commitments and Contingencies” to our Consolidated Financial Statements for the thre

31, 2023 January 31, 2024 included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for further information.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with U.S. GAAP re

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and ex

contingent assets and liabilities. Estimates are used in accounting for, among other things, revenue
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recognition, lease right-of-use assets and liabilities, loss accruals on service agreements, exces

inventories, product warranty accruals, loss accruals on service agreements, share-based compens
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doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization, impairment of goodwill and in-process research

assets, impairment of long-lived assets (including project assets), lease liabilities and right-of-use as

and contingencies. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically, and the effects of re

consolidated financial statements in the period they are determined to be necessary. Due to the in

making estimates, actual results in future periods may differ from those estimates.

Our critical accounting policies are those that are both most important to our financial condition and re

the most difficult, subjective or complex judgments on the part of management in their application, o

make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. For a complete description of 

that affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our condensed con

refer to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended October 31, 2022 October 31, 2023 filed w

ACCOUNTING GUIDANCE UPDATE

See Note 2. “Recent Accounting Pronouncements,” to our Consolidated Financial Statements includ

Form 10-Q for a summary of recently adopted accounting guidance.

Item 3.         QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Exposure Risk

We have invested in U.S. Treasury Securities with maturities ranging from more than three months to l

to hold these investments until maturity and accordingly, these investments are carried at cost and 

accounting. At July 31, 2023, our U.S. Treasury Securities had a carrying value of $77.4 million, which
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approximated fair value.   These investments have maturity dates ranging from August 2023 to O

average yield to maturity of 5.09%.  

Cash is invested overnight with high credit quality financial institutions and therefore we are not expos

holdings from changing interest rates. Based on our overall interest rate exposure as of July 31, 2023 J

interest rate sensitive instruments, a change in interest rates of 1% would not have a material impact o

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

As of July 31, 2023 January 31, 2024, approximately 0.6% 0.5% of our total cash and cash equivalents

U.S. dollars (primarily the Euro, Canadian dollars and Korean Won) and we have no plans of repatriat

certain vendors and receive payment from certain customers in currencies other than U.S. do

experienced significant foreign exchange rate losses to date, we may in the future, especially to the ex

currency hedging activities. The economic impact of currency exchange rate movements on our 

because such changes are often linked to variability in real growth, inflation, interest rates, governme

These changes, if material, may cause us to adjust our financing and operating strategies.

Derivative Fair Value Exposure Risk

Interest Rate Swap

On May 16, 2019, an interest rate swap agreement (the “Swap Agreement”) was entered into with 

with the BFC Credit Agreement for the term of the loan. The net interest rate across the BFC Cre

transaction resulted in a fixed rate of 5.09%. The interest rate swap was adjusted to fair value on a 

fair value was based on Level 2 inputs including primarily the forward LIBOR curve available to 

methodology involved comparison of (i)  the sum of the present value of all monthly variable rate pa
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using the forward LIBOR curve and (ii) the sum of the present value of all monthly fixed rate payments 

was equivalent to the outstanding principal amount of the loan. On August 1, 2022, the Company ent

interest rate swap agreement that replaced LIBOR with Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOF

The fair value adjustments for the three months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022 resulted in a gain o

$36.0 thousand, respectively, and for the nine months ended July 31, 2023 and 2022 resulted in a los

$0.6 million, respectively. The Swap Agreement was terminated during the three months ended July 3

payoff of the senior and subordinated indebtedness of the Company to Liberty Bank, Fifth Third Bank

related to the Bridgeport Fuel Cell Project.

On May 19, 2023, in connection with the closing of the OpCo Financing Facility, the Company enter

Agreement (the “Investec Master Agreement”) and an ISDA Schedule to the 2002 Master Agreement 

Investec Bank plc as a hedge provider, and an ISDA 2002 Master Agreement (the “BMO Master Agree

to the 2002 Master Agreement (the “BMO Schedule”) with Bank of Montreal (Chicago Branch) as a

2023, OpCo Borrower executed the related trade confirmations for these interest rate swap agreemen

to protect against adverse price movements in the floating SOFR rate associated with 100% of the a

the Term Loan outstanding. Pursuant to the terms of such agreements, OpCo Borrower will pay a fix

The net interest rate across the Financing Agreement and the swap transaction is 6.366% in the

thereafter. The obligations of OpCo Borrower to the hedge providers under the interest rate swa

obligations under the Financing Agreement and, accordingly, are secured, on a pari passu basis, by th

obligations of OpCo Borrower under the Financing Agreement. The Company has not elected hedge a

result, the derivative will be remeasured to fair value quarterly with the resulting gains/losses recor

 The fair value adjustments adjustment for the three and nine months quarter ended July 31, 2023 Ja

gain loss of $0.5 million $3.5 million. During the three months ended January 31, 2024, SOFR swap

basis points.
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Project Fuel Price Exposure Risk

Certain of our PPAs for project assets in our generation operating portfolio and project assets und

fluctuating fuel price risks as well as the risk of being unable to procure the required amounts of fu

available fuel sources. We seek to mitigate our fuel risk using strategies including: (i) fuel cost reimb

PPAs to allow for pass through of fuel costs (full or partial) where possible, which we have done with
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our 14.9 MW operating project in Bridgeport, CT; (ii) procuring fuel under fixed price physical supply co

counterparties, which we have done for twenty years for our Tulare BioMAT project, the initial seven y

for our LIPA Yaphank Project the initial two (through September 2028), six years of the twenty year 

MW Derby project, Projects (through October 2029), and the initial two years of the twenty yea

agreement for our Toyota project; project (through May of 2025); and (iii) potentially entering into
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investment grade counterparties to offset potential negative market fluctuations. The Company does n

natural gas or other commodity pricing and seeks commercially available means to reduce commodity 

There are currently three projects in development with fuel sourcing risk, which are the Toyota project, 

RNG, and our Derby, CT 14.0 MW and 2.8 MW projects, both of which require natural gas for w

mechanism. Two-year fuel supply contracts have been executed for the Toyota project and the 14.0 

Company will look to extend the duration of these contracts should market and credit conditions a

mitigation strategies for the 2.8 MW project in Derby, CT are being assessed and will be implemente

become firm. Such strategies may require cash collateral or reserves to secure fuel or related contract

unable to secure fuel on favorable economic terms, it may result in impairment charges to the De

charges for the Toyota project asset. charges.

Historically, this risk has not been material to our financial statements as our operating projects prio

2023 either did not have fuel price risk exposure, had fuel cost reimbursement mechanisms in our r

through of fuel costs (full or partial), or had established long term fixed price fuel physical contra

assessment of the fuel price risk arising from price movements of natural gas, the Company perfo

determine the impact a change in natural gas commodity pricing would have on our Consolidated S

Comprehensive Loss (assuming that all projects with fuel price risk were operating). A $1/Metric

(“MMBTu”) increase in market pricing compared to our underlying project models would result in a

$200,000 $26,000 to our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss on an

conducted a sensitivity analysis on the impact of RNG pricing and a $10/MMBTu increase in ma

underlying project models would result in an impact of approximately $2.0 million to our Consolidated 

Comprehensive Loss on an annual basis.

The Company recorded a derivative gain during the year ended October 31, 2023 of $4.1 million as

natural gas purchases under a previous normal purchase normal sale contract designation, which res

market accounting. The Company recorded a derivative loss for the three months ended January 31, 2

Item 4.         CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures, which are designed to provide reasonab

required to be disclosed in the Company’s periodic SEC reports is recorded, processed, summarized

periods specified in the SEC’s rules  and forms, and that such information is accumulated and c

executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding requi

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executiv

officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of

by this report. Based on that evaluation, the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financ

the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period cov

reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the Company’s periodic SEC re

summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that su

and communicated to its principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to al

required disclosure.

There has been no change in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during th

materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reportin
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Item 1.         LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, the Company is involved in legal proceedings, including, but not limited to, re

mediations, arbitrations and litigation, arising out of the ordinary course of its business (“Legal Proceed

cannot assure the outcome of such Legal Proceedings, management presently believes that the resu

either individually, or in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s con

and no material amounts have been accrued in the Company’s consolidated financial statements with 

Item 1A.         RISK FACTORS

Part  I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” of our most recently filed Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fi

2022 October 31, 2023, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 20, 2

“2022 “2023 Annual Report”), sets forth information relating to important risks and uncertainties that co

our business, financial condition and operating results. Those risk factors continue to be relevan

business, financial condition and operating results and, accordingly, you should review and consider s

investment decision with respect to our securities. The following risk factor is being provided There ha

to supplement and update the risk factors set forth in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” of the 2022 Annua

We have a limited number of shares of common stock available for issuance, which may limit o

We have historically relied on the equity markets to raise capital to fund our business and operations

only 55,295,919 shares of common stock available for issuance, of which 54,655,306 shares were

vesting or exercise of equity awards and options, under our employee stock purchase and equity ince

the-market offering program. At our 2023 annual meeting of stockholders, our stockholders did not app

the number of shares of common stock that we are authorized to issue from 500,000,000 shares 

Company has filed a definitive proxy statement calling a special meeting of stockholders to be held O

Meeting”). At the Special Meeting, our stockholders will again vote on the proposal to increase the 

stock that we are authorized to issue from 500,000,000 shares to 1,000,000,000 shares. There c

proposal will be approved by our stockholders. If this proposal is not approved, the limited number of

may limit our ability to raise capital previously disclosed in the equity markets and satisfy obligations

which could adversely impact our ability to fund our business and operations. 2023 Annual Report.

Item 2.         UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

(a) None.

(b) Not applicable.

(c) Stock Repurchases

The following table sets forth information with respect to purchases made by us or on our behalf of 

periods indicated:

Period      Total


Number of 


Shares


Purchased

(1)

     Average 


Period     

Total


Number of 


Shares


Purchased (1)     

Average 


Price Paid


per Share     

Total N

of Sh

Purcha

Par

Pub

Annou

Prog

May November

1, 2023 - May

31,

2023 November

30, 2023 — 291,604 $ — 1.17
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June December 

1, 2023 - June 

30, 

2023December

31, 2023 2,357 521,124 2.20 1.28

July January 1,

2023 2024 -

July 31,

2023 January

31, 2024 4,964 — 2.07 —

Total 7,321 812,728 $2.11 1.24
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(1) Includes only shares that were surren
employees to satisfy statutory tax w
obligations in connection with the vesting
based compensation awards.

Item 3.         DEFAULT UPON SENIOR SECU

None.

Item 4.         MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

None.

44

Table of Contents

Item 5.         OTHER INFORMATION

(c) Director and Section 16 Officer Ru

Trading Arrangements

On January 8, 2024, Michael S. Bishop, Exec

President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasu

three months ended July 31, 2023, no Compan

a Rule 10b5-1 plan (“Rule 10b5-1 Plan”). The 

1 Plan was entered into during an open trading

accordance with the Company’s policies 

transactions in the Company’s securities and 

to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of 

1(c) under the Securities Exchange Act of

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

89/111

amended. Mr. Bishop’s Rule 10b5-1 Plan provi

sale of up to 64,853 shares of the Company’

stock, pursuant to the terms of the Rule 10b5-1

Rule 10b5-1 Plan expires on January 7, 2025 o

earlier completion of all authorized transacti

such Rule 10b5-1 Plan.

No other director or Section 16 officer of the

adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-

arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arra

as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regu

during the three months ended January 31, 20
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Item 6.         EXHIBITS

Exhibit No.    Description

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of

the Company, as amended,

July 12, 1999 (incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to

the Company’s Current

Report on Form 8-K dated

September 21, 1999).

3.2 Certificate of Amendment of

the Certificate of

Incorporation of the

Company, dated November

21, 2000 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.3 to

the Company’s Annual

Report on Form 10-K dated

January 12, 2017).

3.3 Certificate of Amendment of

the Certificate of

Incorporation of the

Company, dated October 31,

2003 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.11 to

the Company’s Current

Report on Form 8-K dated

November 3, 2003).
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3.4 Certificate of Designation for

the Company’s 5% Series B

Cumulative Convertible

Perpetual Preferred Stock

(incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s

Current Report Form 8-K,

dated November 22, 2004).

3.5 Amended Certificate of

Designation of 5% Series B

Cumulative Convertible

Perpetual Preferred Stock,

dated March 14, 2005

(incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3.4 to the Company’s

Annual Report on Form 10-K

dated January 12, 2017).

3.6 Certificate of Amendment of

the Certificate of

Incorporation of the

Company, dated April 8,

2011 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.5 to

the Company’s Annual

Report on Form 10-K dated

January 12, 2017).

3.7 Certificate of Amendment of

the Certificate of

Incorporation of the

Company, dated April 5,

2012 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.6 to

the Company’s Annual

Report on Form 10-K dated

January 12, 2017).

3.8 Certificate of Amendment of

the Certificate of

Incorporation of the

Company, dated December

3, 2015 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.1 to

the Company's Current

Report on Form 8-K dated

December 3, 2015).

3.9 Certificate of Amendment of

the Certificate of

Incorporation of the

Company, dated April 18,

2016 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.9 to

the Company’s Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q for the

period ending July 31, 2016).
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3.10 Certificate of Amendment of

the Certificate of

Incorporation of the

Company, dated April 7,

2017 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.10 to

the Company’s Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q for the

period ending July 31, 2017).

3.11 Certificate of Designations

for the Company’s Series C

Convertible Preferred Stock

(incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s

Current Report on Form 8-K,

dated September 5, 2017).

3.12 Certificate of Amendment of

the Certificate of

Incorporation of the

Company, dated December

14, 2017 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.1 to

the Company’s Current

Report on Form 8-K dated

December 14, 2017).

3.13 Certificate of Designations,

Preferences and Rights for

the Company’s Series D

Convertible Preferred Stock

(incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s

Current Report on Form 8-K

dated August 27, 2018).

3.14 Certificate of Amendment of

the Certificate of

Incorporation of FuelCell

Energy, Inc., dated May 8,

2019 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.1 to

the Company’s Current

Report on Form 8-K filed on

May 8, 2019).

3.15 Certificate of Amendment of

the Certificate of

Incorporation of FuelCell

Energy, Inc., dated May 11,

2020 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.1 to

the Company’s Current

Report on Form 8-K filed on

May 12, 2020).
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3.16 Certificate of Amendment of

the Certificate of

Incorporation of FuelCell

Energy, Inc. dated April 8,

2021 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.1 to

the Company’s Current

Report on Form 8-K/A filed

on April 14, 2021).

3.17 Certificate of Amendment of

the Certificate of

Incorporation of FuelCell

Energy, Inc., dated October

11, 2023 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.1 to

the Company Current Report

on Form 8-K filed on October

11, 2023).

3.18 Second Amended and

Restated By-Laws of the

Company, effective as of

July 17, 2023 February 22,

2024 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.1 to

the Company’s Current

Report on Form 8-K filed on

July 18, 2023). February 22,

2024).

4.1 Specimen of Common Share

Certificate (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 4 to the

Company’s Annual Report

on Form 10-K for fiscal year

ended October 31, 1999).

10.1 Lette

Agre

betw

Exxo

Tech

and

Eng
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and 

Ene

date

2023

(inco

by r

to 

10.1
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Form

filed

8, 20

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000886128/000156459021018838/fcel-ex31_7.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/886128/000155837023016365/fcel-20231010xex3d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/886128/000155837023011936/fcel-20230717xex3d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/886128/000089155400000162/0000891554-00-000162.txt
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/886128/000155837023010890/fcel-20230430xex10d1.htm


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

93/111

67 46

Table of Contents

Exhibit No.    Description

10.2 10.1 Amendment No. 1

to Credit

Agreement, dated

as of October 23,

2023, between

Connecticut Green

Bank (as

administrative

agent and lender

party) and FuelCell

Energy Inc. 2018

Employee Stock

Purchase Plan, as

amended and

restated effective

as of May 22,

2023 Finance

HoldCo, LLC

(incorporated by

reference to

Exhibit 10.1 10.88

to the Company’s

Current

Report Form 10-K

filed on Form 8-K

dated May 22,

2023 December

19, 2023).

10.3 10.2 *Form of FuelCell

Energy, Inc. Third

Amended and

Restated 2018

Omnibus Incentive

Plan effective as of

May 22, 2023

(incorporated by

reference to

Exhibit 10.2 to the

Company’s

Current Report on

Form 8-K dated

May 22, 2023).

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/886128/000155837023019892/fcel-20231031xex10d88.htm
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10.4 Financing Perf

Share 

Agreement da

19, 2023, 

FuelCell Ener

Finance 1, 

Borrower), the

party thereto,

Issuing Bank

thereto, and 

Bank plc

Administrative

and Collatera

(Relative T

Contingent 

(incorporated 

reference to

10.1 to the Co

Current Rep

Form 8-K filed

2023 Decemb

2023).

10.5 Omnibus Gu

Pledge and 

Agreement, da

19, 2023, m

FuelCell 

Finance, LL

Pledgor), 

Energy Opco 

1, LLC (as B

and Bridgepo

Cell, LLC, Gro

Cell 1, LLC, 

Fuel Cell, 

SRJFC, LLC, 

YT HoldCo, L

New 

Renewable 

LLC (as S

Guarantors) in

Investec Bank

Collateral 

(incorporated 

reference to 

10.2 to the Co

Current Rep

Form 8-K filed

2023).

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/886128/000110465923064371/tm2316597d1_ex10-1.htm
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10.6 Depositary Ag

dated May 1

by and 

FuelCell Ener

Finance 1, 

Borrower), 

Bank plc (as C

Agent 

Administrative

and Liberty B

Depositary 

(incorporated 

reference to

10.3 to the Co

Current Rep

Form 8-K filed

2023).

10.7 ISDA 2002 

Agreement, da

19, 2023, 

Investec Bank

FuelCell Ener

Finance 1

(incorporated 

reference to

10.4 to the Co

Current Rep

Form 8-K filed

2023).

10.8 ISDA Schedu

2002 

Agreement, da

19, 2023, 

Investec Bank

FuelCell Ener

Finance 1

(incorporated 

reference to

10.5 to the Co

Current Rep

Form 8-K filed

2023).

10.9 ISDA 2002 

Agreement, da

19, 2023, 

Bank of Mont

FuelCell Ener

Finance 1

(incorporated 

reference to

10.6 to the Co

Current Rep

Form 8-K filed

2023).

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/886128/000110465923064371/tm2316597d1_ex10-3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/886128/000110465923064371/tm2316597d1_ex10-4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/886128/000110465923064371/tm2316597d1_ex10-5.htm
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10.10 ISDA Schedu

2002 

Agreement, da

19, 2023, 

Bank of Mont

FuelCell Ener

Finance 1

(incorporated 

reference to

10.7 to the Co

Current Rep

Form 8-K filed

2023).

10.11 Third Amend

Assistance Ag

by and betw

State of Co

Acting by

Department 

Economic 

Community

Development,

FuelCell Ene

effective May 

(incorporated 

reference to

10.1 to the Co

Current Rep

Form 8-K filed

2023).

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/886128/000110465923064371/tm2316597d1_ex10-7.htm
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10.12 Amendment No.

1 2 to Financing

Agreement, dated

as of August 11,

2023 January 2,

2024, among

FuelCell Energy

Opco Finance 1,

LLC (as Borrower),

Investec Bank plc

(as Administrative

Agent and

Lender), Liberty

Bank (as Lender),

Bank of Montreal

(as Lender),

Amalgamated

Bank (as Lender),

and Connecticut

Green Bank (as

Lender)

(incorporated by

reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the

Company’s

Current Report on

Form 8-K filed

August 17, 2023).

10.13 Credit Ag

dated August 

among 

Energy 

Holdco, LL

Borrower), 

Bank 

Administrative

and Lead A

and the Lend

thereto (inco

by reference t

10.1 to the Co

Current Rep

Form 8-K file

24, 2023).

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/886128/000155837024000067/fcel-20240102xex10d1.htm
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10.14 Credit Ag

dated August 

among 

Energy 

Holdco, LL

Borrower), Co

Green Ban

Administrative

and the Lend

thereto (inco

by reference t

10.2 to the Co

Current Rep

Form 8-K file

24, 2023).

10.15 Security Ag

dated August 

by FuelCell 

Finance Hold

for the be

Liberty 

(incorporated 

reference to 

10.3 to the Co

Current Rep

Form 8-K file

24, 2023).

10.16 Pledge and 

Agreement, 

August 18, 2

FuelCell 

Finance Hold

for the be

Liberty 

(incorporated 

reference to 

10.4 to the Co

Current Rep

Form 8-K file

24, 2023).

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/886128/000155837023015262/fcel-20230818xex10d2.htm
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10.17 Deposit 

Security and

Agreement, 

August 18, 

among 

Energy 

Holdco, LLC,

Station Fuel C

and Liberty

(incorporated 

reference to 

10.5 to the Co

Current Rep

Form 8-K file

24, 2023).
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10.18 Secur

Agree

dated

18, 

FuelC

Finan

LLC 

benef

Conne

Green

(incor

refere

Exhib

the C

Curre

on F

filed A

2023)

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/886128/000155837023015262/fcel-20230818xex10d5.htm
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10.19 Pledg

Secur

Agree

dated

18, 

FuelC

Finan

LLC 

benef

Conne

Green

(incor

refere

Exhib

the C

Curre

on F

filed A

2023)

10.20 Depos

Secur

Pledg

Agree

dated

18, 

amon

Energ

Holdc

Groto

Fuel 

and C

Green

(incor

refere

Exhib

the C

Curre

on F

filed A

2023)

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/886128/000155837023015262/fcel-20230818xex10d7.htm
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10.21 Subor

Agree

dated

18, 

amon

Conne

Green

Libert

and t

Lende

theret

(incor

refere

Exhib

the C

Curre

on F

filed A

2023)

10.22 Interp

Agree

dated

18, 

amon

West 

FuelC

Finan

LLC,

Amalg

Bank,

Bank,

Conne

Green

(incor

refere

Exhib

the C

Curre

on F

filed A

2023)

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/886128/000155837023015262/fcel-20230818xex10d9.htm
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10.23 Limite

Guara

Subor

Agree

dated

18, 

FuelC

Inc. 

benef

Libert

(incor

refere

Exhib

the C

Curre

on F

filed A

2023)

10.24 Limite

Guara

Subor

Agree

dated

18, 

FuelC

Inc. 

benef

Conne

Green

(incor

refere

Exhib

the C

Curre

on F

filed A

2023)

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/886128/000155837023015262/fcel-20230818xex10d11.htm
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10.25 Amen

4 t

Devel

Agree

betwe

FuelC

Inc. 

Exxon

Techn

Engin

Comp

execu

Augus

and e

of A

2023

(incor

refere

Exhib

the C

Curre

on F

filed A

2023 J

2024)

31.1 Certification of Chief

Executive Officer

pursuant to Section

302 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief

Financial Officer

pursuant to Section

302 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002

32.1 Certification of Chief

Executive Officer

pursuant to Section

906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002

32.2 Certification of Chief

Financial Officer

pursuant to Section

906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us
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101.INS 101.INS# Inline XBRL

Instance

Document  – the

instance document

does not appear in

the Interactive Data

File because its

XBRL tags are

embedded within

the Inline XBRL

document.

101.SCH 101.SCH#Inline XBRL

Schema Document

101.CAL 101.CAL# Inline XBRL

Calculation

Linkbase Document

101.DEF 101.DEF# XBRL Definition

Linkbase Document

101.LAB 101.LAB# Inline XBRL Labels

Linkbase Document

101.PRE 101.PRE# Inline XBRL

Presentation

Linkbase Document

104 Cover

Page  Interactive

Data File (formatted

as Inline XBRL and

contained in Exhibit

101).

* Management Contract or Compensato

Arrangement

# Filed with this Annual Report on Form

the following documents formatted in iXB

Extensible Business Reporting L

(i)  the  Consolidated Balance Sheets as 

31, 2024 and October 31, 2023, (ii) the Co

Statements of Operations and Comprehe

for the three months ended January 31, 

2023, (iii)  the  Consolidated Statements o

in Equity for the three months ended Ja

2024 and 2023, (iv)  the Consolidated Sta

Cash Flows for the three months ended J

2024 and 2023, (v)  Notes  to the Co

Financial Statements and (vi) the i

included in Part II, Item 5(c).
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Table of Contents

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities

Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused th

be signed on its behalf by the undersigned the

authorized.

FUELCELL ENE

(Registra

September

11,

2023 March

7, 2024 /s/ Michael S. Bis

Date Michael S. Bisho

Executive Vice 

Chief Financial O

Treasurer


(Principal Finan

and Principal 

Officer)

70 48

E

CERTIFICATION

I, Jason B. Few, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Fo
FuelCell Energy, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does 
any untrue statement of a material fact or o
a material fact necessary to make the state
made, in light of the circumstances under w
statements were made, not misleading wit
the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial stat
and other financial information included in 
fairly present in all material respects the fin
condition, results of operations and cash fl
registrant as of, and for, the periods presen
report;

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us
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4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and
responsible for establishing and maintainin
disclosure controls and procedures (as def
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15
internal control over financial reporting (as 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and
procedures, or caused such disclosure
and procedures to be designed under 
supervision, to ensure that material in
relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made kno
by others within those entities, particu
the period in which this report is being

(b) Designed such internal control over fin
reporting, or caused such internal con
financial reporting to be designed und
supervision, to provide reasonable ass
regarding the reliability of financial rep
the preparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with 
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the reg
disclosure controls and procedures an
presented in this report our conclusion
effectiveness of the disclosure control
procedures, as of the end of the perio
by this report based on such evaluatio

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in 
registrant’s internal control over financ
reporting that occurred during the regi
most recent fiscal quarter (the registra
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual 
has materially affected, or is reasonab
materially affect, the registrant’s intern
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and
disclosed, based on our most recent evalu
internal control over financial reporting, to 
registrant’s auditors and the audit committe
registrant’s board of directors (or persons p
the equivalent function):

(a) All significant deficiencies and materia
weaknesses in the design or operation
control over financial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect th
registrant’s ability to record, process, s
and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, tha
management or other employees who
significant role in the registrant’s intern
over financial reporting.

September 11, 2023 March 7,

2024 /s/ Jason B. Few

Jason B. Few

President and Chie

Officer

(Principal Executive

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us
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E

CERTIFICATION

I, Michael S. Bishop, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on 

of FuelCell Energy, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report

contain any untrue statement of a mate

omit to state a material fact necessary to

statements made, in light of the circumsta

which such statements were made, not 

with respect to the period covered by this 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial 

and other financial information included in

fairly present in all material respects th

condition, results of operations and cash 

registrant as of, and for, the periods prese

report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer 

responsible for establishing and 

disclosure controls and procedures (as 

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d

internal control over financial reporting (a

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-1

registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure con

procedures, or caused such disclosu

and procedures to be designed 

supervision, to ensure that material 

relating to the registrant, inc

consolidated subsidiaries, is made k

by others within those entities, 

during the period in which this repo

prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control ove

reporting, or caused such internal c

financial reporting to be designed 

supervision, to provide reasonable 

regarding the reliability of financial re

the preparation of financial state

external purposes in accordance wit

accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the 

disclosure controls and proced

presented in this report our conclus

the effectiveness of the disclosure c

procedures, as of the end of the peri

by this report based on such evaluati

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us
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(d) Disclosed in this report any chan

registrant’s internal control ove

reporting that occurred during the 

most recent fiscal quarter (the registr

quarter in the case of an annual repo

materially affected, or is reasonab

materially affect, the registrant’s inte

over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer 

disclosed, based on our most recent ev

internal control over financial reportin

registrant’s auditors and the audit co

registrant’s board of directors (or persons

the equivalent function):

(a) All significant deficiencies and

weaknesses in the design or op

internal control over financial repo

are reasonably likely to adversely

registrant’s ability to record, process, 

and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, th

management or other employees w

significant role in the registrant’s inte

over financial reporting.

September 11, 2023 March 7,

2024 /s/ Michael S. Bisho

Michael S. Bishop

Executive Vice Pres

Financial Officer and

(Principle Financial 

Principle Accounting

E

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO


18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,


AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO


SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the quarterly report of FuelCell 

(the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter end

2023 January 31, 2024 as filed with the Sec

Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the 

Jason B. Few, President and Chief Executive Of

Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, 

pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 200

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us
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(1) The Report fully complies with the req
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securi
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C 78m
and

(2) The information contained in the Repo
presents, in all material respects, the f
condition and results of operations of 
Company.

September 11, 2023 March 7,

2024 /s/ Jason B. Few

Jason B. Few

President and Chie

Officer

(Principal Executive

A signed original of this written statement has been

the Company and will be retained by the Co

furnished to the SEC or its staff upon request.

E

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO


18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,


AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO


SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the quarterly report of FuelCell 

(the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter end

2023 January 31, 2024 as filed with the Sec

Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the 

Michael S. Bishop, Executive Vice President, Chi

Officer and Treasurer of the Company, certify, pur

U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the

Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the req
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securi
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C 78m
and

(2) The information contained in the Repo
presents, in all material respects, the f
condition and results of operations of 
Company.

September 11, 2023 March 7,

2024 /s/ Michael S. Bisho

Michael S. Bishop

Executive Vice Pres

Financial Officer and

(Principal Financial 

Principal Accounting

A signed original of this written statement has been

the Company and will be retained by the Co
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REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

110/111

furnished to the SEC or its staff upon request.
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